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(1) 

In the Supreme Court of the United States 
 

─────────── 
 

No. 24AXXX 
 

KRISTI NOEM, SECRETARY OF HOMELAND SECURITY, ET AL., APPLICANTS 
 

v. 
 

KILMAR ARMANDO ABREGO GARCIA, ET AL. 
 

─────────── 
 

APPLICATION TO VACATE THE INJUNCTION  
ISSUED BY THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 
AND REQUEST FOR AN IMMEDIATE ADMINISTRATIVE STAY 

 
─────────── 

Pursuant to Rule 23 of the Rules of this Court and the All Writs Act, 28 U.S.C. 

1651, the Solicitor General—on behalf of applicants Kristi Noem, Secretary of Home-

land Security, et al.—respectfully files this application to vacate the injunction issued 

by the U.S. District Court for the District of Maryland (App., infra, 78a-80a).  In ad-

dition, the Solicitor General respectfully requests an immediate administrative stay 

of the district court’s order, which requires the government’s immediate action by 

11:59 p.m. tonight, pending this Court’s consideration of this application. 

On Friday afternoon, a federal district judge in Maryland ordered unprece-

dented relief:  dictating to the United States that it must not only negotiate with a 

foreign country to return an enemy alien on foreign soil, but also succeed by 11:59 

p.m. tonight.  Complicating the negotiations further, the alien is no ordinary individ-

ual, but rather a member of a designated foreign terrorist organization, MS-13, that 

the government has determined engages in “terrorist activity” or “terrorism”—or “re-

tains the capability and intent to engage in terrorist activity or terrorism”—that 
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“threatens the security of United States nationals or the national security of the 

United States.”  8 U.S.C. 1189(a)(1)(B) and (C); see Specially Designated Global Ter-

rorist Designations (Feb. 6, 2025), 90 Fed. Reg. 10,030 (Feb. 20, 2025).  The order 

compels the government to allow Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia to enter the United 

States on demand, or suffer the judicial consequences. 

Even amidst a deluge of unlawful injunctions, this order is remarkable.  Even 

respondents did not ask the district court to force the United States to persuade El 

Salvador to release Abrego Garcia—a native of El Salvador detained in El Salvador—

on a judicially mandated clock.  For good reason:  the Constitution charges the Pres-

ident, not federal district courts, with the conduct of foreign diplomacy and protecting 

the Nation against foreign terrorists, including by effectuating their removal.  And 

this order sets the United States up for failure.  The United States cannot guarantee 

success in sensitive international negotiations in advance, least of all when a court 

imposes an absurdly compressed, mandatory deadline that vastly complicates the 

give-and-take of foreign-relations negotiations.  The United States does not control 

the sovereign nation of El Salvador, nor can it compel El Salvador to follow a federal 

judge’s bidding.  The Constitution vests the President with control over foreign nego-

tiations so that the United States speaks with one voice, not so that the President’s 

central Article II prerogatives can give way to district-court diplomacy.  If this prec-

edent stands, other district courts could order the United States to successfully nego-

tiate the return of other removed aliens anywhere in the world by close of business.  

Under that logic, district courts would effectively have extraterritorial jurisdiction 

over the United States’ diplomatic relations with the whole world. 

Compounding these errors, Congress has already made clear that the district 

court here lacked authority to grant any relief at all—let alone the arbitrary, infeasi-
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ble relief it ordered.  District courts lack jurisdiction under 8 U.S.C. 1252(g) to “hear 

any cause or claim by or on behalf of any alien arising from the decision or action by 

the Attorney General to  * * *  execute removal orders against any alien under” the 

Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), 8 U.S.C. 1101 et seq., except as otherwise 

provided.  Yet the district court here allowed a collateral challenge to Abrego Garcia’s 

removal that Congress foreclosed.   

Respondents emphasize that Abrego Garcia was improperly removed to El Sal-

vador because, although he could be removed anywhere else in the world under a 

2019 order of removal, that order granted statutory withholding of removal to El Sal-

vador alone.  But, while the United States concedes that removal to El Salvador was 

an administrative error, see App., infra, 60a, that does not license district courts to 

seize control over foreign relations, treat the Executive Branch as a subordinate dip-

lomat, and demand that the United States let a member of a foreign terrorist organ-

ization into America tonight.  For starters, because MS-13 members such as Abrego 

Garcia have since been designated members of a foreign terrorist organization, they 

are no longer eligible for withholding of removal under 8 U.S.C. 1231(b)(3)(B).  Fur-

ther, the United States has ensured that aliens removed to CECOT in El Salvador 

will not be tortured, and it would not have removed any alien to El Salvador for such 

detention if doing so would violate its obligations under the Convention Against Tor-

ture.  Moreover, respondents treat the relief here as “routine,” Resp. C.A. Stay  

Opp. 1, but that relief goes far beyond merely facilitating an alien’s return, which is 

what courts have ordered in other cases.  This order—and its demand to accomplish 

sensitive foreign negotiations post-haste, and effectuate Abrego Garcia’s return to-

night—is unprecedented and indefensible. 
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In one respect, at least, this order is nothing new.  It is the latest in a litany of 

injunctions or temporary restraining orders from the same handful of district courts 

that demand immediate or near-immediate compliance, on absurdly short deadlines.  

These orders virtually guarantee that decisions on sensitive, weighty, and vigorously 

disputed issues will be made after “barebones briefing, no argument, and scarce time 

for reflection.”  Department of Educ. v. California, No. 24A910, 2025 WL 1008354, at 

*2 (U.S. Apr. 4, 2025) (Kagan, J, dissenting).1  Such orders unduly burden the parties 

and appellate courts, and they obstruct meaningful and orderly appellate review. 

The Fourth Circuit has not yet ruled on the government’s request for that court 

to issue an administrative stay or a stay pending appeal by 5:00 p.m. yesterday.  In 

light of that extraordinary circumstance, and to allow this Court time to consider the 

issues this application raises before the district court’s deadline of 11:59 p.m. tonight, 

the government is filing this application now and respectfully requests, at a mini-

mum, an immediate administrative stay.  See Sup. Ct. R. 23.3. 

 
1 See, e.g., D.V.D. v. DHS, No. 25-cv-10676 (D. Mass. Mar. 28, 2025) (temporary 

restraining order enjoining removal of all aliens to third countries unless court-im-
posed conditions were satisfied); Widakuswara v. Lake, No. 25-cv-2390 (S.D.N.Y. 
Mar. 28, 2025) (temporary restraining order enjoining further actions to implement 
an Executive Order on reduction of the federal bureaucracy); NTEU v. Vought, No. 
25-cv-381 (D.D.C. Mar. 28, 2025) (preliminary injunction enjoining certain actions 
with respect to the CFPB); Washington v. Trump, No. 25-cv-244 (W.D. Wash. Feb. 28, 
2025) (temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction enjoining implemen-
tation of Executive Order on federal funding for “gender-affirming” care); National 
Ass’n of Diversity Officers in Higher Educ. v. Trump, No. 25-cv-333 (D. Md. Feb. 21, 
2025) (preliminary injunction on implementation of Executive Orders on diversity, 
equity, and inclusion initiatives); New York v. Trump, No. 25-cv-1144 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 
21, 2025) (preliminary injunction enjoining the Treasury Department from granting 
access to DOGE-affiliated individuals to certain payment records); American Foreign 
Serv. Ass’n v. Trump, No. 25-cv-352 (D.D.C. Feb. 7, 2025) (temporary restraining or-
der requiring reinstatement of USAID employees); New York v. Trump, No. 25-cv-39 
(D.R.I. Jan. 31, 2025) (temporary restraining order on providing federal financial as-
sistance to the States). 
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STATEMENT 

A. Background 

1. Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia is a native and citizen of El Salvador.  

App., infra, 6a.  Sometime around 2011, he entered the United States without inspec-

tion.  Id. at 25a.  In March 2019, officers from the Prince George’s County Police 

Department arrested Abrego Garcia and three other men in Maryland.  Ibid.  The 

officers transferred him to the custody of the Department of Homeland Security 

(DHS).  Id. at 26a.  DHS served him with a notice to appear for removal proceedings 

and detained him under 8 U.S.C. 1226(a).  App., infra, 26a.  The notice charged that 

Abrego Garcia was subject to removal under Title 8 because he was an alien present 

in the United States without being admitted or paroled—and thus was here unlaw-

fully.  Ibid.; see 8 U.S.C. 1182(a)(6)(A)(i).  

Ensuing proceedings established that Abrego Garcia was a ranking member of 

the deadly MS-13 gang and thus presented a danger to the community.  Soon after 

he was detained, Abrego Garcia requested a bond hearing before an immigration 

judge (IJ).  App., infra, 1a.  At the hearing, DHS presented evidence that Abrego 

Garcia had been “arrested in the company of other ranking gang members” and had 

been “confirmed to be a ranking member of the MS-13 gang by a proven and reliable 

source.”  Id. at 2a.  The IJ agreed that the “evidence show[ed] that [Abrego Garcia] is 

a verified member of MS-13.”  Ibid.  The IJ specifically cited “the fact that a ‘past, 

proven, and reliable source of information’ [had] verified [Abrego Garcia’s] gang mem-

bership, rank, and gang name.”  Id. at 3a.  And the IJ noted that Abrego Garcia had 

“failed to present evidence to rebut th[e] assertion” that he “is a gang member.”  Ibid.  

Given Abrego Garcia’s MS-13 membership, the IJ determined that Abrego Garcia had 

“failed to meet his burden of demonstrating that his release from custody would not 
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pose a danger to others.”  Id. at 2a.  The IJ thus denied his request for release on 

bond.  Id. at 3a.  The Board of Immigration Appeals (Board) affirmed, explaining that 

the IJ had “appropriately considered allegations of gang affiliation against [Abrego 

Garcia] in determining that he has not demonstrated that he is not a danger to prop-

erty or persons.”  Id. at 5a. 

In October 2019, after Abrego Garcia had “conceded his removability as 

charged,” an IJ ordered Abrego Garcia’s removal from the United States under Title 

8.  App., infra, 7a; see id. at 60a.  The IJ determined, however, that it was more likely 

than not that, if Abrego Garcia returned to El Salvador, he would be subject to per-

secution on account of his affiliation with his mother, whose “earnings from the 

pupusa business” had been allegedly targeted by “the Barrio 18 gang.”  Id. at 15a.2  

The IJ therefore granted Abrego Garcia withholding of removal to El Salvador under 

8 U.S.C. 1231(b)(3).  App., infra, 11a-15a.  Withholding of removal “only bars deport-

ing an alien to a particular country or countries,” INS v. Aguirre-Aguirre, 526 U.S. 

415, 419 (1999)—in Abrego Garcia’s case, to El Salvador.  Because “withholding of 

removal is a form of ‘ “country specific” ’ relief ” but does not confer any lawful status 

within the United States, DHS remains free to “remov[e] the alien to a third country 

other than the country to which removal has been withheld.”  Johnson v. Guzman 

Chavez, 594 U.S. 523, 531-532 (2021) (brackets and citations omitted). 

2. Thereafter, Abrego Garcia was released from DHS custody under an or-

der of supervision.  App., infra, 60a; D. Ct. Doc. 1-3, at 1 (Mar. 24, 2025).  In February 

2025, however, the Secretary of State designated MS-13 as a foreign terrorist organ-

ization under 8 U.S.C. 1189.  Specially Designated Global Terrorist Designations 

 
2 The pupusa is a thick, handmade corn tortilla filled with savory ingredients 

that is a staple food of El Salvador. 
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(Feb. 6, 2025), 90 Fed. Reg. 10,030 (Feb. 20, 2025).  The Secretary of State found that 

MS-13 engages in “terrorist activity” or “terrorism”—or “retains the capability and 

intent to engage in terrorist activity or terrorism”—that “threatens the security of 

United States nationals or the national security of the United States.”  8 U.S.C. 

1189(a)(1)(B) and (C); see 90 Fed. Reg. at 10,030.  The government then sought to 

remove identified MS-13 members as expeditiously as possible, given those determi-

nations regarding the national-security threat. 

Thus, on March 12, 2025, DHS officers “arrested Abrego Garcia due to his 

prominent role in MS-13” and questioned him about his affiliation with that foreign 

terrorist organization.  App., infra, 60a; see id. at 29a-31a.  According to Abrego Gar-

cia, he was then transferred to a detention center in Texas and told that he was being 

removed to El Salvador, where he would be detained at the Terrorist Confinement 

Center known as CECOT.  Id. at 31a & n.1. 

On March 15, DHS executed Abrego Garcia’s removal order by placing him on 

a flight to El Salvador.  App., infra, 59a.  That flight carried only aliens being removed 

under the INA, not the Alien Enemies Act.  Ibid.  Although DHS was “aware of th[e] 

grant of withholding of removal at the time [of  ] Abrego Garcia’s removal from the 

United States,” Abrego Garcia was removed to El Salvador “[t]hrough administrative 

error,” id. at 60a—in other words, while removing him from the United States was 

not error, the administrative error was in removing him to El Salvador, given the 

withholding component of the 2019 order.   

B. Proceedings Below 

1. On March 24, 2025, respondents—Abrego Garcia, his wife, and their 

child—brought suit against various federal officials (collectively, the United States) 

in the U.S. District Court for the District of Maryland, alleging that the government 
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had “removed Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to El Salvador” in violation of the withholding-

of-removal statute, the Due Process Clause, and the Administrative Procedure Act 

(APA).  App., infra, 35a, 36a; see id. at 35a-39a.   

Significantly, respondents did not seek the relief the district court granted 

here.  Respondents’ complaint instead sought an injunction “ordering Defendants to 

immediately cease compensating the Government of El Salvador for its detention of 

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia” and “ordering Defendants to immediately request that the 

Government of El Salvador release Plaintiff Abrego Garcia from CECOT and deliver 

him to the U.S. Embassy in El Salvador.”  App., infra, 40a (emphasis added).  If “the 

Government of El Salvador decline[d] such request,” the complaint sought a further 

injunction “ordering Defendants to take all steps reasonably available to them, pro-

portionate to the gravity of the ongoing harm, to return Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to the 

United States.”  Ibid. 

Along with their complaint, respondents filed an ex parte emergency motion 

for a temporary restraining order.  App., infra, 41a-42a.  In that motion, respondents 

“admitted[ ]” that the district court “has no jurisdiction over the Government of El 

Salvador and cannot force that sovereign nation to release Plaintiff Abrego Garcia 

from its prison.”  Id. at 42a.  “But,” respondents asserted, “because that government 

is detaining Plaintiff at the direct request and pursuant to financial compensation 

from defendants,” the district court could “order Defendants to immediately stop pay-

ing such compensation, and to request that the Government of El Salvador return 

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to their custody.”  Ibid.  Respondents disclaimed asking for 

any other “emergency relief.”  Ibid.  The district court denied respondents’ ex parte 

motion because respondents had failed to explain why the court should dispense with 
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notice to the United States and “take the unusual step” of deciding the motion ex 

parte.  D. Ct. Doc. 5, at 1 (Mar. 25, 2025). 

On March 25, respondents filed a renewed motion for a temporary restraining 

order.  App., infra, 43a-45a.  In that motion, respondents reiterated that the district 

court “admittedly has no jurisdiction over the Government of El Salvador and cannot 

force that sovereign nation to release Plaintiff Abrego Garcia from its prison.”  Id. at 

44a.  Respondents then requested the same “emergency relief  ” as in their ex parte 

motion.  Ibid. 

The district court set a briefing schedule on respondents’ renewed motion.   

D. Ct. Doc. 8, at 1 (Mar. 25, 2025).  In a supplemental memorandum in support of 

their motion, respondents acknowledged that “[t]his case may end up raising difficult 

questions of redressability in a subsequent phase.”  App., infra, 47a.  Respondents 

nevertheless argued that a “preliminary injunction should issue promptly,” ordering 

the United States to “request that the government of El Salvador return [Abrego Gar-

cia] to Defendants’ custody” and to “cease paying the government of El Salvador to 

continue to detain [him].”  Ibid. 

On the afternoon of Friday, April 4, the district court construed respondents’ 

renewed motion as a motion for a preliminary injunction and granted it, directing the 

United States “to return Abrego Garcia to the United States no later than 11:59 PM 

on [Monday,] April 7th, 2025.”  App., infra, 79a; see ibid. (directing the United States 

“to facilitate and effectuate the return of Plaintiff Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia to 

the United States by no later than 11:59 PM on Monday, April 7, 2025”).  The court 

said that it would, “in due course,” issue “[a] memorandum opinion further setting 

forth the basis” for its ruling, but summarily stated its conclusions that (1) respond-

ents “are likely to succeed on the merits because Abrego Garcia was removed to El 
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Salvador in violation of the [withholding-of-removal statute], and without any pro-

cess”; (2) Abrego Garcia’s “continued presence” in El Salvador “constitutes irreparable 

harm”; (3) “the balance of equities and the public interest weigh in favor of returning 

him to the United States”; and (4) preliminary relief “is necessary to restore him to 

the status quo and to avoid ongoing irreparable harm resulting from Abrego Garcia’s 

unlawful removal.”  Ibid. 

2. The United States immediately filed a notice of appeal.  D. Ct. Doc. 22 

(Apr. 4, 2025).  The United States also filed, in the district court and the Fourth Cir-

cuit, an emergency motion for an immediate administrative stay and a stay pending 

appeal.  C.A. Doc. 3 (Apr. 5, 2025); D. Ct. Doc. 29 (Apr. 5, 2025). 

3. On the morning of Sunday, April 6, the district court issued a memoran-

dum opinion in support of its April 4 injunction.  App., infra, 81a-102a.  The court 

held that it had jurisdiction to hear respondents’ claims, rejecting the United States’ 

contention that 8 U.S.C. 1252(g) deprived the court of jurisdiction because those 

claims challenge the execution of a removal order.  App., infra, 92a-96a.  The court 

also held that respondents had satisfied each of the requirements for preliminary 

injunctive relief.  Id. at 96a-102a.  In particular, the court concluded that respondents 

would prevail on their statutory withholding, due process, and APA claims in light of 

the IJ’s grant of withholding of removal to El Salvador.  Id. at 97a-99a.  The court 

also concluded that Abrego Garcia’s placement at CECOT would cause him irrepara-

ble harm, id. at 100a-101a, and that the balance of equities and public interest fa-

vored injunctive relief, id. at 101a-102a.  The court stated that it had granted what it 

regarded as the “narrowest” relief warranted: an “order that Defendants return 

Abrego Garcia to the United States.”  Id. at 82a.  The court declined to issue an im-

mediate administrative stay or a stay pending appeal.  Id. at 102a & n.20. 
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4. The United States asked the Fourth Circuit to rule on its stay motion by 

5 p.m. yesterday.  On Saturday morning, the Fourth Circuit requested that respond-

ents file a response by 2 p.m. on Sunday.  But as of the time of this filing, the Fourth 

Circuit has not acted on either the government’s request for a stay pending appeal or 

its request for an administrative stay. 

ARGUMENT 

Under Rule 23 of the Rules of this Court and the All Writs Act, 28 U.S.C. 1651, 

the Court may stay or vacate a district order’s interlocutory order granting emergency 

relief.  See, e.g., Trump v. International Refugee Assistance Project, 582 U.S. 571 

(2017) (per curiam); Brewer v. Landrigan, 562 U.S. 996 (2010); Brunner v. Ohio Re-

publican Party, 555 U.S. 5, 6 (2008).  An applicant must show (1) a likelihood of suc-

cess on the merits, (2) a reasonable probability of obtaining certiorari, and (3) a like-

lihood of irreparable harm.  See Hollingsworth v. Perry, 558 U.S. 183, 190 (2010) (per 

curiam).  In “close cases,” “the Court will balance the equities and weigh the relative 

harms.”  Ibid.  Those factors strongly support relief here.3 

A. The United States Is Likely To Succeed On The Merits 

The district court’s injunction—which requires Abrego Garcia’s release from 

the custody of a foreign sovereign and return to the United States by midnight on 

Monday—is patently unlawful.  As respondents acknowledged below, the district 

court has no jurisdiction over the Government of El Salvador and thus no authority 

to order Abrego Garcia’s return to the United States.  App., infra, 42a, 44a.  The court 

nevertheless ordered his return into the United States on an arbitrary and impossible 

 
3 The United States has applied to “vacate” rather than “stay” the district 

court’s injunction, though the practical effect of the relief is the same; the traditional 
stay standard should govern.  See Appl. to Vacate Order at 11 n.4, Bessent v. 
Dellinger, 144 S. Ct. 338 (No. 24A790). 
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timeline for sensitive foreign negotiations—arrogating core Article II prerogatives to 

Article III, in contravention of bedrock constitutional responsibilities.  On top of all 

that, Congress already deprived the district court of jurisdiction to enter any relief, 

because 8 U.S.C. 1252(g) provides that no court shall have jurisdiction to address 

collateral attacks on the execution of a removal order outside the statutorily pre-

scribed process.  The injunction therefore cannot stand.  Moreover, at a minimum, it 

should be vacated insofar as it requires the government to bring Abrego Garcia back 

to the United States, where he has no lawful status. 

1. An injunction demanding the release of a member of a foreign 
terrorist organization from the custody of a foreign sovereign 
and his return to the United States is an abuse of judicial 
power 

a. Tellingly, the district court’s injunction is so unprecedented that not 

even respondents requested the district court to enter it.  Before the district court, 

respondents never asked for an injunction ordering Abrego Garcia’s return to the 

United States—not in their complaint, or their ex parte motion for a temporary re-

straining order, or their renewed motion for a temporary restraining order, or their 

supplemental memorandum in support of injunctive relief, or any other filing.  See 

App., infra, 40a, 42a, 44a, 47a.  Instead, respondents asked for only two forms of 

immediate relief: (1) an order directing federal officials “to immediately stop paying” 

the Government of El Salvador “compensation” for detaining Abrego Garcia; and  

(2) an order directing federal officials “to request that the Government of El Salvador 

return Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to their custody.”  Id. at 42a; see id. at 40a, 44a, 47a.  

Respondents disclaimed asking for any other emergency relief.  See id. at 42a, 44a 

(“That is all Plaintiff asks for this Court [to] order as emergency relief.”). 



13 

 

That is for good reason.  Abrego Garcia is a native and citizen of El Salvador 

being detained in El Salvador by the Government of El Salvador.  As respondents 

have “admitted[ ],” the district court “has no jurisdiction over the Government of El 

Salvador,” which is not a party.  App., infra, 42a, 44a.  And because the court lacks 

jurisdiction over the Government of El Salvador, it “cannot force that sovereign na-

tion to release Plaintiff Abrego Garcia from its prison.”  Ibid. 

The district court’s injunction, however, demands that the United States ac-

complish just that, no matter the foreign-relations consequences.  The court’s injunc-

tion, entered last Friday afternoon, requires Abrego Garcia’s “return” to “the United 

States no later than 11:59 PM on April 7th.”  App., infra, 79a; see id. at 82a (charac-

terizing the court’s injunction as an order for Abrego Garcia’s “return”).  But neither 

a federal district court nor the United States has authority to tell the Government of 

El Salvador what to do.  The Government of El Salvador has custody of Abrego Gar-

cia, so he cannot be returned to the United States unless the Government of El Sal-

vador releases him.  Compliance with the district court’s order thus requires the Gov-

ernment of El Salvador to “release Plaintiff Abrego Garcia from its prison.”  Id. at 

42a, 44a.   

The district court’s injunction thus does not just offend the sovereignty of the 

Government of El Salvador—though it surely does that.  The negotiate-by-midnight 

order gravely offends the separation of powers, under which the Executive, not the 

Judiciary, conducts relations with foreign sovereigns and protects the Nation against 

foreign terrorists, including by effectuating their removal.  As this Court has repeat-

edly recognized, “any policy toward aliens is vitally and intricately interwoven with 

contemporaneous policies in regard to the conduct of foreign relations [and] the war 

power.”  Harisiades v. Shaughnessy, 342 U.S. 580, 588-589 (1952); see Trump v. Ha-
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waii, 585 U.S. 667, 702 (2018).  Under the Constitution, “[s]uch matters are so exclu-

sively entrusted to the political branches of government as to be largely immune from 

judicial inquiry or interference.”  Harisiades, 342 U.S. at 589; see Trump v. United 

States, 603 U.S. 593, 607 (2024) (recognizing that Article II entrusts the Executive 

with “important foreign relations responsibilities,” including “managing matters re-

lated to terrorism, trade, and immigration”); Hawaii, 585 U.S. at 702 (“For more than 

a century, this Court has recognized that the admission and exclusion of foreign na-

tionals is a ‘fundamental sovereign attribute exercised by the Government’s political 

departments largely immune from judicial control.’  ”) (citation omitted). 

The district court’s injunction, however, subjects the Executive’s conduct of for-

eign relations to precisely such interference.  This case does not involve just “[a]ny 

policy toward aliens,” Harisades, 342 U.S. at 588 (emphasis added); it involves policy 

toward an alien who is in the custody of a foreign sovereign (and who is part of a 

designated foreign terrorist organization).  And because the United States cannot 

comply with the district court’s injunction unless the Government of El Salvador re-

leases Abrego Garcia from custody, the injunction makes the district court the arbiter 

of “relations with [a] foreign power[ ]” itself.  Hawaii, 585 U.S. at 702 (citation omit-

ted).  Such relations go to the core of the Executive’s responsibilities under Article II, 

which “authorizes the Executive to engag[e] in direct diplomacy with foreign heads of 

state and their ministers.”  Zivotofsky v. Kerry, 576 U.S. 1, 14 (2015); see id. at 13-15 

(recognizing that “the President himself has the power to open diplomatic channels 

simply by engaging in direct diplomacy with foreign heads of state and their minis-

ters” and that the President is positioned to engage in “delicate and often secret dip-

lomatic contacts”).  “Accordingly, the Court has taken care to avoid ‘the danger of 

unwarranted judicial interference in the conduct of foreign policy,’ and declined to 
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‘run interference in [the] delicate field of international relations.’  ”  Biden v. Texas, 

597 U.S. 785, 805 (2022) (quoting Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co., 569 U.S. 108, 

115-116 (2013)).  By subjecting such relations to judicial control, the court’s injunction 

impermissibly intrudes on those Article II prerogatives. 

Compounding that error, the district court’s injunction, which was entered on 

Friday afternoon, sets an arbitrary—and impossible—deadline of 11:59 p.m. on Mon-

day, April 7, for Abrego Garcia’s return.  App., infra, 79a.  The United States’ negoti-

ations with a foreign sovereign should not be put on a judicially mandated clock, least 

of all when matters of foreign terrorism and national security are at stake.  See Biden 

v. Texas, 597 U.S. at 806 (reversing court of appeals’ decision requiring resumption 

of program to return arriving aliens to contiguous territory pending their removal 

proceedings in part because that order “imposed a significant burden upon the Exec-

utive’s ability to conduct diplomatic relations with Mexico”).  The idea that district 

judges are best positioned to decide how long delicate foreign negotiations should 

take—and can grossly interfere with those negotiations by signaling to foreign part-

ners that they can leverage the United States’ obligation to comply with court orders 

into concessions to beat the district judge’s clock—is antithetical to the constitutional 

order.   

b. The district court’s and respondents’ attempts to justify the court’s in-

junction are meritless.  In its Sunday morning memorandum opinion, the court char-

acterized its injunction as the “narrowest” relief that it could issue.  App., infra, 82a.  

That characterization is indefensible, especially because the injunction went far be-

yond what respondents themselves had requested.  An injunction that demands that 

the United States persuade El Salvador to release a member of a foreign terrorist 
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organization from El Salvador’s custody and return him to the United States on an 

arbitrary, impossible timeline is hardly “narrow[  ].”  Ibid.   

In opposing a stay of the injunction in the court of appeals, respondents in-

sisted that they did “request[ ]” the injunction that the district court entered.  Resp. 

C.A. Stay Opp. 9.  But contrary to respondents’ characterization, the court did not 

merely order the United States to “facilitate” Abrego’s return, ibid.; it ordered the 

United States actually to “effectuate” it, App., infra, 79a.  If there were any doubt on 

that score, the court’s memorandum opinion eliminated it, by reiterating that its in-

junction “order[s]” that “Defendants return Abrego Garcia to the United States.”  Id. 

at 82a (emphasis added).  Again, respondents clearly disclaimed such a request in 

repeatedly telling the court that it “has no jurisdiction over the Government of El 

Salvador and cannot force that sovereign nation to release Plaintiff Abrego Garcia 

from its prison.”  Id. at 42a, 44a.   

The district court’s and respondents’ efforts to analogize the court’s injunction 

to relief in other immigration cases also fail.  See App., infra, 90a-91a; Resp. C.A. 

Stay Opp. 10.  Each of those other cases involved a U.S. Immigration and Customs 

Enforcement (ICE) directive that describes a policy for “facilitating” the return of cer-

tain lawfully removed aliens whose petitions for review are granted after their re-

moval.  E.g., Ramirez v. Sessions, 887 F.3d 693, 706 n.11 (4th Cir. 2018) (citation 

omitted); see also Nken v. Holder, 556 U.S. 418, 435 (2009) (noting that aliens “who 

prevail” on petitions for review of removal orders “can be afforded effective relief by 

facilitation of their return”).  The ICE directive defines “facilitating an alien’s return” 

to mean “engag[ing] in activities which allow a lawfully removed alien to travel to the 

United States (such as by issuing a Boarding Letter to permit commercial air travel) 

and, if warranted, parol[ing] the alien into the United States upon his or her arrival 
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at a U.S. port of entry.”  Ramirez, 887 F.3d at 706 n.11 (citation omitted).  The di-

rective further specifies that facilitating an alien’s return “does not necessarily in-

clude funding the alien’s travel via commercial carrier to the United States or making 

flight arrangements for the alien.”  Ibid. (citation omitted). 

Yet what the district court’s injunction requires the United States to do in this 

case goes far beyond “facilitating” an alien’s return as defined by the ICE directive.  

Whereas the ICE directive contemplates actions entirely within the United States’ 

control—like issuing a travel document or paroling an alien into the United States—

the court’s injunction in this case requires the United States to secure an alien’s re-

lease from the custody of a foreign sovereign.  Accordingly, respondents and the dis-

trict fail to identify another case that involved an order that bears any resemblance 

to this one.  Far from being “routine,” Resp. C.A. Stay Opp. 1, the injunction in this 

case is an unprecedented attempt to tell a foreign sovereign what to do and to usurp 

the Executive’s conduct of foreign relations in the process. 

2. Section 1252(g) of Title 8 deprives the district court of 
jurisdiction over respondents’ claims 

a. The district court’s injunction should be vacated for an independent rea-

son:  Section 1252(g) of Title 8 deprives the district court of jurisdiction over respond-

ents’ claims.  By its terms, Section 1252(g) strips district courts of “jurisdiction to 

hear any cause or claim by or on behalf of any alien arising from the decision or action 

by the Attorney General to  * * *  execute removal orders against any alien under” 

the INA, except as provided in Section 1252.  8 U.S.C. 1252(g); see Reno v. American-

Arab Anti-Discrimination Comm., 525 U.S. 471, 482 (1999). 

Respondents’ claims in this case are claims by or on behalf of Abrego Garcia 

“arising from the decision or action” by the federal government to “execute [a] removal 
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order[ ] against” Abrego Garcia under the INA.  8 U.S.C. 1252(g).  That much is clear 

from respondents’ complaint, which alleges that the government violated the with-

holding-of-removal statute and the Due Process Clause by “remov[ing] Plaintiff 

Abrego Garcia to El Salvador.”  App., infra, 35a, 36a (emphasis added); see id. at 33a 

(alleging that federal officials “decided to deport Plaintiff Abrego Garcia without fol-

lowing the law”).  Indeed, respondents acknowledge that their “core contention in this 

case is that Defendants removed [Abrego Garcia] from the United States without legal 

justification.”  Id. at 67a.  And, tellingly, the injunction that the district court granted 

purports to undo that removal, by directing Abrego Garcia’s “return” to the United 

States.  Id. at 79a.  There can thus be no question that respondents’ claims arise from 

the government’s decision or action to “execute [a] removal order[  ] against” Abrego 

Garcia under the INA.  8 U.S.C. 1252(g). 

To be sure, what respondents challenge is not the validity of the removal order 

itself; they acknowledge that there is a valid removal order against Abrego Garcia.  

See App., infra, 46a.  Rather, what respondents challenge is Abrego Garcia’s “removal 

to El Salvador,” after he was granted withholding of removal to that country.  Ibid.  

But Section 1252(g) does not refer to claims challenging the validity of a removal 

order; it refers to claims arising from a decision or action to “execute [a] removal or-

der[ ].”  8 U.S.C. 1252(g) (emphasis added).  And the execution of a removal order 

necessarily involves deciding where the alien will go.  See Johnson v. Guzman Chavez, 

594 U.S. 523, 536 (2021) (explaining that withholding of removal “relates to where an 

alien may be removed”).  The facts of this case illustrate the point:  DHS “executed” 

Abrego Garcia’s Title 8 removal order by placing him on a flight to a particular coun-

try (here, El Salvador).  App., infra, 59a; see ibid. (“Abrego-Garcia  * * *  was on the 

third flight and thus had his removal order to El Salvador executed.”).  By challenging 
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Abrego Garcia’s “removal to El Salvador,” id. at 46a, respondents’ claims arise from 

the execution of a removal order against him. 

Section 1252(g) therefore deprives district courts of jurisdiction over respond-

ents’ claims, “[e]xcept as provided in [Section 1252].”  8 U.S.C. 1252(g).  That excep-

tion does not apply in this case; indeed, respondents never invoked Section 1252 as a 

basis for jurisdiction.  See App., infra, 21a.  Section 1252(g) deprives the district court 

of jurisdiction to hear respondents’ claims—and to enter the injunction at issue here. 

b. The district court’s and respondents’ attempts to evade Section 1252(g)’s 

jurisdictional bar lack merit.  In its Sunday morning memorandum opinion, the dis-

trict court stated that there is no removal order in the record.  App., infra, 94a.  But 

the record shows that Abrego Garcia was charged with removability under Title 8, 

see id. at 6a; that the IJ found Abrego Garcia removable as charged, see id. at 7a; and 

that Abrego Garcia had “his removal order  * * *  executed” when he was put on a 

plane to El Salvador with other “aliens with Title 8 removal orders,” id. at 59a.  Not 

only have respondents never disputed that there is a valid removal order against 

Abrego Garcia, they have conceded that the “government could have chosen to remove 

Mr. Abrego Garcia to any other country on earth.”  Id. at 46a.  They are plainly chal-

lenging his removal to El Salvador versus somewhere else—and Section 1252(g) bars 

that claim. 

For similar reasons, respondents’ contention (C.A. Stay Opp. 13-14) that the 

execution of Abrego Garcia’s removal order was not the execution of a removal order 

“under this chapter”—i.e., Chapter 12 of Title 8—fails.  Abrego was charged with re-

movability under that Chapter and placed in removal proceedings governed by that 

Chapter.  See App., infra, 6a.  The removal order that was executed was thus a re-

moval order under that Chapter. 



20 

 

Citing various lower-court decisions, the district court also expressed the view 

that Section 1252(g) does not deprive courts of jurisdiction to review non-“discretion-

ary” decisions or “pure question[s] of law.”  App., infra, 94a-95a (citing, e.g., Borwin 

v. United States INS, 194 F.3d 483 (4th Cir. 1999)).  But those purported exceptions 

to Section 1252(g)’s jurisdictional bar appear nowhere in the text of Section 1252(g).  

See, e.g., Silva v. United States, 866 F.3d 938, 940 (8th Cir. 2017) (“The statute  * * *  

makes no distinction between discretionary and nondiscretionary decisions.”); Foster 

v. Townsley, 243 F.3d 210, 214 (5th Cir. 2001) (“[A] plain reading of the statute 

demonstrates that Congress did not exclude non-discretionary decisions from this 

provision limiting judicial review.”).  And even if they did, the exceptions would not 

cover this case.  The decision to execute Abrego Garcia’s removal order was a discre-

tionary one—made several years after that order but soon after the designation of 

MS-13 as a foreign terrorist organization.  See pp. 6-7, supra.  And contrary to the 

district court’s suggestion, respondents’ claims arising from that discretionary deci-

sion do not present a “pure question of law,” App., infra, 95a; the challenged error 

here was an “administrative error,” not a purely legal one, id. at 60a; see Silva, 866 

F.3d at 941 (holding that an error in executing a removal order did not present a 

“pure question of law”).  Indeed, the administrative error here involved removal to El 

Salvador—not removal anywhere—and the 2019 order granting withholding did not, 

of course, account for MS-13’s ensuing designation as a foreign terrorist organization 

whose members cannot invoke withholding of removal, or the United States’ ensuing 

work with El Salvador to ensure that removed aliens are treated consistently with 

the Convention Against Torture.  Section 1252(g) therefore deprived the district court 

of jurisdiction to enter any relief on respondents’ claims, including this injunction. 



21 

 

3. At a minimum, the district court erred in ordering Abrego 
Garcia’s return to the United States 

The district court did not simply order Abrego Garcia’s release from the cus-

tody of the Government of El Salvador; it ordered that he be brought back “to the 

United States.”  App., infra, 79a.  But a plaintiff ’s remedy must be “limited to the 

inadequacy that produced his injury in fact.”  Gill v. Whitford, 585 U.S. 48, 66 (2018) 

(brackets and citation omitted).  Here, the only injury that the court identified was 

Abrego Garcia’s “continued presence in El Salvador.”  App., infra, 79a.  Abrego Garcia 

has never claimed any entitlement to be in the United States.  Nor could he. He does 

not dispute that there is a removal order against him.  See id. at 46a.  Although 

Abrego Garcia was granted withholding of removal to El Salvador, that only “prohib-

its DHS from removing [him] to that particular country, not from the United States.”  

Guzman Chavez, 594 U.S. at 536.  The removal order “remains in full force, and DHS 

retains the authority to remove [him] to any other country authorized by the statute.”  

Ibid.; see App., infra, 46a (acknowledging that the “government could have chosen to 

remove Mr. Abrego Garcia to any other country on earth”).  On top of that, Abrego 

Garcia is certainly removable now—without any entitlement to withholding—based 

on his membership in a designated foreign terrorist organization.  See 8 U.S.C. 

1231(b)(3)(B).  Congress sensibly determined that when individuals associate with 

terrorist organizations, the government has the strongest of interests in removing 

them elsewhere, and thus Congress gave the Executive Branch greater flexibility to 

prevent the serious national-security harms from having foreign terrorists remain on 

U.S. soil.  The district court’s order directing that Abrego Garcia be brought back to 

the United States heightens the unlawfulness of the order.   
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B. The Other Factors Support Vacating The District Court’s Injunction 

The remaining factors—i.e., whether the underlying issues warrant review, 

whether the applicant likely faces irreparable harm, and, in close cases, the balance 

of equities, see Hollingsworth, 558 U.S. at 190—likewise support relief here. 

1. The questions raised by this case plainly warrant this Court’s review.  

See Does 1-3 v. Mills, 142 S. Ct. 17, 18 (2021) (Barrett, J., concurring) (identifying 

certworthiness as a stay factor).  As explained, the district court’s injunction vastly 

exceeds the court’s authority, grossly interferes with the President’s core foreign- 

relations powers, and exercises jurisdiction in the very type of case where Congress 

barred it.  See pp. 11-20, supra.  If allowed to stand, the injunction would allow dis-

trict courts to function as de facto Secretaries of State, empowered to dictate the con-

duct of relations with a foreign sovereign over which the district court has “no juris-

diction,” as respondents acknowledge.  App., infra, 42a, 44a.  The case presents ques-

tions of important questions of federal law that warrant this Court’s review.  Sup. Ct. 

R. 10(c).  In addition, the questions of the proper interpretation of 8 U.S.C. 1252(g) 

are independently certworthy for the reasons discussed above. 

2. For similar reasons, the district court’s injunction irreparably harms the 

government by placing the conduct of foreign relations under judicial superintend-

ence.  See pp. 11-17, supra.  The injunction also threatens irreparable harm to the 

public by directing the return of “a verified member of MS-13” to the United States.  

App., infra, 2a.  At a bond hearing in 2019, “a ‘past, proven, and reliable source of 

information’ verified [Abrego Garcia’s] gang membership,” and Abrego Garcia “failed 

to present evidence to rebut th[e] assertion” that he “is a gang member” of MS-13.  Id. 

at 3a.  An IJ therefore determined that Abrego Garcia had “failed to meet his burden 

of demonstrating that his release from custody would not pose a danger to others,” 
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id. at 2a, and the Board affirmed the IJ’s denial of release on bond, finding that the 

IJ had “appropriately considered allegations of gang affiliation against [Abrego Gar-

cia],” id. at 5a.  Since then, the Secretary of State has designated MS-13 as a foreign 

terrorist organization.  90 Fed. Reg. at 10,030; see pp. 6-7, supra.  Self-evidently, the 

public interest supports vacating the order directing Abrego Garcia’s return to the 

United States.  See Nken, 556 U.S. at 435 (noting that the “public interest in prompt 

execution of removal orders” may “be heightened” if an “alien is particularly danger-

ous”).   

The district court’s assertion that there is “no evidence linking Abrego Garcia 

to MS-13” ignores the evidence that was before the IJ and the Board.  App., infra, 82a 

n.2.  Further, any suggestion that DHS could eliminate the public safety concern by 

detaining Abrego Garcia upon his return is profoundly misguided.  The United States 

has a compelling interest in ensuring that members of foreign terrorist organizations 

do not interact with anyone else in the United States, because MS-13 members pre-

sent heightened risks of violence against government officials and fellow detainees 

and attempt to recruit others to their ranks.  See Gov’t C.A. Stay Mot. 16-17.  More-

over, the Executive’s assessment of the danger that Abrego Garcia poses to this coun-

try is entitled to substantial deference.  See Hawaii, 585 U.S. at 704 (“ ‘[J]udicial in-

quiry into the national-security realm raises concerns for the separation of powers’ 

by intruding on the President’s constitutional responsibilities in the area of foreign 

affairs.”). 

3. On the other side of the balance, vacating the district court’s injunction 

would not cause respondents irreparable harm.  Respondents assert that Abrego Gar-

cia is “suffering irreparable harm in the form of separation from” his family.  App., 

infra, 36a.  But the district court declined to rely on that assertion in entering its 
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injunction, see id. at 100a-101a—for good reason.  While respondents challenge 

Abrego Garcia’s “removal to El Salvador,” they acknowledge that the “government 

could have chosen to remove [him] to any other country on earth,” thereby separating 

him from his family.  Id. at 46a.  Because respondents take issue only with where, not 

whether Abrego Garcia was removed, the harm that they claim from family separa-

tion is not implicated or properly redressable here.   

Respondents also allege that Abrego Garcia is at imminent risk of irreparable 

harm, including torture or death, “with every additional day he spends detained in 

CECOT.”  App., infra, 35a.  But both the United States and El Salvador are parties 

to the Convention Against Torture, and the United States is obligated not to return 

a person to a country where that person is likely to be tortured.  See 8 C.F.R. 1208.18.  

The United States has accordingly ensured that removed aliens will not be tortured, 

and it would not have removed any alien to El Salvador for detention in CECOT if 

doing so would violate its obligations under the Convention.  “The Judiciary is not 

suited to second-guess such determinations” about “whether there is a serious pro-

spect of torture at the hands of ” a foreign sovereign.  Munaf v. Geren, 553 U.S. 674, 

702 (2008); see Kiyemba v. Obama, 561 F.3d 509, 514 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (“Under Munaf,  

* * *  the district court may not question the Government’s determination that a po-

tential recipient country is not likely to torture a detainee.”), cert. denied, 559 U.S. 

1005 (2010). 

It is true that an IJ concluded six years ago that Abrego Garcia should not be 

removed to El Salvador, due to his claims about threats from a different gang.  App., 

infra, 11a-15a.  But given the Secretary of State’s designation of MS-13 as a foreign 

terrorist organization in February 2025, see 90 Fed. Reg. at 10,030, the IJ’s finding 

that Abrego Garcia is “a verified member of MS-13” would render him ineligible for 
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statutory withholding of removal if the issue arose today, App., infra, 3a; see 8 U.S.C. 

1231(b)(3)(B)(iv).  So while “there is a public interest in preventing aliens from being 

wrongfully removed,” Nken, 556 U.S. at 436, that interest is substantially diminished 

in this case and outweighed by the harm that the district court’s injunction threatens 

to cause the government and the public. 

C.  This Court Should Grant An Immediate Administrative Stay 

At the very least, this Court should grant an administrative stay while it con-

siders this application.  An administrative stay is particularly warranted in this case 

because of the exceedingly short period that the district court gave the government 

to comply with its injunction.  As explained above, the court entered its injunction on 

a Friday afternoon and directed Abrego Garcia’s return by midnight tonight—giving 

the government little more than one business day to secure Abrego Garcia’s release 

from a foreign sovereign.  See p. 15, supra.  In light of that impending deadline, an 

administrative stay is necessary to ensure an opportunity for meaningful appellate 

review of the court’s injunction.  Heightening the concern, the district court did not 

even issue its memorandum opinion explaining the basis for its injunction until the 

morning of Sunday, April 6—the calendar day before the compliance deadline.  App., 

infra, 81a-102a.  In these circumstances, an administrative stay is warranted while 

this Court assesses the government’s entitlement to vacatur. 
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CONCLUSION 

This Court should vacate the district court’s injunction.  In addition, the Solic-

itor General respectfully requests an immediate administrative stay of the district 

court’s injunction pending this Court’s consideration of this application.   

Respectfully submitted. 

D. JOHN SAUER 
   Solicitor General  

APRIL 2025  
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BOND MEMORANDUM 

The Respondent is a native and citizen of El Salvador. On March 29, 2019, the 
Department of Homeland Security (DHS) served the Respondent with a Notice to Appear 
(NT A), which sets forth the following factual allegations: ( l) the Respondent is not a citizen or 
national of the United States; (2) he is a native and citizen of El Salvador; (3) he arrived in the 
United States at an unknown place, on an unknown date; and ( 4) he was not then admitted or 
paroled after an inspection by an immigration officer. Accordingly, the Respondent was charged 
with removability pursuant to INA§ 212(a)(6XA)(i), as an alien present in the United States 
without being admitted or paroled, or who arrived in the United States at any time or place other 
than as designated by the Attorney General. Exh. l . The Respondent was held in custody by the 
DHS. 

The Respondent requested a bond redetermination hearing, which the Court conducted on 
April 24, 2019. At his bond hearing, the Respondent, through counsel, requested a $5,000 bond. 
He argued that he is not a flight risk. He asserted that he has lived in the United States for eight 
years. He has two brothers who are legal pennanent residents. His fiance is a United States 
citizen, and the Respondent is helping to raise and support her two children. His fiance is also 
five months' pregnant with a child by the Respondent; her pregnancy is high-risk. He stated that 
he failed to appear for hearings on some traffic violations because he was not aware of those 
hearings, and he intends to hire an attorney to resolve his traffic proceedings. In addition, the 
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Respondent stated that he intends to apply for relief in the form of asylum and adjustment of 
status based on his relationship to his fiance, whom he intends to marry. The Respondent also 
argued that he is not a danger to the community. He has no criminal convictions. He denied 
being a gang member and objected to the admissibility of the Form 1-213 and the Prince 
George's County Police Department Gang Field Interview Sheet because he lacked the 
opportunity to cross-examine the detective who determined that he is a gang member. 

The OHS opposed the Respondent's request for bond. The OHS asserted that the 
Respondent is a verified gang member. The Respondent was arrested in the company of other 
ranking gang members and was confirmed to be a ranking member of the MS-13 gang by a 
proven and reliable source. The OHS argued that the Form 1-213 is admissible as a legally 
reliable document in immigration court. 

An alien seeking a custody redetermination under section 236(a) of the Act bears the 
burden of demonstrating that he merits release on bond. Matter of Guerra, 24 l&N Dec. 37, 40 
(BIA 2006). The respondent may satisfy this burden by demonstrating that his release does not 
pose a danger to persons or property, a threat to national security, or a risk of flight, and that he 
is likely to appear for any future proceedings. Matter ofSiniauskas, 27 l&N Dec. 207,207 (BIA 
2018); Matter of Adeniji, 22 l&N Dec. 1102, 1111-13 (BIA 1999). 

An immigration judge has broad discretion to consider any matter deemed relevant to 
determining whether an alien's release on bond is permissible or advisable. Matter of Guerra, 24 
l&N Dec. at 40 (noting that an immigration judge "may choose to give greater weight to one 
factor over others, as long as the decision is reasonable"). Relevant factors include: ( 1) whether 
the alien has a fixed address in the United States; (2) the alien's length of residence in the United 
States; (3) the alien's family ties in the United States, and whether they may entitle the alien to 
reside permanently in the United States in the future; (4) the alien's employment history; (5) the 
alien's record of appearance in court; (6) the alien's criminal record, including the extensiveness 
of criminal activity, the recent nature of such activity, and the seriousness of the offenses; (7) the 
alien's history of immigration violations; (8) any attempts by the alien to flee prosecution or 
otherwise escape from authorities; and (9) the alien's manner of entry to the United States. Id; 
see also Matter of Saelee, 22 l&N Dec. 1258 (BIA 2000). 

After considering the information provided by both parties, the Court concluded that no 
bond was appropriate in this matter. The Court first reasoned that the Respondent failed to meet 
his burden of demonstrating that his release from custody would not pose a danger to others, as 
the evidence shows that he is a verified member ofMS-13. Matter ofSiniauskas, 27 l&N Dec. at 
210; Matter of Adeniji, 22 l&N Dec. at 1111-13; 8 C.F.R. § 1003.19(h)(3). The BIA has held 
that, absent any indication that the information therein is incorrect or was the result of coercion 
or duress, Form 1-213 is "inherently trustworthy and admissible." Matter of Barcenas, 19 l&N 
Dec. 609,611 (BIA 1988). The Respondent contends that the Form 1-213 in his case erroneously 
states that he was detained in connection to a murder investigation. He also claims that the 1-213 
is internally contradicts itself as to whether the Respondent fears returning to El Salvador. The 
reason for the Respondent's arrest given on his Form 1-213 does appear at odds with the Gang 
Field Interview Sheet, which states that the Respondent was approached because he and others 
were loitering outside of a Home Depot. Regardless, the determination that the Respondent is a 
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gang member appears to be trustworthy and is supported by other evidence in the record, 
namely, information contained in the Gang Field Interview Sheet. Although the Court is 
reluctant to give evidentiary weight to the Respondent's clothing as an indication of gang 
affiliation, the fact that a "past, proven, and reliable source of information" verified the 
Respondent's gang membership, rank, and gang name is sufficient to support that the 
Respondent is a gang member, and the Respondent has failed to present evidence to rebut that 
assertion. 

The Court further held that no bond was appropriate in order to ensure the Respondent's 
appearance at future hearings, as he had not met his burden of showing that he would not be a 
flight risk. See 8 C.F.R. § 1003.l 9(h)(3). The Respondent's case presents limited eligibility for 
relief, thereby significantly diminishing his incentive to appear for future immigration 
proceedings. He is not married to his fiance, and any immigration relief that he can be expected 
to gain from a marital relationship with her in the future is speculative. Although the Respondent 
stated that he intends to file for asylum, his eligibility appears limited to withholding of removal 
and protection under the Convention Against Torture due to his failure to file an application 
within one year of his arrival in the United States. Those forms ofrelief are limited and contain 
standards that are difficult to meet. In addition, the record evidence shows that the Respondent 
has a history of failing to appear for proceedings pertaining to his traffic violations. See Bond 
Exh. 2, Tab I at 28-29. He asserted that he did not receive notice of these proceedings, but in his 
written statement, he admitted that he remembers receiving citations that he chose not to follow 
up on. See Bond Exh. 2, Tab B at 5. The Respondent's lack of diligence in following up on his 
traffic court cases indicates that he cannot be trusted to appear in immigration court. 

In light of these findings, the Court concluded that no bond was appropriate in this 
matter. That order was issued on April 24, 2019. The Respondent reserved the right to appeal. 

Date 

3 

\!lei �etli A. Kessler 
Immigration Judge 
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In re: Kilmer Armado ABREGO-GARCIA 

IN BOND PROCEEDINGS 

APPEAL 

Date: 

ON BEHALF OF RESPONDENT: Lucia Curiel, Esquire 

ON BEHALF OF OHS: Jennifer L. Hastings 
Assistant Chief Counsel 

APPLICATION: Redetermination of custody status 

DEC 1 9 2019 

The respondent, a native and citizen of El Salvador, appeals from an Immigration Judge's 
April 24, 2019, decision denying his request for release on bond from the custody of the 
Department of Homeland Security pursuant to section 236(a) of the Immigration and Nationality 
Act, 8 U.S.C. § 1226(a). On May 22, 2019, the Immigration Judge issued a memorandum setting 
forth the reasons underlying her conclusion that the respondent did not show that he is not a danger 
to the community or that he presents a flight risk capable of being mitigated by bond. The appeal 
will be dismissed. 

This Board reviews the Immigration Judge's factual findings for clear error. 8 C.F.R. 
§ 1003. l(d)(3)(i); see also Matter of Fatahi, 26 I&N Dec. 791, 793 n.2 (BIA 2016). We review 
all other issues de novo. 8 C.F.R. § l 003. l (d)(3)(ii). 

An alien "must demonstrate to the satisfaction of (the Immigration Judge] that [his or her] 
release would not pose a danger to property or persons . .. .  " 8 C.F.R. § 1236.l(c)(8); see also 
Matter of Adeniji, 22 I&N Dec. 1102, 1111-12 (BIA 1999). Thus, only if an alien has established 
that he or she would not pose a danger to persons or property should an Immigration Judge decide 
the amount of bond necessary to ensure the alien's presence at proceedings to remove him or her 
from the United States. Matter of Urena, 25 I&N Dec. 140, 141 (BIA 2009). 

The respondent argues that the Immigration Judge clearly erred in determining that he is a 
verified member of MS-13 because there is no reliable evidence in the record to support such a 
finding (Respondent's Br. at 6-9). In this regard, the respondent asserts that a Prince George's 
County Police Department Gang Field Interview Sheet ("GFIS") is based on hearsay relayed by a 
confidential source (Exh. 4). The respondent also claims that he presented sufficient evidence to 
rebut the allegation that he is affiliated with MS-13, including character references and criminal 
records showing that he has only been charged with traffic offenses. Therefore, the respondent 
contends that the Immigration Judge erroneously ruled that he did not show that he is not a danger 
to the community (Respondent's Br. at 9-10). 
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4a



Case 8:25-cv-00951-PX     Document 11-2     Filed 03/31/25     Page 2 of 2

We adopt and affirm the Immigration Judge's danger ruling (IJ at 2-3). See Maller of Burbano, 
20 I&N Dec. 872, 874 (BIA 1994). Notwithstanding the respondent's challenges to the reliability 
of the GFIS, the Immigration Judge appropriately considered allegations of gang affiliation against 
the respondent in determining that he has not demonstrated that he is not a danger to property or 
persons. See Matter of Fatahi, 26 I&N Dec. at 795 (in determining whether an alien presents a 
danger to the community and thus should not be released on bond pending removal proceedings, 
an Immigration Judge should consider both direct and cir,cumstantial evidence of dangerousness); 
Matter of Guerra, 24 I&N Dec. 37, 40 (BIA 2006) (stating that Immigration Judges may look to a 
number of factors in determining whether an alien merits release on bond, including "the alien's 
criminal record, including the extensiveness of criminal activity, the recency of such activity, and 
the seriousness of the offenses"). 

Consequently, we need not address the Immigrat ion Judge's flight risk determination 
(Respondent's Br. at 10-11). 

Accordingly , the following order is entered. 

ORDER: The appeal is dismissed. 

2 
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UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
EXECUTIVE OFFICE FOR IMMIGRATION REVIEW 

UNITED STATES IMMIGRATION COURT 
BALTIMORE, MARYLAND 

IN THE MATTER OF: ) IN REMOVAL PROCEEDINGS 
) 
) 

Kilmar Armando ABREGO-GARCIA ) File #A 201-577-119 
) 
) 

RESPONDENT ) 

INDIVIDUAL HEARING DATE: 

CHARGE: 

APPLICATIONS: 

ON BEHALF OF RESPONDENT 
Lucia Curiel 
Khatia Mikadze 

August 9 and September 27, 2019 

Section 212(a)(6)(A)(i) of the Immigration and 
Nationality Act ("INA" or the "Act"), as amended, 
in that the Respondent is an alien present in the 
United States without being admitted or paroled, or 
who arrived in th,e United States at any time or place 
other than as designated by the Attorney General. 

INA§ 208, Asylum; INA§ 241(b)(3), Withholding 
of Removal; Protection Under Article 3 of the 
Convention Against Torture. 

APPEARANCES 

ONBEHALFOFTHEDHS 
Amy Donze-Sanchez 

MEMORANDUM OF DECISION AND ORDER 

I. Procedural History 
The Respondent is a native and citizen of El Salvador. The Department of Homeland 

Security ("DHS") issued the Respondent a Notice to Appear ("NTA'') on March 29, 2019 which 
alleged that the Respondent: (1) is not a citizen or national of the United States; (2) is a native and 
citizen of El Salvador; (3) entered the United States at or near an unknown place on or about an 
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unlmown date; and ( 4) was not then admitted or paroled after inspection by an irnn:tigration officer. 
At a Master Calendar Hearing the Respondent, through counsel, admitted the factual 

allegations contained in the NT A and conceded removability as charged. Based on the 
Respondent's admissions and concessions, the Court found his removability to be established by 
clear and convincing evidence as required by INA§ 240(c)(3). See also Woodby v. INS, 385 U.S. 
276 (1966). As relief from removal, the Respondent filed a Form I-589, Application for Asylum, 
Withholding of Removal, and Relief under Article 3 of the Convention Against Torture ("CAT"). 
The Respondent and his wife both teS(ifi ed in support of the applications. The Court reserved the 
matter for the issuance of a written decision. 

1l1e Court has considered the arguments of both parties and the entire record carefully. The 
following documentary evidence was considered by the Court and admitted into the record: Exhibit 
1, the Notice to Appear; Exhibit 2, the I-213; Exhibit 3, the Respondent's application with all 
supporting documents; and Exhibit 5, Part A, explanation of the wife's pregnant condition while 
testifying. 1 All evidence and testimony admitted has been considered, even if not specifically 
addressed in the decision. Having reviewed the evidence of record and the applicable law, the 
Court's written decision and order now follow. 

II. Testimonial Evidence Presented 
A. Respondent 

The Respondent is a 24-year old native of El Salvador. He was born in 1995 in Los Nogales 
neighborhood, San Salvador, El Salvador. The Respondent testified that he fears returning to his 
country because the Barrio 18 gang was targeting him and threatening him with death because of 
his family's pupusa2 business. 1be Respondent's mother, Cecilia, ran the business out of her home. 
Although the business had no formal storefront, everyone in the town knew to get their pupusas 
from "Pupuseria Cecilia." The Respondent's father, brother and two sisters all helped run the 
family business. The Respondent's job was to go to the grocery store to buy the supplies needed 
for the pupusas, and then he and his brother would do deliveries four days a week to the people in 

1 Exhibit 4 is a Prince George's County Police Department Gang Field Interview Sheet. It was admitted for the limited purpose of showing that the Respondent was labeled a gang member by law enforcement. 
2 El Salvadorian stuffed tortillas. 

2 
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the town that ordered pupusas from Cecilia. 
At some point, Barrio 18 realized the family was making money from their family business 

and they began extorting the Responden!' s mother, Cecilia. They demanded a regular stipend of 
"rent" money from the business, beginnmg with a monthly payment and then requiring week! y 
payments. The gang threatened to hann the Respondent, his older brother Cesar, and the family in 
general if their demands were not met. Alternatively, they told Cecelia that if she could not pay 
the extortion money, she could (um Cesar over to them to become part of their gang. The Abrego 
family paid the money on a regular basis, whenever they could, and hid Cesar from the gang. On 
one occasion, the gang came to the family's home and threatened to kill Cesar if the family did not 
pay the rent. The family responded by sending Cesar to the U.S. 

After Cesar left, the gang started recruiting the Respondent. They told Cecilia that she 
would not have to pay rent any more if she let him join the gang. The mother refused to let this 
happen. The gang then threatened to kill the Respondent. When the Respondent was around 12-
years old, the gang came to the home again, telling Cecilia that they would take him because she 
wasn't paying money from the family's pupusa business. The Respondent's father prevented the 
gang from taking the Respondent that day by paying the gang all of the money that they wanted. 
During the days, the gang would watch the Respondent when he went back and forth to school. 
The members of the gangs all had many tattoos and always carried weapons. 

Eventually, the family had enough and moved from Los Nogales to the 10th of October 
neighborhood. This town was about IO minutes away, by car, from Los Nogales. Shortly after the 
family moved, members of Barrio 18 from Nogales went to the 10th of October and let their fellow 
gang members know that the family had moved to that neighborhood· Barrio 18 members visited 
the house demanding the rent money from the pupusa business again. They went to the house twice 
threatening to rape and kill the Respondent's two sisters and threatening the Respondent. The 
Respondent's parents were so fearful that they kept the Respondent inside the home as much as 
possible. Finally, the family decided they had to close the pupusa business and move to another 
area, Los Andes, about a 15 minute drive from their last residence. Even at this new location, the 
family kept the Respondent indoors most of the time because of the threats on his life. After four 
months of living in fear, the Respondent's parents sent the Respondent to the U.S. 

Even though the Respondent's father was a former policeman, they family never reported 
anything to the police regarding the gang extorting the family business. The gang members had 

3 
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threatened Cecilia, telling her that if she ever reported anything to the police that they would kill 
• famil " ·1 b 1· d th b h I f the entire I y. The 1am1 y e 1eve em, ecause t ey were we! aware o the rampant 

corruption of the police in El Salvador and they believed that if they reported it to the police, the 
police would do nothing. 

At present, even though the family has now shut down the pupusa business, Barrio 18 
continues to harass and threaten the Respondent's two sisters and parents in Guatemala. 
Additionally, they have targeted a brother-in-law who now lives with the family. 

B. The Respondent's Wife 
The Respondent's wife also testified, but her testimony related to two other particular 

social groups not reached in this decision. 3 

III. Eligibility for Asylum. Withholding and CAT Relief 
A. Asylum 
An applicant for asylum bears the burden of establishing that he meets the definition of a 

refugee under INA § 101 (a)( 42)(A), which defines a refugee in part as an alien who is unable or 
unwilling to return to her home country because of persecution, or a well-founded fear of . . persecution, on account of race, relig10n, nationality, membership in a particular social group, or 
political opinion. Matter ofS-P-, 21 I&N Dec. 486,489 (BIA 1996); 8 C.F.R. § 1208.13(a); INA 
§ 208(b)(l)(B). The alien,s fear of persecution must be country-wide. Matter of Acosta, 19 I&N 
Dec. 211, 235 (BIA 1985). Additionally, the alien must establish that he is unable or unwilling to 
avail himself of the protection of his country of nationality or last habitual residence. INA § 
10l(a)(42)(A); see also Matter of A-B-, 27 l&N Dec. 316, 325-26 (A.G. 2018). An applicant who 
establishes statutory eligibility for asylum still bears the burden of demonstrating that he merits a 
grant of asylum as a matter of discretion. INA§ 208(b)(l ); see also INS v. Cardoza-Fonseca, 480 
U.S. 421,423 (1987). 

i. Credibility and Corroboration 
An alien bears the evidentiary burden of proof and persuasion in connection with any 

33 The other two particular social groups are: 1) Salvadoran male deportees labeled as MS-13 gang members by U.S. law enforcement; and 2) Immediate family of Jennifer Vasquez (the Respondent's wife.) The Comt will not address the alternative claims for relief, as it is not necessary to do so at this time. 
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asylum application pursuant to section 208 of the Act. 8 C.F.R. § 1208. B(a); see also Matter of 
997) S-M-J-, 21 I&N Dec. 722, 723 (BIA 1 ; Matter of Acosta, 19 I&N Dec. 211,215 (BIA 1985); 

Matter of Mogharrabi, 19 I&N Dec. 439, 446 (BIA 1987). The Board of Immigration Appeals 
(BIA) has recognized the difficulties an asylum applicant may face in obtaining documentary or 
other corroborative evidence to support his claim of persecution· Matter of Dass, 20 l&N Dec. 
120, 124 (BIA 1989). As a result, uncorroborated testimony that is credible, persuasive, and 
specific may be sufficient to sustain the burden of proof to establish a claim for asylum. See INA 
§ 208(b)(l)(B)(ii); 8 C.F.R § 1208.13(a); Matter of Mogharrabi, at 445. However, where it is 
reasonable to expect corroborating evidence for certain alleged facts, such evidence must be 
provided as long as the applicant has the evidence or can reasonably obtain it. Matter of S-M-J-, 
21 I&N Dec. at 725. The absence of such corroboration may lead to a finding that an applicant 
has failed to meet his burden of proof. Id at 725-26' The immigration judge must provide the 
applicant an opportunity to explain the lack of corroborating evidence and ensure that the 
applicant's explanation is included in the record. See id.; Lin-Jian v. Gonzales, 489 F.3d 182, 192 
(4th Cir. 2007). The Board has made clear that an asylum applicant cannot meet his burden of 
proof by "general and vague" testimony, and "the weaker an alien's testimony, the greater the need 
for corroborative evidence." Matter ofY-B-, 21 I&N Dec. 1136, I 139 (BIA 1998). 

In the instant matter, the Respondent provided credible responses to the questions asked. 
His testimony was internally consistent, externally consistent with his asylum application and other 
documents, and appeared free of embellishment. Further, he provided substantial documentation 
buttressing his claims. Included in this evidence were several affidavits from family members that 
described the family's pupusa business, and the threats by Barrio 18 to the various family 
members-in particular the Respondent--over the years. The court finds the Respondent credible. 
This finding is applicable to his other two claims as well (withholding under the Act and CAT 
protection). 

ii. One-Year Filing Deadline 
Under INA § 208(a)(2)(B), an applicant for asylum must demonstrate by clear and 

convincing evidence that the application has been filed within one year after the date of the alien's 
arrival in the United States. Following the Mendez Rojas v. Johnson case (305 F. Supp. 3d 1176 
(W.D. Wash., Mar. 29, 2018)), in a joint stay agreement, the Government agreed to treat pending 
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asylum applications by four classes of applicants as though filed within one year of arrival.4 See 
305 F. Supp. 3d at 1179. Members of Class A.II are individuals in removal proceedings who have 
been released from DHS custody after having been found to possess a credible fear of persecution, 
did not receive notice from the DHS of the one-year deadline, and filed an untimely asylum 
application. See id. Members of Class B.II are individuals in removal proceedings who express a 
fear of return to their country of origin, were released from DHS custody without a credible fear 
determination, did not receive notice from the DHS of the one-year deadline, and filed an untimely 
asylum application. See id. 

Here, the Respondent's asylum application is time-barred without exception. INA § 
208(a)(2)(B); 8 C.F.R. § 1208.4(a)(2)' The Respondent testified that he entered the U.S. in 2012. 
However, he did not file his application for asylum until after he was detained in August 2019, 
seven years after his entry into the U.S. aod well-beyond the one-year filing deadline. See Exh. 3. 
He has shown no changed or extraordinary circumstances that would entitle him to relief from the 
one-year bar. See 8 C.F.R. § 1208.4(a)(4) and (5). Based on the foregoing, the Respondent's 
application for asylum is time-barred and must be denied. We tum next to withholding of removal 
under the Act. 

B. Withholding of Removal Pursuant to INA§ 241(b)(3) 
Withholding of removal, in contrast to asylum, confers only the right not to be deported to 

a particular country rather than the right to remain in the U.S. INS v. Aguirre-Aguirre, 526 U.S. 
415 (1999). To establish eligibility for withholding of removal, a respondent must show that there 
is a clear probability of persecution in the country designated for removal on account of race, 
religiou, nationality, membership in a particular social group, or political opinion. INS v. Stevie, 
467 U.S. 407 (1984). Such a showing requires that the respondent establish that it is more likely 
than not (i.e., a clear probability) that the alien would be subject to persecution if returned to the 
country from which the alien seeks withholding of removal. INS v. Cardoza-Fonseca, 480 U.S. 
42 I, 423 (I 987). The standard for withholding of removal is thus more stringent than the standard 
for asylum. Stevie, 467 U.S. at 429-430. Under the withholding ofremoval regulations at 8 C-F.R. 
§ l 208. l 6(b )(I), however, if an applicant has suffered past persecution, then there is a presumption 
that the applicant's life or freedom would be threatened in the future in the countty of removal. 

4 Classes A.I and B.I apply only to individuals who are not in removal proceedings. See Mendez Rojas, 305 F. Supp. 3d at 1179. 
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i. Past Persecution 
Persecution has been interpreted to include serious threats to an individual's life or 

freedom, or the infliction of significant harm on the applicant. See Matter of Acosta, 19 l&N Dec. 
211 (BIA 1985); Liv. Gonzales, 405 F.3d 171 (4th Cir. 2005). Persecution is generally assessed 
cumulatively, and relevant incidents are not to be evaluated in isolation. See Baharon v. Holder, 
588 F.3d 228 (4th Cir. 2009). A death threat qualifies as persecution. See Crespin-Valladares v. 
Holder, 632 F.3d 117 (4th Cir. 201 I). Extortion may constitute persecution, even if physical harm 
will be inflicted only upon failure to pay. Oliva v. Lynch, 807 F.3d 53 (4th Cir. 2015). 

The Respondent suffered past persecution as he was threatened with death on more than 
one occasion. Therefore, DHS bears the burden of establishing "a fundamental change in 
circumstances such that the applicant's life or freedom would not be threatened on account of any 
of the five grounds" or that "[t]he applicant could avoid a future threat to his or her life or freedom 
by relocating to another part of the proposed country of removal and, under all the circumstances, 
it would be reasonable to expect the applicant to do so." See 8 C.F.R. § 1208.16(b)(l). 

The "one central reason" standard that applies to asylum applications pursuant to section 
208(b)(l)(B)(i) of the Immigration and Nationality Act, 8 U.S.C. § 1158(b)(l)(B)(i) (2006), also 
applies to applications for withholding ofremoval under section 24I(b)(3)(A) of the Act, 8 U.S.C. 
§ 123l(b)(3)(A) (2006). Matter of C-T-L-, 25 I&N Dec. 341 (BIA 2010). An applicant must 
demonstrate that a statutorily protected ground would be "at least one central reason" for the feared 
persecution. See INA § 208(b )(1 )(B)(i); Matter of J-B-N- & S-M-, 24 I&N Dec. 208 (BIA 2007) 
(holding that in a mixed motive asylum case, an applicant must prove that race, religion, 
nationality, membership in a particular social group, or political opinion was or will be at least one 
central reason for the claimed persecution). An alien need not show that a statutorily protected 
ground would be the central reason or even a dominant central reason, but rather must show that 
such a ground was more than an "incidental, tangential, superficial or subordinate" reason for the 
past persecution or feared future persecution. Matter of J-B-N- & S-M-, 24 I&N Dec. at 214; see 
also Crespin-Valladares v. Holder, 632 F.3d 117 (4th Cir.2011); Quinteros-Mendoza v. Holder, 
556 F.3d 159, 164 (4th Cir. 2009). Persecution may be on account of multiple central reasons or 
intertwined reasons, and the full factual context must be taken into account when analyzing nexus. 
Oliva v. Lynch, 807 FJd 53 (4th Cir. 2015). 
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ii. Well-Founded Fear of Future Persecution and Internal Relocation 
Based on the above, the Respondent has demonstrated the he was subject to past 

persecution on account of a statutorily protected ground. He is entitled to the presumption under 
the regulations that he would have a clear probability of future persecution on account of a 
protected ground. Given his testimony and other evidence concerning official corruption and other 
abuses, he has demonstrated that authorities were and would be unable or unwilling to protect him 
from past or feared future persecution. Given country conditions and the Respondent's inability to 
avoid the threat through internal relocation, the Respondent could not necessarily avoid the threat 
through internal relocation, nor would it be reasonable to expect him to do so. DHS has failed to 
carry their burden to show that there are changed circumstances in Guatemala that would result in 
the Respondent's life not being threatened, or that internal relocation is possible and reasonable. 
Toe facts here show that the Barrio 18 gang continues to threaten and harass the Abrego family 
over these several years, and does so even though the family has moved three times. 5 

iii. Nexus to a Protected Ground 
To be cognizable under the statute, members of a "particular social group" must share a 

"common immutable characteristic," which may be an innate characteristic or a shared past 
experience. Matter of A-B-, 27 I&N Dec. 316 (A.G. 2018). In either case, it must be a characteristic 
that members of the group either cannot change or should not be required to change. To constitute 
a "particular social group" under the statute, the group must be (I) composed of members who 
share a common immutable characteristic, (2) defined with particularity, and (3) socially distinct 
within the society in question. See Matter ojA-B-, 27 I&N Dec. 316 (married women in Guatemala 
who are unable to leave their relationships do not constitute a particular social group); Matter of 
W-G-R-, 26 I&N Dec. 208 (BIA 2014) (former members of Mara 18 gang in El Salvador who 
renounced gang membership do not constitute a particular social group); Matter of M-E-V-G-, 26 
I&N Dec. 227 (BIA 2014); Matter ofC-A-, 23 I&N Dec. 951 (BIA 2006) (former noncriminal 
drug infonnants do not present a cognizable social group); Matter of Acosta, 19 I&N Dec.211 
(BIA 1985)• 

Under well-established Fourth Circuit precedent, family ties may provide the basis for a 

5 The court understands that the family's moves have been only 15 minutes away each time. However, DHS has failed to show that internal relocation is not only possible, but reasonable to expect the Respondent to so relocate. 
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cognizable particular soc1al group under the INA. See, e.g., Crespin-Valladares v. Holder, 632 
F.3d 117, 124-126 (4th Cir. 2011) ("we can conceive of few groups more readily identifiable than 
the family"); Hernandez-Avalos v. Lynch, 784 F.3d 944, 949 (4th Cir. 2015) ("membersh;p in a 
nuclear family qualifies as a protected ground for asylum purposes"); Cruz v. Sessions, 853 F.3d 
122, 127 (4th Cir. 2017) ("by virtue of her domestic partnership with Martinez, Cantillano Cruz 
was a member of a cognizable particular social group, namely, 'the nuclear family of Johnny 
Martinez"'): Salgado-Sosa v. Sessions, 882 F.3d 451,457 (4u' Cir. 2018) ("Salgado-Sosa's family 
qualifies as a 'particular social group,' protected for purposes of his asylum and withholding of 
removal claims"). Neither those who resist recruitment efforts by gangs nor their family members 
generally constitute a particular social group under the INA, nor do such bases amount to political 
opinion. See Matter ofS-E-G-, 24 I&N Dec. 579 (BIA 2008); see also INS v. Elias-Zacarias, 502 
U.S. 478 (1992) (forced recrmtment or attempts to forcibly recruit into a guerrilla organization 
does not necessarily constitute persecut1011 on accow1t of political opinion). Membership or . . perceived membership in a criminal gang also does not constitute memberslup in a particular social 
group under the INA. See Matter of E-A-G-, 24 I&N Dec. 591 (BIA 2008); see also Lizama v. 
Holder, 629 F.3d 440 (4th Cir. 2011) (claimed particular social group of"young, Americanized, 
well-off Salvadoran male deportees with criminal histories who oppose gangs" not cognizable 
under the INA). At the same time, the BIA has noted that social group determinations are made on 
a case by case basis. Matter of M-E-V-G-, 26 I&N Dec. 227. 

Ascertaining whether membership in a family-based social group is at least one central 
reason for any past or feared future persecut10n may present challenges, and the Fourth Circuit has 
encouraged an expansive view of nexus in these cases. See Hernandez-Avalos v. Lynch, 784 F.3d 
944 (4 th Cir. 2015) (mother who refused to allow her son to join a gang was persecuted on account 
of her membership in the particular social group of his family); Cruz v. Sessions, 853 F.3d 122 (4th 

Cir. 2017) (nexus to family relationship established because wife of murdered man was more likely 
than others to search for her husband, confront the suspect, and express an intent to go to the 
police); Salgado-Sosa v. Sessions, 882 F.3d 451 (4th Cir. 2018) (nexus found where man fought 
back when he was in his family's home dming attack targeted at stepfather because membership 
in the family was why the man and not some other person became involved); but see Velasquez v. 
Sessions, 866 F.3d 188 (4th Cir. 2017) (personal dispute among family members may not equate 
to persecution on account of family group membership); Matter of A-B-, 27 I&N Dec. at 338-339; 
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Cortez-Mendez v. Whitaker, 912 F.3d 205 (4th Cir. 2019) (circwnstantial evidence presented did 
not establish as a factual matter that the respondent's relationship to his father was at least one 
central reason for his mistreatment by gang members who sought to forcibly recruit !um). 

The evidence in this case indicates qmte clearly that at least one central reason the 
Respondent was subject to past persecution was due to him being his mothers' son, essentially as 
a member of his nuclear family. That the Respondent is his mothers' son is the reason why he, and 
not another person, was threatened with death. He was threatened with death because he was 
Ceciha's son and the Barrio 18 gang targeted the Respondent to get at the mother and her earnings 
from the pupusa busmess. Pursuant to unambiguous and repeated guidance from the Fourth 
Circuit, the nexus requirement is satisfied in this case. See generally Hernandez-Avalos v. Lynch, 
784 F.3d at 944; Cruz v. Sessions, 853 F.3d at 122; Salgado-Sosa v. Sessions, 882 F.3d at 451. 

The Court finds that the Respondent's proposed social group, "Immediate Family Members 
of the Abrego Family," essentially his nuclear family, is cognizable. Membership in this family 
group is immutable. It is also sufficiently particular, as it is clearly delineated and easy to determine 
who is and 1s not in the group, and it is socially distinct. 

With respect to social distinction, the immediate family lived m the same home, and his 
mother ran a pupusa business. Neighbors and others in the community recognized the family as a 
distinct group that was related, and ran a family business. Everyone knew that Cecilia Abrego was 
where you purchased your pupusas and that if you could not make it to the family's home, then 
the Respondent would deliver the pupusas to your house four days a week. As with many other 
precedential cases involving immediate family members, the proposed social group in this case 
too satisfies all of the legal requirements for recognition as a cognizable social group. Cf Crespin-
Valladares v. Holder, 632 F.3d at 124-126; Hernandez-Avalos v. Lynch, 784 F.3d at 949; Cruz v. 
Sessions, 853 FJd at 127; and Salgado-Sosa v. Sessions, 882 F.3d at 457. 

This finding~that the Abrego family was socially distinct---does not run afoul of the 
Attorney General's (AG) recent case, Matter of L-E-A-, 27 I&N Dec. 581 (A.G. 2019). In that 
case, the AG did not bar all family-based social groups from qualifying from relief. Id. at 595. 
Rather, the AG required that"[ a]n applicant must establish that his specific family group is defined 
with sufficient paiiicularity and is socially distinct in his society." Id at 586. This case is a close 
call. But, the Court finds that the Respondent has established that Cecilia's family pupusa business 
was well-known in the community and therefore the family was socially distinct in society. 

10 
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C. Relief from Removal Under CAT 
The applicant for withholding of removal under the CAT bears the burden of proving that 

it is "more likely than not" that he or she would be tortured if removed to the proposed country of 
removal. 8 C.F.R. § 1208.16(c)(2). An applicant who establishes that he or she is entitled to CAT 
protection shall be granted withholding of removal unless he is subject to mandatory denial of that 
relief, in which case he shall be granted deferral ofremoval. 8 C.F.R. §§ 1208.l6(c)(4), 1208.l ?(a). 
An applicant is subject to mandatory denial of withholding of removal under the CAT if that 
individual has participated in the persecution of others, has been convicted of a particularly serious 
crime, has committed a serious nonpolitical crime outside of the U.S., or is a danger to U.S. 
national security. Under applicable provisions of law at 8 C.F.R. § 1208.l6(d) and INA § 
241(b)(3)(B), an alien who has been convicted of an aggravated felony for which the alien was 
sentenced to an aggregate term of imprisonment of at least five years is considered to have been 
convicted of a particularly serious crime. That does not preclude other crimes from being 
considered particularly serious crimes. 

"Torture" 18 defined in the treaty and at 8 C.F.R. § 1208.I S(ai ). It is defined in part as 
the intentional infliction of severe physical or mental pain or suffering by, or at the instigation of, 
or with the consent or acquiescence of a public official. Acquiescence of a public official requires 
that the official have awareness of or remain willfully blind to the activity constituting torture prior 
to its commission, and thereafter breach his or her legal responsibility to intervene to prevent such 
activity. See 8 C.F.R. § 1208.18(a)(7). 

To qualify for protection under the CAT, "specific grounds must exist that indicate the 
individual would be personally at risk." Matter ofS-V-, 22 I&N Dec. 1306, 1313 (BIA 2000). The 
mere existence of a pattern of human rights violations in a particular country does not constitute a 
sufficient ground for fmding that a particular person would be more likely than not to be tortured. 
Id. 

In assessing the likelihood of future torture, the Court must consider all evidence relevant 
to the possibility of future torture, including: evidence of past torture inflicted upon the applicant; 
evidence that the applicant could relocate to a part of the country of removal where he is not likely 
to be tortured; evidence of gross, flagrant or mass violations of human rights within the country of 
removal; or other relevant information of conditions in the country of removal. 8 C.F.R. § 
1208.16(c)(3). In order for an alien to meet the burden ofprooffor relief under the CAT, he or she 

11 
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must demonstrate that each step in the necessary chain of events is more likely than not to happen. 
Matter of J-F-F-, 23 l&N Dec. 912 (A.G. 2006). Under Fourth Circuit precedent, the ris\ of 
torture from all sources must be aggregated when determining whether an individual is more likely 
than not to be tortured iu a particular country. Rodriguez-Arias v. Whitaker, 915 F.3d 968 (4th Cir. 
2019). 

Instances of police brutality do not necessarily rise to the level of torture, nor does the 
indefinite detention of criminal deportees in substandard conditions. Matter of J-E-, 23 I&N Dec. 
291, 301-02 (BIA 2002) (indefinite detention of crimiual deportees in substandard conditions in 
Haiti does not constitute torture where there is no evidence that government officials intentionally 
and deliberately detain deportees under such conditions in order to inflict torture). Abusive or 
squalid conditions in pretrial detention facilities, p1isons, or mental health institutions will not 
constitute torture when those conditions occur due to neglect, a lack of resources, or insufficient 
training and education, rather than a specific intent to cause severe pain and suffering. Matter of 
J-R-G-P-, 27 I&N Dec. 482 (BIA 2018). 

Torture must come at the hands of the government. Matter of S-V-, 22 l&N Dec. at 1311-
12. This can include acquiescence of officials proVIded it meets the conditions set out in the 
regulations at 8 C.F .R. § 1208.18( a)(7) ("Acquiescence of a public official reqmres that the public 
official, prior to the actiVIty constituting torture, have awareness of such activity and thereafter 
breach his or her legal responsibility to intervene to prevent such activity"). Awareness can include 
actual knowledge and willful blindness. See Senate Exec. Rep. 101-30 at 9 (1990); see also Matter 
of S-V-, 22 l&N Dec. at 1312. In Matter of S-V-, the BIA elaborated that a respondent needs to 
show more than that government officials are aware of the activity and powerless to stop it and 
needs to show tbat government officials are willfully accepting of the activ;ty. Matter of S-V-, 22 
I&N Dec. at 1311-1312. Following Matter ofS-V-, the Attorney General, in Matter ofY-L-, A-G-
' & R-S-R-, 23 I&N Dec. 270 (A.G. 2002), elaborated on the definition of acquiescence and 
indicated that the relevant inquiry is "whether governmental authorities would approve or 
·wll!fully accept' atrocities committed." Id. at 283.6 

The Fourth Circuit has clarified that "willful blindness can satisfy the acquiescence 

:; 6 That decision noted in part that it would not suffice for a respondent to show that isolated, rogue government agents were involved in atrocities despite a government's best efforts to root out misconduct. 
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component of 8 C.F.R. § 1208.18(a)(I)." See Suarez-Valenzuela v. Holder, 714 F.3d 241, 246 (4th 

Cir. 2013). Pursuant to the willful blindness standard, government officials acquiesce to torture 
when they have actual knowledge of or turn a blind eye to torture. Id. at 245-246. 

Decisions regarding an alien's likely future mistreatment are factual determinations subject 
to review only for clear error; the deterrmnation as to whether any such mistreatment constitutes 
torture as a legal matter is subject to de novo review. Turkson v. Holder, 667 F.3d 523 (4th Cir. 
2012); see also Kaplun v. Attorney General, 602 F.3d 260 (3d Cir. 2010). Whether the government 
would acquiesce in any future torture is likewise a mixed question of law and fact. Cruz-
Quintanilla v. Whitaker, 914 F.3d 884 (4th Cir. 2019). 

Here, the Respondent has not shown that it is "more likely than not" that he would be 
tortured ifhe were to be removed to El Salvador. 

IV. Conclusion 
The Respondent's application for asylum is time-barred without exception. However' he 

has established past persecution based on a protected ground, and the presumption of a well-
founded fear of future persecution. DHS has not shown there are changed circumstances in 
Guatemala that would result in the Respondent's life not being threatened, or that internal 
relocation is possible and reasonable under the circumstances. Therefore, the Respondent's 
application for withholding under the Act is granted. Finally, his CAT chum fails because he has 
not shown that he would suffer torture. 

13 

18a



Case 8:25-cv-00951-PX     Document 1-1     Filed 03/24/25     Page 14 of 14

rl 

0 

S' 
rl 

H 
0 

ORDER 
It is hereby ordered that: 

I. the Respondent's application for asylum pursuant to INA§ 208 is DENIED; 
IL the Respondent's application for withholding of removal pursuant to INA § 

24l(b)(3) is GRANTED; and 
III. the Respondent's application for withholding of removal under the Convention 

Against Torture is DENI ED; 

/c, /17) /21 
Date I 

Appeal Rights 

David M. Jones 
United States Immigra 
Baltimore, Maryland 

Each party has the right to appeal this Court's decision to the Board oflmmigration Appeals. Any appeal must be filed within 30 calendar days of the mailing of tjus decision. Under the regulations, a notice of appeal must be received by the Board by that deadline. The notice of appeal must also state the reasons for the appeal. See 8 C.F.R. § 1240.15. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

Greenbelt Division  
__________________________________________ 
       ) 
Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia,   ) 
Jennifer Stefania Vasquez Sura,   ) 
A.A.V., a minor, by and through his next friend ) 
 and mother, Jennifer Vasquez Sura,  ) 
       ) 

c/o Murray Osorio PLLC   ) 
8630 Fenton Street, Suite 918,   ) 
Silver Spring, MD 20910   )  

       ) 
Plaintiffs,     ) 

       ) Civil Action No.    
v.       ) 

) 
Kristi Noem, Secretary of Homeland Security, ) 
 ) 
 Secretary of Homeland Security  ) 
 Washington, DC 20508   ) 
       ) 
Todd Lyons, Acting Director, U.S. Immigration ) 
 and Customs Enforcement,   ) 
Kenneth Genalo, Acting Executive Associate  ) 
 Director, ICE Enforcement and Removal ) 
 Operations,     ) 
Nikita Baker, ICE Baltimore Field Office Director, ) 
       ) 

500 12th St., SW    ) 
Washington, D.C. 20536   )   

)  
Pamela Bondi, Attorney General, ) 

)   
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW  ) 
Washington, DC 20530-0001   )  

       ) 
Marco Rubio, Secretary of State,   ) 
       ) 
 The Executive Office of the Legal Adviser ) 

and Bureau of Legislative Affairs  ) 
Suite 5.600     ) 
600 19th Street NW    ) 
Washington DC 20522    ) 

)  
Defendants.      )  

_________________________________________  )  
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 COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

 In 2019, Plaintiff Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia won an order from an immigration judge 

granting him a form of relief called withholding of removal, which prohibits Defendants from 

removing him to El Salvador. Should Defendants wish to remove Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to El 

Salvador, the law sets forth specific procedures by which they can reopen the case and seek to set 

aside the grant of withholding of removal. Should Defendants wish to remove Plaintiff Abrego 

Garcia to any other country, they would have no legal impediment in doing so. But Defendants 

found those legal procedures bothersome, so they merely ignored them and deported Plaintiff 

Abrego Garcia to El Salvador anyway, ripping him away from his U.S.-citizen wife, Plaintiff 

Vasquez Sura, and his disabled U.S.-citizen child, Plaintiff A.A.V. Defendants sent Plaintiff 

Vasquez Sura to El Salvador knowing that he would be immediately incarcerated and tortured in 

that country’s most notorious prison; indeed, Defendants have paid the government of El Salvador 

millions of dollars to do exactly that. Such conduct shocks the conscience and cries out for 

immediate judicial relief. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This Court has jurisdiction to hear this case under 28 U.S.C. § 2201, the Declaratory 

Judgment Act, and 28 U.S.C. § 1331, Federal Question Jurisdiction; and because the individual 

Defendants are United States officials. 28 U.S.C. § 1346(a)(2).  

2. The Court has authority to enter a declaratory judgment and to provide temporary, 

preliminary and permanent injunctive relief pursuant to Rules 57 and 65 of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202, the All Writs Act, and the Court’s inherent equitable 

powers. 

3. Venue lies in this District because Plaintiffs reside in Beltsville, Maryland and each 

Defendant is an agency or officer of the United States sued in his or her official capacity.  28 
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U.S.C. § 1391(e)(1). In addition, Defendant Baker’s principal place of business is in Baltimore, 

Maryland, and the legal violations described herein took place at the direction and under the 

supervision of her predecessor in office.  

THE PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia is a citizen and native of El Salvador who 

resides in Beltsville, Maryland. Defendants have deported him to El Salvador without any legal 

process whatsoever, and in violation of an immigration judge order and a federal statute prohibiting 

them from doing so. 

5. Plaintiff Jennifer Vasquez Sura is a U.S. citizen, and the wife of Plaintiff Abrego 

Garcia. 

6. Plaintiff A.A.V., a U.S. citizen, is a minor child.  He is the child of Plaintiff Abrego 

Garcia and Plaintiff Vasquez Sura. 

7. Defendant Kristi Noem is the Secretary of the Department of Homeland Security 

(“DHS”). She is the cabinet-level secretary responsible for all immigration enforcement in the 

United States. 

8. Defendant Todd Lyons is the Acting Director of U.S. Immigration and Customs 

Enforcement (“ICE”). He is the head of the federal agency responsible for all immigration 

enforcement in the United States. 

9. Defendant Kenneth Genalo is the Acting Executive Associate Director of ICE 

Enforcement and Removal Operations. He is the head of the ICE office that carries out arrests of 

noncitizens and removals from the United States. 

Case 8:25-cv-00951-PX     Document 1     Filed 03/24/25     Page 3 of 21
22a



4 
 

10. Nikita Baker is the ICE Baltimore Field Office Director. She is the head of the ICE 

office that unlawfully arrested Plaintiff, and such arrest took place under the direction and 

supervision of her predecessor in office. 

11. Pamela Bondi is the Attorney General of the United States. The Immigration Judges 

who decide removal cases and application for relief from removal do so as her designees. 

12. Marco Rubio is the Secretary of State of the United States. He is the individual 

whom Plaintiffs request this Court order to request the return of Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to the 

United States from El Salvador. 

13. All government defendants are sued in their official capacities. 

LEGAL BACKGROUND 

14. Federal law prohibits the government from removing a noncitizen to a country 

where he is more likely than not to face persecution on account of a statutorily protected ground. 

8 U.S.C. § 1231(b)(3)(A). This protection is usually referred to as “withholding of removal.” 

15. For an immigration judge (serving as the designee of Defendant Bondi) to grant 

withholding of removal to a noncitizen, the noncitizen must prove that he is more likely than not 

to suffer persecution. “The burden of proof is on the applicant for withholding of removal [] to 

establish that his or her life or freedom would be threatened in the proposed country of removal 

on account of race, religion, nationality, membership in a particular social group, or political 

opinion.” 8 C.F.R. § 1208.16(b). 

16. If a noncitizen is granted withholding of removal, “DHS may not remove the alien 

to the country designated in the removal order unless the order of withholding is terminated.” 

Johnson v. Guzman Chavez, 594 U.S. 523, 531 (2021). No exceptions lie. However, withholding 
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of removal is a country-specific form of relief, and an individual granted withholding of removal 

can still be deported to any other country. 

17. Federal regulations provide a procedure by which a grant of withholding of removal 

issued by an immigration judge may be terminated: DHS must move to reopen the removal 

proceedings before the immigration judge, and then DHS will bear the burden of proof, by a 

preponderance of the evidence, that grounds for termination exist. 8 C.F.R. § 1208.24(e). After a 

grant of withholding of removal is terminated, there would be no impediment to removal. 

FACTS 
 

18. Plaintiff Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia is a citizen of El Salvador and no other 

country.  

19. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia is not a member of or has no affiliation with Tren de 

Aragua, MS-13, or any other criminal or street gang. Although he has been accused of general 

“gang affiliation,” the U.S. government has never produced an iota of evidence to support this 

unfounded accusation.   

20. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia has no criminal history. He has never been charged or 

convicted of any criminal charges, in the United States, El Salvador, or any other country.  

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia’s 2019 removal proceedings 

21. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia left El Salvador when he was around sixteen years old, 

fleeing gang violence. Beginning around 2006, gang members had stalked, hit, and threatened to 

kidnap and kill him in order to coerce his parents to succumb to their increasing demands for 

extortion. 
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22. Sometime around 2011, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia entered the United States without 

inspection. He then made his way to the state of Maryland, where his older brother, a U.S. citizen, 

resided. In the United States, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia has only ever resided in Maryland. 

23. Around 2016, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia met Plaintiff Jennifer Vasquez Sura, a U.S. 

citizen with two U.S.-citizen children from a prior relationship. Over time, they became close and 

eventually became romantically involved. 

24. Around December 2018, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia moved in with Plaintiff Vasquez 

Sura and her two children, after Plaintiff Vasquez Sura learned she was pregnant with their child. 

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia supported himself, Plaintiff Vasquez Sura, and her two children through 

work in the construction industry. 

25. On March 28, 2019, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia went to a Home Depot in Hyattsville, 

Maryland to solicit employment. When he arrived, he joined three other young men who were also 

at Home Depot soliciting employment, two of whom he recognized from prior occasions at the 

Home Depot, though he had never interacted with them in any other context. The young men 

proceeded to chat to pass the time. 

26. At 2:27 PM, while the four of them were chatting, a detective from the Hyattsville 

City Police approached the group. The detective did not speak to Plaintiff Abrego Garcia, but only 

one of the other men. Soon thereafter, officers from Prince George County Police Department 

(“PGPD”) arrived on the scene and proceeded to handcuff all four young men, including Plaintiff 

Abrego Garcia. At no point did police explain why they were arresting Plaintiff Abrego Garcia, 

nor was Plaintiff Abrego Garcia ever charged with any crime. This was Plaintiff Abrego Garcia’s 

first and only time in state custody. 
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27. At the police station, the four young men were placed into different rooms and 

questioned. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia was asked if he was a gang member; when he told police he 

was not, they said that they did not believe him and repeatedly demanded that he provide 

information about other gang members. The police told Plaintiff Abrego Garcia that he would be 

released if he cooperated, but he repeatedly explained that he did not have any information to give 

because he did not know anything.  

28. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia was then transferred to another room and told that ICE 

officers would be coming to take him into federal immigration custody. Eventually, ICE officers 

arrived and took Plaintiff Abrego Garcia into detention.  

29. The following day, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia was served with a Notice to Appear, 8 

U.S.C. § 1229, commencing removal proceedings against him pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1229a. He 

was charged as removable pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1182(a)(6)(A)(i) (“An alien present in the United 

States without being admitted or paroled, or who arrives in the United States at any time or place 

other than as designated by the Attorney General, is inadmissible”), and no other charges. 

30. On April 24, 2019, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia appeared for his first hearing in 

immigration court. Through counsel, he moved for release on bond pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1226(a), 

submitting over seventy pages of evidence in support thereof. ICE opposed a change in custody 

status, arguing that Plaintiff Abrego Garcia presented a danger to the community because local 

police had supposedly “verified” that he is an active gang member. 

31. In support thereof, ICE offered a Gang Field Interview Sheet (“GFIS”) generated 

by PGPD. The GFIS explained that the only reason to believe Plaintiff Abrego Garcia was a gang 

member was that he was wearing a Chicago Bulls hat and a hoodie; and that a confidential 

informant advised that he was an active member of MS-13 with the Westerns clique. The GFIS 

Case 8:25-cv-00951-PX     Document 1     Filed 03/24/25     Page 7 of 21
26a



8 
 

had been entered into PGPD’s database at 6:47 PM, approximately four hours after police met 

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia for the first time. 

32. According to the Department of Justice and the Suffolk County District Attorney’s 

Office, the “Westerns” clique operates in Brentwood, Long Island, in New York, a state that 

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia has never lived in. 

33. The attorney for Plaintiff Abrego Garcia subsequently made multiple attempts to 

obtain additional information from law enforcement concerning these allegations. PGPD indicated 

that it did not have any incident report related to the Home Deport episode at all, nor did the 

Department have any incident reports containing his name. The Hyattsville City Police Department 

(“HCPD”), on the other hand, confirmed it had an incident report for the Home Depot incident, 

but that only 3 people were named and Plaintiff Abrego Garcia was not one of them, nor did it 

have any other incident reports with his name in its database. His attorney also contacted the PGPD 

Inspector General requesting to speak to the detective who authored the GFIS sheet, but was 

informed that the detective had been suspended. A request to speak to other officers in the Gang 

Unit was declined. 

34. On June 25, 2019, Plaintiff Vasquez Sura and Plaintiff Abrego Garcia were married 

in the Howard Detention Center. Plaintiff Vasquez Sura was in her third trimester of pregnancy at 

the time. Due to a pre-existing condition, uterus didelphys, her pregnancy was categorized as high-

risk. See Ex. B (Declaration of Plaintiff Vasquez Sura). 

35. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia then filed an I-589 application for asylum, withholding of 

removal, and protection under the Convention Against Torture with the Baltimore Immigration 

Court and was scheduled for an individual hearing. His individual hearing spanned over two days: 

August 9, 2019, and September 27, 2019. 
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36. In advance of his hearing, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia, through counsel, filed a motion 

for a subpoena to require the appearance of two PGPD detectives, and any evidence substantiating 

his alleged gang membership. 

37. In addition, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia, through counsel, submitted a legal brief and a 

voluminous evidentiary filing establishing his eligibility for protection and contesting the 

unfounded allegation of gang membership levied against him.  

38. On August 9, 2019, the attorney for ICE indicated on the record that ICE had 

conferred with its law enforcement partners and that all the evidence and intelligence they had was 

what was contained in the GFIS. As a result, a subpoena was deemed unnecessary.  

39. On August 11, 2019, Plaintiff Vasquez Sura gave birth to the couple’s son, Plaintiff 

A.A.V. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia was unable to witness the birth of his son as he remained detained, 

awaiting to continue the second part of his hearing.  

40. A.A.V. was born with Microtia, congenital malformation of the external ear, 

resulting in an underdeveloped ear. Testing later confirmed that A.A.V. was deaf in his right ear. 

See Ex. B (Declaration of Plaintiff Vasquez Sura). 

41. On October 10, 2019, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia was granted withholding of removal 

pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1232(b)(3)(A), after the immigration judge agreed that he had established 

it was more likely than not that he would be persecuted by gangs in El Salvador because of a 

protected ground. See Ex. A (Immigration Judge order). ICE did not appeal the grant of relief, see 

Ex. E (immigration court “Automated Case Information” page); and Plaintiff Abrego Garcia was 

then promptly released from custody.  

42. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia went home to his wife and children. They all have 

continuously resided in Prince George’s County, Maryland.  

Case 8:25-cv-00951-PX     Document 1     Filed 03/24/25     Page 9 of 21
28a



10 
 

43. In addition to hearing problems, A.A.V., who is now five years old, is intellectually 

disabled and has a speech disorder. To this day, he is unable to verbally communicate and in 

October 2024 he was diagnosed with autism.   

44. Both Plaintiff Vasquez Sura and Plaintiff Abrego Garcia work to support their 

family of five. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia is a union member and is employed full-time as a first-year 

Sheetmetal Apprentice. In addition, he has been pursuing his own license at the University of 

Maryland.  

45. As a condition of his withholding of removal status, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia is 

required to check in with ICE once a year, and has been fully compliant. He appeared for his most 

recent check-in on January 2, 2025, without incident. See Ex. C (ICE check-in record). 

46. Aside from these check-ins, after being granted withholding protection and being 

released from custody, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia has had no contact with any law enforcement 

agency.  

47. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia has never been arrested or charged with any crime in the 

U.S. or in El Salvador. There is no known link or association between him and the MS-13 gang. 

Prince George’s County law enforcement never again questioned him regarding MS-13 or accused 

him of membership in MS-13. 

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia’s 2025 arrest and removal 

48. In the early afternoon of Wednesday, March 12, 2025, after completing a shift as a 

sheet metal worker apprentice at a new job site in Baltimore, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia picked up 

his five-year old son, A.A.V., from his grandmother’s house.  
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49. While driving with his son A.A.V. in the backseat, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia was 

pulled over by ICE officers acting at the direction and under the supervision of Defendant Baker’s 

predecessor in office. 

50. One ICE officer, who identified himself as part of Homeland Security 

Investigations, told Plaintiff Abrego Garcia that his “status has changed.” Within minutes, Plaintiff 

Abrego Garcia was handcuffed and detained in one of several ICE vehicles on the scene. Plaintiff 

Vasquez Sura was called and instructed to appear at their location within ten minutes to get her 

five-year old son, A.A.V.; otherwise, the ICE officers threatened that the child would be handed 

over to Child Protective Services. See Ex. B (Declaration of Plaintiff Vasquez Sura). 

51. After Plaintiff Vasquez Sura arrived at the scene, she was able to briefly talk with 

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia, who appeared confused, distraught, and crying. Moments later, Plaintiff 

Abrego Garcia was driven away. No explanation was provided to Jennifer as to why her husband 

was detained, where he was going, or what was happening. Id.  

52. Almost immediately after Plaintiff Vasquez Sura left with her son A.A.V., she 

began to try to locate Plaintiff Abrego Garcia through the online ICE Detainee Locator system and 

by calling various immigration detention centers and facilities. It appeared that between 

Wednesday, March 12, and Saturday, March 15, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia was moved to various 

different locations across the country. See Ex. B (Declaration of Plaintiff Vasquez Sura). 

53. The evening after his arrest, Plaintiff Vasquez Sura received a call from Plaintiff 

Abrego Garcia. At that time, it appeared that he was in Baltimore. During that conversation, 

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia informed Plaintiff Vasquez Sura that he was being questioned about gang 

affiliations. He repeatedly informed his interviewers that he was never a gang member and had no 

gang affiliations. He was shown several photos where he appeared in public, and asked about other 
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people in those photos, but was unable to provide any information on them, as he did not know 

them or anything about them. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia also told his wife that he had been told that 

he would go before an immigration judge and then be released. See Ex. B (Declaration of Plaintiff 

Vasquez Sura). 

54. Plaintiff Vasquez Sura received a call from Plaintiff Abrego Garcia on the evening 

of March 13. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia told his wife that he believed he was in Louisiana, but was 

not sure because he had been moved around so many times. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia indicated to 

his wife that he was very confused. However, he was still being assured that he would be brought 

before an immigration judge soon. See Ex. B (Declaration of Plaintiff Vasquez Sura). 

55. In an attempt to ascertain his actual location and find further information about his 

arrest and detention, Plaintiff Vasquez Sura called different detention centers, trying to speak to 

someone. She recalls one brief conversation where she was told that “El Salvador was asking for 

him.” Her attempts to protest by saying that he had won protection from being removed to El 

Salvador fell on deaf ears. See Ex. B (Declaration of Plaintiff Vasquez Sura). 

56. Around 11:00 AM on Saturday, March 15, 2025, Plaintiff Vasquez Sura received 

her last call from Plaintiff Abrego Garcia. During that conversation, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia 

informed her that he was being held by ICE at the East Hidalgo Detention Center in La Villa, 

Texas. See Ex. B (Declaration of Plaintiff Vasquez Sura). 

57. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia then relayed that he was told that he was being deported to 

El Salvador. With a sense of urgency, he asked his wife to contact his mother so their family could 

get him from “CECOT,” as that is where he was told they were sending him.1 

 
1 CECOT is the Terrorism Confinement Center in El Salvador, one of the largest prisons in the 
world. 
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58. Since that conversation, Plaintiff Vasquez Sura has not had any further contact with 

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia. See Ex. B (Declaration of Plaintiff Vasquez Sura). 

59. The following day, on Sunday, March 16, Ms. Vasquez Sura was sent a photo from 

a news article discussing the deportation of alleged Venezuelan gang members that were deported 

without a hearing. The photo showed men kneeling on the ground, with their shaved heads bowed 

and their arms over their head. Their faces were not visible. Upon inspection, Jennifer identified 

one of these men as Plaintiff Abrego Garcia based on her husband’s distinctive tattoos and two 

scars on his head. See Ex. D (CECOT photos).  

60. For the next few days, the ICE Detainee Locator continued to indicate that Plaintiff 

Abrego Garcia was located at the East Hidalgo Detention Center, even though staff at that 

detention center told Plaintiff Vasquez Sura that he had left on Saturday. See Ex. B (Declaration 

of Plaintiff Vasquez Sura). (Now, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia no longer appears in the ICE Detainee 

Locator.)  

61. Watching the news, Plaintiff Vasquez Sura was horrified to see more photos of 

CECOT prisoners that included her husband, and a video where Plaintiff Abrego Garcia was frog-

walked through the CECOT prison.  Plaintiff Abrego Garcia’s family subsequently hired a lawyer 

in El Salvador, who has confirmed that Plaintiff Abrego Garcia is, in fact, being held at CECOT. 

The lawyer has ascertained that to date, there are no known criminal charges levied against Plaintiff 

Abrego Garcia in El Salvador either.   

62. ICE and DHS took no steps to reopen the removal case of Plaintiff Abrego Garcia, 

nor to rescind his order of withholding of removal. See Ex. E (immigration court “Automated Case 

Information” page, showing no activity since October 10, 2019). 
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63. Upon information and belief, ICE and DHS leadership, including Defendants 

Noem, Lyons, Genalo, and the predecessor in office of Defendant Baker, decided to deport 

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia without following the law. Upon information and belief, they did so 

knowing and intending that the Government of El Salvador would detain Plaintiff Abrego Garcia 

in CECOT immediately upon arrival.  

Conditions in CECOT 

64. On March 15, 2025, Defendants deported 261 noncitizens, including 238 

Venezuelan nationals and 23 Salvadoran nationals, to El Salvador without going through any legal 

processes whatsoever in front of an immigration judge. Upon information and belief, Plaintiff 

Abrego Garcia was one of those 23 Salvadoran nationals. Salvadoran President Nayib Bukele 

confirmed they have been sent to the country’s mega-prison CECOT, the Terrorism Confinement 

Center. Upon information and belief, Defendants carried out this deportation through extrajudicial 

means because they believed that going through the immigration judge process took too long, and 

they feared that they might not win all of their cases before immigration judges. 

65. Upon information and belief, ICE and DHS has paid or continues to pay the 

Government of El Salvador six million dollars in order for the Government of El Salvador to detain 

these individuals, including Plaintiff Abrego Garcia.2  

66. Upon information and belief, all Defendants are aware that the government of El 

Salvador tortures individuals detained in CECOT. Indeed, U.S. President Donald Trump has made 

comments to the press expressing glee and delight at the torture that the Government of El Salvador 

inflicts upon detainees in CECOT. 

 
2 “US to pay El Salvador to jail 300 alleged gang members, AP reports” (Mar. 15, 2025), available 
at https://www.reuters.com/world/us/us-pay-el-salvador-jail-300-alleged-gang-members-ap-
reports-2025-03-15/. 
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67. CECOT conditions have garnered attention from human rights organizations. Each 

of the 256 cells is intended to hold approximately 80 inmates but often holds nearly double.3 The 

cramped cells are equipped with tiered metal bunks without mattresses, two basins for washing, 

and two open toilets. There are no windows, fans, or air conditioning, despite the region’s warm 

and humid climate.4 

68. Inmates in CECOT are confined to their cells for 23.5 hours daily and cannot go 

outdoors. They are denied access to reading materials, including even letters from friends or 

family. Inmates are prohibited from receiving visits from family and friends. Meals are provided 

through the bars, and the facility enforces strict regulations to maintain order.5 

69. In May 2023, Cristosal, a leading human rights organization in El Salvador, 

released a comprehensive report detailing severe human rights abuses within the country’s prison 

system, especially CECOT.6 The investigation documented the deaths of 153 inmates between 

March 27, 2022, and March 27, 2023, attributing many to torture, beatings, mechanical 

asphyxiation (strangulation), and lack of medical attention. Id. Autopsies revealed common 

patterns of lacerations, hematomas, sharp object wounds, and signs of choking or strangulation. 

Id. Survivors reported being forced to pick food off the floor with their mouths, subjected to 

 
3 Leire Ventas & Carlos García, “El Salvador’s Secretive Mega-Jail,” BBC News (July 14, 2023), 
available at https://www.bbc.com/news/resources/idt-81749d7c-d0a0-48d0-bb11-eaab6f1e6556. 
4 Maanvi Singh, “US Deportees Face Brutal Conditions in El Salvador Mega-Prison: ‘Severe 
Overcrowding, Inadequate Food,’” The Guardian (Mar. 20, 2025), available at 
https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2025/mar/20/trump-deportations-venezuela-prison 
5 “Inside El Salvador’s prison holding Venezuelans deported from US,” CNN (March 17. 2025), 
available at https://edition.cnn.com/2025/03/17/world/video/el-salvador-prison-holding-
venezuelans-deported-us-trump-digvid. 
6 Noé López, “Inmates in El Salvador Tortured and Strangled: A Report Denounces Hellish 
Conditions in Bukele’s Prisons,” El País (May 29, 2023), available at 
https://english.elpais.com/international/2023-05-29/inmates-in-el-salvador-tortured-and-
strangled-a-report-denounces-hellish-conditions-in-bukeles-prisons.html. 
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electric shocks, and exposed to untreated skin fungus epidemics. Id. Cristosal’s director has 

emphasized that these systemic violations have become state policy. Id. 

70. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia is at imminent risk of irreparable harm with every 

additional day he spends detained in CECOT, included but not limited to torture and possible 

death. 

71. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia has exhausted all administrative remedies. No 

administrative remedies are available to Plaintiff Abrego Garcia, precisely because Defendants 

made the choice to unlawfully forego proceedings before the immigration judge, which would 

entail a right to administrative review before the Board of Immigration Appeals and then a petition 

for review to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION: 
VIOLATION OF THE WITHHOLDING OF REMOVAL STATUTE, 

8 U.S.C. § 1231(b)(3)(A) 
(Plaintiff Abrego Garcia) 

 
72. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing paragraphs 1-71 by reference. 

73. The Withholding of Removal statute, 8 U.S.C. § 1231(b)(3)(A), prohibits 

Defendants from removing a noncitizen to any country from which he has been granted 

withholding of removal, unless such grant is formally terminated by lawful means. 

74. As set forth above, Defendants removed Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to El Salvador, the 

country from which he had been granted withholding of removal, without formally terminating his 

grant of withholding of removal, thus violating this law. 

75. Defendants’ violation of law, as set forth herein, is causing Plaintiff Abrego Garcia 

irreparable harm with each day that he spends outside the United States and detained in CECOT. 
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76. Even if Plaintiff Abrego Garcia were released from CECOT, he would still be 

suffering irreparable harm in the form of separation from his U.S. citizen wife, Plaintiffs Vasquez 

Sura, and his severely disabled U.S. citizen child, Plaintiff A.A.V. 

77. Plaintiffs ask the Court to immediately order Defendants to take all steps reasonably 

available to them, proportionate to the gravity of the ongoing harm, to return Plaintiff Abrego 

Garcia to the United States. This should begin with ordering that Defendants immediately halt all 

payments to the Government of El Salvador to hold individuals in CECOT, and an order that 

Defendants immediately request that the Government of El Salvador release Plaintiff Abrego 

Garcia from CECOT and deliver him to the U.S. Embassy in El Salvador. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION: 
PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS 

U.S. CONSTITUTION, AMENDMENT V 
(Plaintiff Abrego Garcia) 

 
78. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing paragraphs 1-71 by reference. 

79. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia has a procedural due process right not to be removed to El 

Salvador, the country from which he had been granted withholding of removal, without an 

immigration judge first carrying out the procedures set forth in statute and federal regulations. 

80. As set forth above, Defendants removed Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to El Salvador, the 

country from which he had been granted withholding of removal, without formally terminating his 

grant of withholding of removal, thus violating his procedural due process rights under the Fifth 

Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. 

81. Defendants’ violation of law, as set forth herein, is causing Plaintiff Abrego Garcia 

irreparable harm with each day that he spends outside the United States and detained in CECOT. 
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82. Even if Plaintiff Abrego Garcia were released from CECOT, he would still be 

suffering irreparable harm in the form of separation from his U.S. citizen wife, Plaintiffs Vasquez 

Sura, and his severely disabled U.S. citizen child, Plaintiff A.A.V. 

83. Plaintiffs ask the Court to immediately order Defendants to take all steps reasonably 

available to them, proportionate to the gravity of the ongoing harm, to return Plaintiff Abrego 

Garcia to the United States. This should begin with ordering that Defendants immediately halt all 

payments to the Government of El Salvador to hold individuals in CECOT, and an order that 

Defendants immediately request that the Government of El Salvador release Plaintiff Abrego 

Garcia from CECOT and deliver him to the U.S. Embassy in El Salvador. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION: 
SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS 

U.S. CONSTITUTION, AMENDMENT V 
(All Plaintiffs) 

 
84. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing paragraphs 1-71 by reference. 

85. Plaintiff Abrego Garcia has a substantive due process right under the Fifth 

Amendment to the U.S. Constitution not to be subjected to government conduct that shocks the 

conscience.  Defendants’ conduct as set forth above violates that right. 

86. Plaintiffs Vasquez Sura and A.A.V., as the U.S.-citizen spouse and minor child of 

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia, also have a family unity interest in Plaintiff Abrego Garcia not being 

removed from the United States in a manner that shocks the conscience. Defendants’ conduct as 

set forth above violates that right. 

87. Defendants’ conscience-shocking actions, as set forth herein, is causing Plaintiff 

Abrego Garcia irreparable harm with each day that he spends outside the United States and 

detained in CECOT. 
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88. Even if Plaintiff Abrego Garcia were released from CECOT, he would still be 

suffering irreparable harm in the form of separation from his U.S. citizen wife, Plaintiffs Vasquez 

Sura, and his severely disabled U.S. citizen child, Plaintiff A.A.V. 

89. Plaintiffs ask the Court to immediately order Defendants to take all steps reasonably 

available to them, proportionate to the gravity of the ongoing harm, to return Plaintiff Abrego 

Garcia to the United States. This should begin with ordering that Defendants immediately halt all 

payments to the Government of El Salvador to hold individuals in CECOT, and an order that 

Defendants immediately request that the Government of El Salvador release Plaintiff Abrego 

Garcia from CECOT and deliver him to the U.S. Embassy in El Salvador. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT 

5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A) 
(Plaintiff Abrego Garcia) 

 
90. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing paragraphs 1-71 by reference. 

91. The Administrative Procedure Act provides that courts “shall . . . hold unlawful and 

set aside agency action” that is “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion.”  5 U.S.C. § 

706(2)(A). 

92. Defendants’ actions as set forth herein were arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of 

discretion. 

93. Defendants’ arbitrary and capricious actions, as set forth herein, are causing 

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia irreparable harm with each day that he spends outside the United States 

and detained in CECOT. 

94. Even if Plaintiff Abrego Garcia were released from CECOT, he would still be 

suffering irreparable harm in the form of separation from his U.S. citizen wife, Plaintiffs Vasquez 

Sura, and his severely disabled U.S. citizen child, Plaintiff A.A.V. 
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95. Plaintiffs ask the Court to immediately order Defendants to take all steps reasonably 

available to them, proportionate to the gravity of the ongoing harm, to return Plaintiff Abrego 

Garcia to the United States. This should begin with ordering that Defendants immediately halt all 

payments to the Government of El Salvador to hold individuals in CECOT, and an order that 

Defendants immediately request that the Government of El Salvador release Plaintiff Abrego 

Garcia from CECOT and deliver him to the U.S. Embassy in El Salvador. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 
HABEAS CORPUS 

28 U.S.C. § 2241 
(Plaintiff Abrego Garcia) 

 
96. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing paragraphs 1-71 by reference. 

97. The writ of habeas corpus is available to any individual who is held in custody of 

the federal government in violation of the Constitution or laws or treaties of the United States. 

98. As set forth herein, Plaintiff Abrego Garcia is being held in custody by the 

Government of El Salvador, but the Government of El Salvador is detaining Plaintiff Abrego 

Garcia at the direct request of Defendants, and at the financial compensation of Defendants.  Such 

detention is in violation of the Constitution or laws or treaties of the United States. 

99. Plaintiffs ask the Court to immediately order Defendants to immediately cease 

compensating the Government of El Salvador for its detention of Plaintiff Abrego Garcia, and to 

immediately request that the Government of El Salvador release Plaintiff Abrego Garcia from 

CECOT and deliver him to the U.S. Embassy in El Salvador. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

Plaintiffs pray for judgment against Defendants and respectfully request that the Court 

enters an order: 
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a) Declaring that Defendants’ actions, as set forth herein, violated the laws of the United 

States and the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution; 

b) Immediately ordering Defendants to immediately cease compensating the Government 

of El Salvador for its detention of Plaintiff Abrego Garcia; 

c) Immediately ordering Defendants to immediately request that the Government of El 

Salvador release Plaintiff Abrego Garcia from CECOT and deliver him to the U.S. 

Embassy in El Salvador; 

d) Should the Government of El Salvador decline such request, ordering Defendants to 

take all steps reasonably available to them, proportionate to the gravity of the ongoing 

harm, to return Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to the United States; 

e) Granting Plaintiffs costs and fees under the Equal Access to Justice Act; and 

f) Granting such other relief at law and in equity as justice may require. 

 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
  
//s// Simon Sandoval-Moshenberg     Date: March 24, 2025 
Simon Y. Sandoval-Moshenberg, Esq.  
D. Md. Bar no. 30965 
Counsel for Plaintiff 
Murray Osorio PLLC 
4103 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 300 
Fairfax, Virginia 22030 
Telephone: 703-352-2399 
Facsimile: 703-763-2304 
ssandoval@murrayosorio.com  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

Greenbelt Division  
__________________________________________ 
       ) 
Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia, et al.,  ) 
       ) 

Plaintiffs,     ) 
       ) Civil Action No. 8:25-cv-00951-AAQ 
v.       ) 

) 
Kristi Noem, et al., ) 
 ) 

Defendants.      )  
_________________________________________  )  
 

EMERGENCY EX PARTE MOTION FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER 
 

 Plaintiff Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia, by counsel, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(b)(1), 

hereby move this Court for an emergency ex parte temporary restraining order, restraining 

Defendants from continuing to financially support his further detention in El Salvador and ordering 

Defendants to request that the Government of El Salvador return him to their custody.  In support 

of this motion, Plaintiffs respectfully represent as follows: 

1. As set forth in the Complaint [Dkt. No. 1] and evidence attached thereto, Plaintiff 

Abrego Garcia has an order from an immigration judge prohibiting Defendants from removing 

him to El Salvador. Defendants could have sought to rescind that order and reopen removal 

proceedings, but they did not. Instead, Defendants removed Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to El Salvador, 

with no legal process or observance of required legal procedures whatsoever. 

2. Not only was Plaintiff Abrego Garcia removed to El Salvador in direct violation of 

federal law, but to make matters worse, Defendants are paying the government of El Salvador a 

sum of money to incarcerate him in the infamous CECOT prison, where he is being subjected to 

torture and an imminent risk of death. 
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3. This action was filed on Monday, March 24, 2025, less than 48 hours after 

undersigned counsel was retained.  This TRO request is filed the same day. 

4. This Court admittedly has no jurisdiction over the Government of El Salvador and 

cannot force that sovereign nation to release Plaintiff Abrego Garcia from its prison.  But—because 

that government is detaining Plaintiff at the direct request and pursuant to financial compensation 

from defendants—this Court can order Defendants to immediately stop paying such compensation, 

and to request that the Government of El Salvador return Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to their custody.  

That is all Plaintiff asks for this Court order as emergency relief.  If those efforts are unsuccessful, 

the parties can brief any further remedial steps that may lie within this Court’s jurisdiction. 

5. Plaintiffs are indigent and lack financial means to pay a TRO bond. 

6. Undersigned counsel will email the complaint, as well as this TRO motion and the 

Proposed Order, to his contacts at the US Attorney’s Office in Greenbelt. 

7. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, by counsel, respectfully request that this Court 

temporarily order Defendants to immediately stop paying compensation to the Government of El 

Salvador for the detention of Plaintiff Abrego Garcia, and to request that the Government of El 

Salvador return Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to their custody, for such time until a preliminary 

injunction motion can be briefed and decided by this Court. 

Respectfully submitted,  
  
//s// Simon Sandoval-Moshenberg     Date: March 24, 2025 
Simon Y. Sandoval-Moshenberg, Esq.  
D. Md. Bar no. 30965 
Counsel for Plaintiff 
Murray Osorio PLLC 
4103 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 300 
Fairfax, Virginia 22030 
Telephone: 703-352-2399 
Facsimile: 703-763-2304 
ssandoval@murrayosorio.com  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

Greenbelt Division 

Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia, et al., 
) 
) 
) 
) Plaintiffs, 

V. 

Kristi Noem, et al., 

) Civil Action No. 8:25-cv-00951-PX 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Defendants. ) ___________ ) 

RENEWED MOTION FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER 

PlaintiffKilmar Armando Abrego Garcia, by counsel, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(b)(l), 

hereby renews his request for an emergency ex parte temporary restraining order, restraining 

Defendants from continuing to financially support his further detention in El Salvador and ordering 

Defendants to request that the Government of El Salvador return him to their custody. In support 

of this motion, Plaintiffs respectfully represent as follows: 

1. As set forth in the Complaint [Dkt. No. 1] and evidence attached thereto, Plaintiff 

Abrego Garcia has an order from an immigration judge prohibiting Defendants from removing 

him to El Salvador. Defendants could have sought to rescind that order and reopen removal 

proceedings, but they did not. Instead, Defendants removed Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to El Salvador, 

with no legal process or observance of required legal procedures whatsoever. 

2. Not only was Plaintiff Abrego Garcia removed to El Salvador in direct violation of 

federal law, but to make matters worse, Defendants are paying the government of El Salvador a 

sum of money to incarcerate him in the infamous CECOT prison, where he is being subjected to 

torture and an imminent risk of death. 
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3. This Court admittedly has no jurisdiction over the Government of El Salvador and 

cannot force that sovereign nation to release Plaintiff Abrego Garcia from its prison. But-because 

that government is detaining Plaintiff at the direct request and pursuant to financial compensation 

from defendants-this Court can order Defendants to immediately stop paying such compensation, 

and to request that the Government of El Salvador return Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to their custody. 

That is all Plaintiff asks for this Court order as emergency relief. If those efforts are unsuccessful, 

the parties can brief any further remedial steps that may lie within this Court's jurisdiction. 

4. This action was filed at 9:21am Monday, March 24, 2025, less than 48 hours after 

undersigned counsel was retained. Plaintiff filed a TRO request at 12:13pm the same day (Dkt. 

No. 2). On March 25, 2025, at 10:30am, this Court denied the TRO request without prejudice, 

solely on the basis that undersigned counsel had inadvertently omitted filing a proof of service on 

counsel for Defendants. Counsel apologizes for the oversight. 

5. Undersigned counsel hereby certifies that on March 24, 2025, he e-mailed a copy 

of Dkt. Nos. 1-2, as well as all attachments thereto, to six Assistant U.S. Attorneys in the U.S. 

Attorney's Office for the District of Maryland, including Deputy Chief AUSA Tarra Deshields. 

See Ex. A hereto. Counsel received no response. 

6. In addition, undersigned counsel hereby certifies that immediately prior to filing 

this pleading, counsel e-mailed those same six AUSA's with a copy of Dkt. Nos. 4 and 5, and a 

copy of this filing as well as all attachments thereto. See Ex. B hereto. As of the time of filing, 

counsel has not yet received a response. 

7. Plaintiffs are indigent and lack financial means to pay a TRO bond. 

8. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, by counsel, respectfully renews their request that this 

Court temporarily order Defendants to immediately stop paying compensation to the Government 
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of El Salvador for the detention of Plaintiff Abrego Garcia, and to request that the Government of 

El Salvador return Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to their custody, for such time until a preliminary 

injunction motion can be briefed and decided by this Court. 

Respectfully submitted, 

/Isl/ Simon Sandoval-Moshenberg 
Simon Y. Sandoval-Moshenberg, Esq. 
D. Md. Bar no. 30965 
Counsel for Plaintiff 
Murray Osorio PLLC 
4103 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 300 
Fairfax, Virginia 22030 
Telephone: 703-352-2399 
Facsimile: 703-763-2304 
ssandoval@murrayosorio.com 

Date: March 25, 2025 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

Greenbelt Division 

Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia, et al., 
) 
) 
) 
) Plaintiffs, 

V. 

Kristi Noem, et al., 

) Civil Action No. 8:25-cv-00951-PX 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Defendants. ) ___________ ) 

PLAINTIFF'S SUPPLEMENT AL MEMORANDUM 
IN SUPPORT OF INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

PlaintiffKilmar Armando Abrego Garcia, by counsel, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(a) and 

this Court's order of March 25, 2025 (Dkt. No. 8), hereby files this supplemental memorandum in 

support of his request for injunctive relief (Dkt. No. 6), seeking an order from this Court restraining 

Defendants from continuing to financially support Plaintiffs further detention in El Salvador and 

ordering Defendants to request that the Government of El Salvador return Plaintiff to their custody. 

In support of this motion, Plaintiffs respectfully represent as follows: 

Introduction 

Plaintiff Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia ("Mr. Abrego Garcia") won an order from an 

immigration judge ("IJ") prohibiting his removal to El Salvador, after he established it was more 

likely than not that he would be persecuted in that country on account of a statutorily protected 

ground. The government could have chosen to appeal that order, but did not. The government 

could have chosen to remove Mr. Abrego Garcia to any other country on earth, but did not. The 

government could later have filed a motion to reopen proceedings against Mr. Abrego Garcia and 

seek to set aside the order of protection, but did not. Instead, the government put Mr. Abrego 
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Garcia on a plane to El Salvador, seemingly without any pretense of a legal basis whatsoever. Once 

in El Salvador, that country's government immediately placed Mr. Abrego Garcia into a torture 

center--one that the U.S. government is reportedly paying the government of El Salvador to 

operate. This grotesque display of power without law is abhorrent to our entire system of justice, 

and must not be allowed to stand. 

This memorandum is perhaps short, but that is because the legal argument for a judgment 

in favor of Plaintiff is clear and inescapable. This case may end up raising difficult questions of 

redressability in a subsequent phase, but a preliminary injunction should issue promptly, ordering 

Defendants to do the two most basic things that are clearly in their power: request that the 

government of El Salvador return Plaintiff to Defendants' custody; and cease paying the 

government of El Salvador to continue to detain Plaintiff in the notorious CECOT torture prison. 

Background 

On October 10, 2019, at the conclusion of hotly contested removal proceedings before an 

IJ in Baltimore, Mr. Abrego Garcia won an order granting him withholding of removal, pursuant 

to Section 241(b)(3) of the Immigration and Nationality Act, 8 U.S.C. § 1231(b)(3), as to El 

Salvador. Dkt. No. 1-1 at 14. The government did not appeal. Dkt. No. 1-5 at 2. From October 

2020 through January 2, 2024, Mr. Abrego Garcia attended his annual ICE reporting check-in 

without fail and without incident. Dkt. No. 1-3. 

On March 12, 2025, Mr. Abrego Garcia was pulled over by ICE officers while driving his 

disabled U.S.-citizen son, Plaintiff A.A.V., home from school. Dkt. 1-2 at ,r 30-34. His U.S.-citizen 

wife, Plaintiff Vasquez, was called to pick up the child and saw Mr. Abrego Garcia being taken 

into ICE custody. Id. Mr. Abrego Garcia was able to call his wife from ICE custody on five 

occasions thereafter, id. at ,r,r 36-41. The last call was on March 15, 2015, at 11:00am, in which 
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Mr. Abrego Garcia told his wife that he was being deported to El Salvador, to a supermax prison 

called CECOT. Id. at , 41. Mr. Abrego Garcia's wife later saw news photographs of her husband 

in the CECOT prison. Id. at, 43-46; Dkt. No. 1-4 (photographs of Mr. Abrego Garcia in the 

CECOT prison, with Mr. Abrego Garcia circled in red). Since then, Mr. Abrego Garcia has not 

been able to contact his wife or legal counsel, and his wife and legal counsel have received no 

factual explanation or legal justification for his removal to El Salvador. 

The CECOT prison is a notorious torture chamber. As Judge Boasberg wrote earlier this 

week in JGG v. Trump, declining to vacate a Temporary Restraining Order on behalf of a group 

of Venezuelan nationals removed to El Salvador on the same airplane as Mr. Abrego Garcia: 

In Salvadoran prisons, deportees are reportedly "highly likely to face immediate 
and intentional life-threatening harm at the hands of state actors." ECF No. 44-4 
(Sarah Bishop Deel.),, 63. 

The country's government has boasted that inmates in CECOT "never leave"; 
indeed, one expert declarant alleges that she does not know of any CECOT inmate 
who has been released. See ECF No. 44-3 (Juanita Goebertus Deel.),, 3; see also 
Bishop Deel.,, 23 ("[W]e will throw them in prison and they will never get out.") 
(quoting Nayib Bukele (@nayibbukele), X (May 16, 2023, 7:02 p.m.), 
https://x.com/nayibbukele/status/1658608915683201030?s=20). Once inmates 
enter the prisons, moreover, their families are often left in the dark. See Bishop 
Deel., , 25 ("In a sample of 131 cases, [it was] found that 115 family members of 
detainees have not received any information about the whereabouts or wellbeing of 
their detained family members since the day of their capture."). 

Plaintiffs offer declarations that inmates are rarely allowed to leave their cells, have 
no regular access to drinking water or adequate food, sleep standing up because of 
overcrowding, and are held in cells where they do not see sunlight for days. See 
Goebertus Deel.,,, 3, 11; Bishop Deel.,, 31 . 

At CECOT specifically, one declarant states that "if the prison were to reach full 
supposed capacity ... , each prisoner would have less than two feet of space in shared 
cells ... [which] is less than half the space required for transporting midsized cattle 
under EU law." Bishop Deel., , 30. Given poor sanitary conditions, Goebertus 
points out, "tuberculosis, fungal infections, scabies, severe malnutrition[,] and 
chronic digestive issues [a]re common." Goebertus Deel.,, 12. 
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Beyond poor living conditions, Salvadoran inmates are, according to evidence 
presented, often disciplined through beatings and humiliation. One inmate claimed 
that "police beat prison newcomers with batons .... [W]hen he denied being a gang 
member, they sent him to a dark basement cell with 320 detainees, where prison 
guards and other detainees beat him every day. On one occasion, one guard beat 
him so severely that [he] broke a rib." I4:., 18. Three prior deportees from the United 
States reported being kicked in the face, neck, abdomen, and testicles, with one 
requiring "an operation for a ruptured pancreas and spleen." I4:., 117. One inmate 
reported being forced to "kneel on the ground naked looking downwards for four 
hours in front of the prison's gate." Id., 1 10. That same prisoner also said that he 
was made to sit in a barrel of ice water as guards questioned him and then forced 
his head under water so he could not breathe. Id. 

One scholar avers that, since March 2022, an estimated 375 detainees have died in 
Salvadoran prisons. See Bishop Deel., 11 15, 43. Although the Salvadoran 
government maintains that all deaths have been natural, others respond that 75% of 
them "were violent, probably violent, or with suspicions of criminality on account 
of a common pattern of hematomas caused by beatings, sharp object wounds, and 
signs of strangulation on the cadavers examined." Id., 1144-45. When an inmate 
is killed, there are also reports that guards "bring the body back into the cells and 
leave it there until the body start[s] stinking." I4:., 139. 

JG.G. v. Trump, No. CV 25-766 (JEB), 2025 WL 890401, at *16 (D.D.C. Mar. 24, 2025). 1 The 

few available photographs of Mr. Abrego Garcia's treatment are consistent with this narrative. 

Dkt. No. 1-4. 

Defendants not only knew that Mr. Abrego Garcia would be detained in CECOT upon his 

arrival in El Salvador, they even told him so. Dkt. 1-2 at 1 41. Defendants have celebrated the 

CECOT detention of Mr. Abrego Garcia and the planeload of Venezuelan nationals whom he 

accompanied to El Salvador. See Ex. A hereto (tweet by Salvadoran president Nayib Bukele noting 

that "23 MS-13 members wanted by Salvadoran justice" were transferred to CECOT, along with 

238 Venezuelan nationals, and stating that "[t]he United States will pay a very low fee for them[.]"; 

Ex. D hereto (tweet by Defendant Rubio thanking President Bukele for his assistance). On March 

26, 2025, one day after the first telephonic hearing in this case, Defendant Noem visited CECOT. 

1 The two declarations cited by Judge Boasberg are attached hereto as Exs. B and C, and their contents are 
incorporated herein by reference. 
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Mary Beth Sheridan and Maria Sacchetti, "Noem visits El Salvador prison where deportees are in 

'legal limbo,"' The Washington Post (March 26, 2025), available at 

https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2025/03/26/ el-salvador-noem-cecot-venezuelans/ 

(noting that the U.S. government has paid six million dollars to El Salvador to hold 238 Venezuelan 

nationals, along with 23 Salvadoran nationals accused of being MS-13 members, in CECOT). 

Defendant Noem was granted a special tour inside the CECOT prison, separated from the prisoners 

by mere metal bars. See "Photos Show Kristi Noem's Visit Through Notorious El Salvador 

Prison," Newsweek (March 26, 2025), Ex. E hereto. 

Unfortunately, Secretary Noem did not return to the United States with Mr. Abrego Garcia. 

He remains in CECOT. 

Legal Standard 

A preliminary injunction is an "extraordinary remedy" and "shall be granted only if the 

moving party clearly establishes entitlement to the relief sought." Di Biase v. SPX Corp., 872 F.3d 

224, 230 ( 4th Cir. 2017) ( citations omitted). The Fourth Circuit differentiates between a 

prohibitory injunction which seeks to maintain the status quo, and a mandatory injunction which 

seeks to alter the status quo, see League of Women Voters of N Carolina v. North Carolina, 769 

F.3d 224, 235 (4th Cir. 2014); the latter is disfavored. "We have defined the status quo for this 

purpose to be the last uncontested status between the parties which preceded the controversy. To 

be sure, it is sometimes necessary to require a party who has recently disturbed the status quo to 

reverse its actions, but such an injunction restores, rather than disturbs, the status quo ante." Id. at 

236 (internal citations omitted). Since the controversy in this matter arose when Defendants 

removed Mr. Abrego Garcia from the United States, the "last uncontested status between the 

parties" was one in which Mr. Abrego Garcia was present in the United States. 
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A court may issue a preliminary injunction upon notice to the adverse party. Fed. R. Civ. 

P. 65(a). It is well settled law that "[a] preliminary injunction is an extraordinary remedy never 

awarded as of right." Winter v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 555 U.S. 7, 24 (2008). 

A movant seeking a preliminary injunction must establish each of the four Winter elements: (1) 

that he is likely to succeed on the merits, (2) that he is likely to suffer irreparable harm in the 

absence of preliminary relief, (3) that the balance of equities tips in his favor, and (4) that an 

injunction is in the public interest. Id. at 20. Demonstrating a likelihood of success does not require 

a plaintiff to "establish a certainty of success"; instead, the plaintiff "must make a clear showing 

that he is likely to succeed at trial." Di Biase v. SPX Corp., 872 F.3d 224, 230 ( 4th Cir. 2017). 

Argument 

I. Plaintiff is likely to succeed on the merits of this case. 

Plaintiff is likely to succeed on the merits of this case, since the government removed him 

to a country to which the law clearly and indisputably prohibited them from doing so, without 

observing proper (or indeed any) legal procedures. As the Supreme Court has explained, a 

noncitizen "may seek statutory withholding under [8 U .S.C.] § 1231 (b )(3)(A), which provides that 

'the Attorney General may not remove an alien to a country if the Attorney General decides that 

the alien's life or freedom would be threatened in that country because of the alien's race, religion, 

nationality, membership in a particular social group, or political opinion."' Johnson v. Guzman 

Chavez, 594 U.S. 523, 530 (2021). Plaintiff Abrego Garcia won just such an order in 2019. Dkt. 

No. 1-1. "If an alien is granted withholding-only relief, DHS may not remove the alien to the 

country designated in the removal order unless the order of withholding is terminated. [8 C.F.R.] 

§§ 208.22, 1208.22. But because withholding of removal is a form of country specific relief, 

nothing prevents DHS from removing [the] alien to a third country other than the country to which 
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removal has been withheld or deferred, [8 C.F.R.] §§ 208.16(±), 1208.16(±); see also §§ 

208.17(b)(2), 1208.17(b)(2)." Guzman Chavez, 594 U.S. at 531-32 (some internal citations 

omitted). It is clear, therefore, that the Immigration and Nationality Act ("INA") prevented the 

government from removing Mr. Abrego Garcia to El Salvador. 

Nor is it an excuse for the government to protest that Mr. Abrego Garcia is a member of 

the MS-13 gang (he is not) and therefore a terrorist (he is not) subject to removal outside of removal 

proceedings pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1229a: no proceedings were ever brought against him in the 

Alien Terrorist Removal Court, 8 U.S.C. § 1532; nor were federal criminal or extradition 

proceedings ever brought against him. 

Finally, this Court need not wade into tricky issues about the centuries-old Alien Enemies 

Act, 50 U.S.C. § 21 et seq.: as a national of El Salvador, Plaintiff is simply not subject to the 

proclamation against the Venezuelan gang Tren de Aragua, see Proclamation, "Invocation of the 

Alien Enemies Act Regarding the Invasion of The United States by Tren De Aragua" (March 15, 

2025), available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/2025/03/invocation-of-the-

alien-enemies-act-regarding-the-invasion-of-the-united-states-by-tren-de-aragua/, at § 1 ("I 

proclaim that all Venezuelan citizens 14 years of age or older who are members of [Tren de 

Aragua], are within the United States, and are not actually naturalized or lawful permanent 

residents of the United States are liable to be apprehended, restrained, secured, and removed as 

Alien Enemies.") (Emphasis added.) 

Plaintiff has brought several viable claims for relief, inter alia under the Administrative 

Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 702. Plaintiff is a "person suffering legal wrong because of agency 

action, or adversely affected or aggrieved by agency action," and is therefore "entitled to judicial 

review" under the AP A. Id. His removal represented "final agency action" that is "subject to 
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judicial review." 5 U.S.C. § 704. Likewise, Plaintiffs procedural due process claim is a viable 

one. Having been granted withholding of removal Mr. Abrego Garcia-a "person" within the 

meaning of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment-had a property and liberty interest 

in not being removed to El Salvador without observance oflegal procedures. Rusu v. INS, 296 F .3d 

316, 320 (4th Cir. 2002) (deportation proceedings are subject to procedural due process 

requirements). 

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff is likely to succeed on the merits of this litigation. 

II. Plaintiff is likely to suffer irreparable harm in the absence of preliminary relief. 

Although "the burden of removal alone cannot constitute the requisite irreparable injury," 

Nken v. Holder, 556 U.S. 418, 435 (2009), this case presents far more immediate injury than the 

garden-variety removal case in which "[a]liens who are removed may continue to pursue their 

petitions for review, and those who prevail can be afforded effective relief by facilitation of their 

return, along with restoration of the immigration status they had upon removal," id. 

Mr. Abrego Garcia is suffering irreparable harm with each day that he remains detained in 

the CECOT torture prison. As Judge Boas berg recently held in JGG, "the risk of torture, beatings, 

and even death clearly and unequivocally supports a finding of irreparable harm." 2025 WL 

890401, at *16, citing United States v. Iowa, 126 F.4th 1334, 1352 (8th Cir. 2025) (torture); Leiva-

Perez v. Holder, 640 F.3d 962, 970 (9th Cir. 2011) (physical abuse). 

In addition, all plaintiffs are suffering irreparable harm by virtue of the unlawful family 

separation without notice. See Dkt. No. 1-2 at ,r,r 35 (noting the distress of Plaintiff A.A.V., Mr. 

Abrego Garcia's autistic U.S.-citizen child); 47. "Even absent First Amendment injury, family 

separation alone causes irreparable harm." Int'! Refugee Assistance Project v. Trump, 883 F.3d 
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233, 308 (4th Cir. 2018) (Gregory, C.J., concurring), vacated on other grounds, 585 U.S. 1028 

(2018). 

For these reasons, Plaintiff has made an adequate showing of irreparable harm to justify 

preliminary injunctive relief under the second Winter factor. 

III. The balance of equities tips in Plaintiff's favor, and an injunction is in the public 
interest. 

"Once an applicant satisfies the first two factors, the traditional stay inquiry calls for 

assessing the harm to the opposing party and weighing the public interest. These factors merge 

when the Government is the opposing party. Nken, 556 U.S. at 435. 

Here, the balance of equities and the public interest tilt sharply in favor of the issuance of 

a preliminary injunction. Again, Judge Boasberg: "There is, moreover, a strong public interest in 

preventing the mistaken deportation of people based on categories they have no right to challenge. 

See [Nken, 556 U.S. at 436] ("Of course there is a public interest in preventing aliens from being 

wrongfully removed, particularly to countries where they are likely to face substantial harm."). 

The public also has a significant stake in the Government's compliance with the law. See, e.g., 

League of Women Voters v. Newby, 838 F.3d 1, 12 (D.C. Cir. 2016) ("There is generally no public 

interest in the perpetuation of unlawful agency action. To the contrary, there is a substantial public 

interest in having governmental agencies abide by the federal laws that govern their existence and 

operations.")" JGG, 2025 WL 890401, at *17. 

To the extent Defendants argue danger to the community based on Plaintiff Abrego 

Garcia's supposed ties to MS-13, again, he has neither been convicted nor charged with any crime. 

If the government wishes to reinstitute removal proceedings against him, and an immigration judge 

grants its motion to reopen his order of withholding of removal, he will indeed be subject to 

detention pursuant to 8 U.S.C. §1226(a), but he will be eligible to seek a bond hearing from an 
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immigration judge and request release on bond. No evidence weighs against Plaintiff in the 

balancing of the equities and the public interest. 

IV. No jurisdictional bar applies in this case. 

Several jurisdictional bars often apply in cases challenging removal under Title 8 of U.S. 

Code, but none applies in this case. As 8 U.S.C. § 1252(±)(2) provides, "[n]otwithstanding any 

other provision of law, no court shall enjoin the removal of any alien pursuant to a final order 

under this section unless the alien shows by clear and convincing evidence that the entry or 

execution of such order is prohibited as a matter of law." To the extent that this section of law 

applies since Plaintiff is seeking to be restored to the ex ante position he held prior to his removal 

to El Salvador, the "clear and convincing evidence" standard is easily met here, for the reasons set 

forth above. Nor does 8 U.S.C. § 1252(g) apply here, since the facts described herein do not 

represent the Attorney General's "decision or action" to "execute removal orders" against Mr. 

Abrego Garcia: there was no removal order to execute, and if it was executed, it certainly was not 

done "under this chapter" (Chapter 12 of Title 8, U.S. Code) as that chapter prohibited such 

removal. The discretionary bars at 8 U.S.C. § 1252(a)(2)(B) do not apply, as the withholding of 

removal statute is mandatory and admits of no discretion; the criminal-alien bar, 8 U.S.C. § 

1252(a)(2)(C) does not apply where Plaintiff has no criminal conviction. Finally, the zipper clause, 

8 U.S.C. § 1252(b)(9), does not apply, because, again, Mr. Abrego Garcia was not removed "under 

this subchapter." Accordingly, no provision of law strips this Court of jurisdiction to hear and 

decide this action. 

Conclusion 

Where the government casts aside laws and the orders of courts, including administrative 

courts, state power consists solely of the capacity to commit violence. This Court can reassert the 
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primacy of due process by ordering Defendants to take reasonable steps within their power to (1) 

request that the government of El Salvador remove Mr. Abrego Garcia from the CECOT torture 

prison in which Defendants caused him to be placed, and return him to the custody of the United 

States; and (2) stop compensating the operators of the CECOT torture prison for their continued 

detention of Mr. Abrego Garcia. A preliminary injunction should issue. 

Respectfully submitted, 

/Isl/ Simon Sandoval-Moshenberg 
Simon Y. Sandoval-Moshenberg, Esq. 
D. Md. Bar no. 30965 
Counsel for Plaintiff 
Murray Osorio PLLC 
4103 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 300 
Fairfax, Virginia 22030 
Telephone: 703-352-2399 
Facsimile: 703-763-2304 
ssandoval@murrayosorio.com 

Date: March 28, 2025 
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Certificate of Service 

I, the undersigned, hereby certify that on this date, I uploaded the foregoing, along with 
all attachments thereto, to this Court's CM/ECF case management system, which will send a 
Notice of Electronic Filing (NEF) to all case participants. 

Respectfully submitted, 

/Isl/ Simon Sandoval-Moshenberg 
Simon Y. Sandoval-Moshenberg, Esq. 
D. Md. Bar no. 30965 
Counsel for Plaintiff 
Murray Osorio PLLC 
4103 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 300 
Fairfax, Virginia 22030 
Telephone: 703-352-2399 
Facsimile: 703-763-2304 
ssandoval@murrayosorio.com 

Date: March 28, 2025 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

(Greenbelt Division) 

     

  

Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia, et al.,  

  

Plaintiffs,  

v.  

Kristi Noem, Secretary of Homeland 
Security, et al.,   

  

Defendants.  

    

  

  

  

No. 8:25-cv-00951-PX 

  

Declaration Of Acting Field Office Director 
Robert L. Cerna 

  

DECLARATION OF ROBERT L. CERNA 

 

I, Robert L. Cerna, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, declare under penalty of perjury as follows:  

1. I am an Acting Field Office Director Enforcement and Removal Operations 

(“ERO”) at U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement (“ICE”) within the U.S. Department of 

Homeland Security (“DHS”).  

2. As the (A)FOD of the Harlingen Field Office, I am responsible for, among other 

things, the detention and enforcement operations of more than 350 employees, assigned to six 

ERO Harlingen offices. ERO Harlingen encompasses fifteen South Texas counties and is 

responsible for six detention facilities with a combined total of 3,790 detention beds.  

3. I am aware that the instant lawsuit has been filed regarding the removal of Kilmer 

Armado Abrego-Garcia (Abrego-Garcia) to El Salvador. 
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4. I provide this declaration based on my personal knowledge, reasonable inquiry, 

and information obtained from various records, systems, databases, other DHS employees, and 

information portals maintained and relied upon by DHS in the regular course of business.  

5. On March 15, 2025, President Trump announced the Proclamation Invocation of 

the Alien Enemies Act Regarding the Invasion of The United States by Tren De Aragua. 

6. On March 15, 2025, two planes carrying aliens being removed under the Alien 

Enemies Act (“AEA”) and one carrying aliens with Title 8 removal orders departed the United 

States for El Salvador. Abrego-Garcia, a native and citizen of El Salvador, was on the third flight 

and thus had his removal order to El Salvador executed. This removal was an error. 

7. On March 29, 2019, the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) served Abrego-

Garcia with a Notice to Appear, charging him as inadmissible pursuant to Section 

1182(a)(6)(A)(i) of Title 8 of the United States Code, “as an alien present in the United States 

without being admitted or paroled, or who arrived in the United States at any time or place other 

than as designated by the [Secretary of Homeland Security].” 

8. During the course of his proceedings, Abrego-Garcia remained in ICE custody 

because the Immigration Judge (IJ) with the Executive Office for Immigration Review denied 

Abrego-Garcia bond at a hearing on April 24, 2019, citing danger to the community because “the 

evidence show[ed] that he is a verified member of [Mara Salvatrucha] (‘MS-13’)]” and therefore 

posed a danger to the community. The IJ also determined that he was a flight risk. Abrego-Garcia 

appealed, and the Board of Immigration Appeals upheld this bond decision in an opinion issued 

on December 19, 2019, citing the danger Abrego-Garcia posed to the community. 
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9. On October 10, 2019, an IJ ordered Abrego-Garcia’s removal from the United 

States but granted withholding of removal to El Salvador pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1231(b)(3)(A). 

This grant of protection prohibited his removal to El Salvador.  

10. Following this grant of withholding of removal, Abrego-Garcia was released from 

ICE custody. 

11. On March 12, 2025, ICE Homeland Security Investigations arrested Abrego-

Garcia due to his prominent role in MS-13. Over the next two days, Abrego-Garcia was 

transferred to the staging area for the removal flights discussed in Paragraph 6. 

12. The operation that led to Abrego-Garcia’s removal to El Salvador was designed to 

only include individuals with no impediments to removal. Generally, individuals were not placed 

on the manifest until they were cleared for removal. 

13. ICE was aware of this grant of withholding of removal at the time Abrego-

Garcia’s removal from the United States. Reference was made to this status on internal forms. 

14. Abrego-Garcia was not on the initial manifest of the Title 8 flight to be removed 

to El Salvador. Rather, he was an alternate. As others were removed from the flight for various 

reasons, he moved up the list and was assigned to the flight. The manifest did not indicate that 

Abrego-Garcia should not be removed.  

15. Through administrative error, Abrego-Garcia was removed from the United States 

to El Salvador. This was an oversight, and the removal was carried out in good faith based on the 

existence of a final order of removal and Abrego-Garcia’s purported membership in MS-13. 

 
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  

  
  

Executed this 31st day of March 2025.   
 

Case 8:25-cv-00951-PX     Document 11-3     Filed 03/31/25     Page 3 of 4
60a



  
____________________________  
 
Robert L. Cerna 
Acting Field Office Director 
Enforcement and Removal Operations  
U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement   
U.S. Department of Homeland Security  
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1 

Introduction 

Defendants admit they knew that Plaintiff Kilmar Abrego Garcia won an order from an 

immigration judge finding that he would more likely than not be persecuted in El Salvador on 

account of a protected ground, and that this order was never appealed or otherwise set aside. Dkt. 

11-3 at ¶¶ 9, 13. They admit that notwithstanding their awareness of this order, id. ¶ 13, they 

arrested Plaintiff, id. ¶ 11; transferred him to a staging area for flights to El Salvador, id.; and 

placed his name on a flight manifest to El Salvador, id. ¶ 14.  In light of these factual concessions, 

this Court need not accept as true Defendants’ conclusory and self-contradictory protestations that 

the deportation represented “administrative error,” “an oversight,” and “was carried out in good 

faith.” Id. ¶ 15. 

Defendants do not deny that Plaintiff is currently incarcerated in the infamous CECOT jail, 

they merely quibble over whether his treatment therein rises to the level of torture.  Defendants do 

not deny that they have paid the government of El Salvador millions of dollars to detain Plaintiff 

and others like him in CECOT, that Defendant Marco Rubio thanked the President of El Salvador 

on Twitter for detaining Plaintiff in CECOT, and that Defendant Kristi Noem went inside the 

CECOT jail after the filing of this lawsuit yet took no steps to attempt or request to extract Plaintiff 

therefrom.1

Most shockingly, Defendants do not claim to be attempting to seek Plaintiff’s return to the 

United States absent this Court’s intervention.2 This would be a very different case if Defendants 

 
1 Defendants spend most of their brief seeking to paint Plaintiff as a member of the MS-13 gang, see Dkt. 11 at 2, 15-
17, a contention which Plaintiff disputes, see Dkt. 1 at ¶¶ 19-41 and exhibits cited therein. Plaintiff has been neither 
charged nor convicted with any crime, see Dkt. 1-2, a fact which Defendants do not dispute. In any event, Defendants 
do not contend that Plaintiff’s alleged gang membership gave them legal authority to deport Plaintiff to El Salvador. 
In addition, although the White House has accused Plaintiff of involvement in human trafficking, Defendants’ court 
filing omits any such scandalous accusation.   
2 This is a new and upsetting development for the Department of Justice. Undersigned counsel has litigated prior cases 
arising out of erroneous deportations. See, e.g., Tomas-Ramos v. Hott, 1:19-cv-01587-AJT-JFA (E.D. Va., filed Dec. 
18, 2019) (noncitizen requested Reasonable Fear Interview, but was erroneously removed prior to interview being 
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came before the court hat in hand, confessing error and assuring the court that remedial steps were 

underway, and arguing that the Court should not short-circuit measures that were already in 

process. Instead, Defendants have already washed their hands of Plaintiff, of his U.S.-citizen wife, 

of his autistic nonverbal five-year-old U.S.-citizen child. Defendants’ proposed resolution of this 

state of affairs, which they caused either intentionally or at best recklessly, is nothing at all.   

This is an outrageous set of facts.  If Defendants’ actions in this case are allowed to remain 

without redress, then the withholding of removal statute and orders of immigration courts are 

meaningless, because the government can deport whomever they want, wherever they want, 

whenever they want, and no court can do anything about it once it’s done. 

Standard of Review

Defendants seek to paint the injunction requested by Plaintiff as mandatory rather than 

prohibitive, see Dkt. 12-1 at 5, citing Taylor v. Freeman, 34 F.3d 266, 270 n.2 (4th Cir. 1994); 

Pashby v. Delia, 709 F.3d 307, 319 (4th Cir. 2013). They fail to respond to Plaintiff’s citation to 

League of Women Voters of N. Carolina v. North Carolina, 769 F.3d 224, 236 (4th Cir. 2014), in 

which the Fourth Circuit explained that an injunction such as this one, restoring Plaintiff to his 

“last uncontested status between the parties which preceded the controversy,” is considered a 

prohibitive injunction in the Fourth Circuit. See also Aggarao v. MOL Ship Mgmt. Co., 675 F.3d 

355, 378 (4th Cir. 2012) (“The status quo to be preserved by a preliminary injunction, however, is 

not the circumstances existing at the moment the lawsuit or injunction request was actually filed, 

but the last uncontested status between the parties which preceded the controversy. To be sure, it 

is sometimes necessary to require a party who has recently disturbed the status quo to reverse its 

actions, but . . . such an injunction restores, rather than disturbs, the status quo ante.” (Internal 

 
schedule). In prior cases, as soon as they realized a noncitizen had been erroneously deported, DOJ and DHS worked 
quickly to attempt to return him. Here, they are uninterested in helping unless ordered to do so by this Court. 
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citations omitted.)). Accordingly, this case—which seeks to restore Plaintiff’s status as being 

physically present in the United States—would be analyzed under the more permissive standard 

for prohibitive injunctions.   

Argument 

It is hard for Defendants to argue that Plaintiff is unlikely to succeed on the merits of this 

case when they admit all the facts that give rise to liability. Defendants’ jurisdictional argument 

cites cases regarding disputed removal orders and challenges to removals under the law; Plaintiff’s

removal was wildly extrajudicial and undisputedly devoid of any basis in law, so the cited 

jurisdictional bars do not apply.  Irreparable harm does not require a showing of actual torture, and 

the treatment that Plaintiff is suffering rises to the level of irreparable harm, whether or not it 

constitutes torture (although it does).  Defendants’ unsubstantiated belief that Plaintiff is an MS-

13 member could well have formed a basis for them to file a motion before the immigration court 

seeking to set aside his order of protection, but it does not retroactively immunize his blatantly and 

concededly unlawful deportation to the one country where his removal was prohibited by an order 

from an immigration judge. Finally, the two things Plaintiff asks this Court to order are well within 

this Court’s power, and Defendants ought not be heard to complain that such simple remedial steps 

will necessarily be ineffective if they have not attempted any steps whatsoever to remedy their 

grievous conduct. 

I. Defendant’s “core habeas” argument makes no sense. 

This case was filed as a complaint for injunctive relief. Dkt. 1. Defendants argue that 

“because Plaintiffs’ claims sound in habeas, they can proceed only in habeas. But because 

Plaintiffs concede that Abrego Garcia is not in United States custody, this Court cannot hear those 

claims.” In other words, since Plaintiff’s claims somehow implicate detention (because detention 
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goes hand-in-hand with removal), they should have been brought as habeas claims; but because 

his claims do not challenge current detention, the habeas claims would fail.3 

This argument makes no sense, and is divorced from the facts of this case and the manner 

in which the complaint was pled. Plaintiff’s core contention in this case is that Defendants removed 

him from the United States without legal justification, not that they continue to detain him without 

legal justification. For example, Plaintiff’s first cause of action complains that “Defendants 

removed Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to El Salvador, the country from which he had been granted 

withholding of removal, without formally terminating his grant of withholding of removal, thus 

violating this law.” Dkt. 1 at ¶ 74. His second cause of action complains that “Defendants removed 

Plaintiff Abrego Garcia to El Salvador, the country from which he had been granted withholding 

of removal, without formally terminating his grant of withholding of removal, thus violating his 

procedural due process rights under the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.” Id. at ¶ 80. 

And so on.  

The fact that Plaintiff is now detained in the notorious CECOT jail rather than at liberty 

within El Salvador is relevant to Plaintiff’s TRO motion on the irreparable harm prong, but is not 

relevant to liability on the core claim: Defendants deported him to a prohibited country. Since 

Plaintiff does not challenge his present confinement by Defendants, most of their case citations 

are irrelevant.  See, e.g., Dkt. 12 at 6 (“Habeas corpus ‘is the appropriate remedy to ascertain . . . 

whether any person is rightfully in confinement or not,’” quoting DHS v. Thuraissigiam, 591 U.S. 

103, 117 (2020)). 

Defendants’ citations (Dkt. 12 at 7) to Nance v. Ward, Heck v. Humphrey and Preiser v. 

 
3 An exception lies under Smith v. Ashcroft, 295 F.3d 425 (4th Cir. 2002), recognizing continuous jurisdiction over 
habeas corpus petitions filed while the Petitioner was still in custody but removed thereafter, as long as legal rights 
and obligations continue to stem therefrom.  
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Rodriguez for the principle that a challenge to detention implicating the underlying legal basis for 

the detention (e.g. a criminal conviction) must only be brought in habeas, are also inapposite here.4

This case presents no controversy over the underlying legal judgment at issue, the 2019 grant of 

withholding of removal; both parties agree that was lawfully entered and remains in force. Nor is 

there a controversy regarding the actual removal by airplane to El Salvador, which both parties 

agree was not legally authorized. Preiser and its progeny are simply not implicated.

In the alternative, but not as Plaintiff’s core legal contention, Plaintiff did bring a fifth cause 

of action under habeas corpus, alleging that he is in the constructive custody of the U.S. 

government, given that the government of El Salvador is detaining him “at the direct request of 

Defendants, and at the financial compensation of Defendants.” Dkt. 1 at ¶ 98. This cause of action 

rests on the theory that the government of El Salvador is detaining Plaintiff at the behest of 

Defendants and subject to financial compensation from Defendants. Such a claim does fall within 

the core of habeas jurisprudence and is a viable claim. See, e.g., Boumediene v. Bush, 553 U.S. 

723 (2008).5 ICE frequently contracts with other governmental entities to hold its detainees.6

Where ICE detainees are held in jails run by other governmental entities, the immediate custodian 

for purposes of habeas corpus is “the federal official most directly responsible for overseeing that 

contract facility when seeking a habeas writ.” Saravia v. Sessions, 280 F. Supp. 3d 1168, 1185 

(N.D. Cal. 2017), aff’d, 905 F.3d 1137 (9th Cir. 2018); see also Jarpa v. Mumford, 211 F. Supp. 

 
4 Likewise, Plyler v. Moore, 129 F.3d 728 (4th Cir. 1997), which held that challenges to the length of confinement are 
properly brought at habeas petitions, has no bearing on this case. 
5 Plaintiff, who has lived in the United States with a legal work permit for five years after being granted immigration 
relief, has a stronger claim to access to the writ of habeas corpus than did Guantanamo detainees who had never set 
foot in the territorial United States. 
6 “ICE primarily uses intergovernmental service agreements (IGSA) to acquire detention space. Officials said IGSAs 
offer several benefits over contracts, including fewer requirements for documentation or competition.” GAO, Report 
to the Chairman, Committee on Homeland Security, House of Representatives (January 2021), available at 
https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-21-149.pdf, at 2 (showing 59 percent of ICE detainees housed in a facility operated 
by another governmental entity). 
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3d 706, 724 (D. Md. 2016) (where habeas petitioner held in local county jail on ICE contract, 

“[a]pplying the immediate custodian rule here would yield the ‘impractical result’ of having the 

immediate custodian . . . unable to grant the relief requested. Rather, the relief sought can only 

practically be delivered by the head of the agency in charge of interpreting and executing the 

immigration laws.”); Wilkinson v. Dotson, 544 U.S. 74, 92 (2005).  

 This habeas corpus cause of action is therefore viable, on the theory that the government 

of El Salvador is acting as the jailer for Defendants pursuant to financial compensation from 

Defendants, as did the local county jail in Jarpa. See Dkt. 10-4 (tweet from El Salvador president 

acknowledging receipt of a “low fee” for detaining Plaintiff; response from Defendant Rubio 

thanking El Salvador president for same); Mary Beth Sheridan and Maria Sacchetti, “Noem visits 

El Salvador prison where deportees are in ‘legal limbo,’” The Washington Post (March 26, 2025), 

available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2025/03/26/el-salvador-noem-cecot-

venezuelans/ (noting that the U.S. government has paid six million dollars to El Salvador to hold 

238 Venezuelan nationals, along with 23 Salvadoran nationals accused of being MS-13 

members—one of whom is Plaintiff—in CECOT).  Again, Defendant’s memorandum does not 

deny paying the government of El Salvador to detain Plaintiff in CECOT. 

 For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff’s complaint for injunctive relief did not need to be filed 

as a habeas corpus petition, and therefore all of Defendants’ caselaw arguing against habeas corpus 

in the post-deportation context is irrelevant, and the Plaintiff is likely to succeed on the merits; in 

the alternative, since Plaintiff did plead a viable cause of action for habeas corpus, the complaint 

is likely to succeed on the merits. 

II. The jurisdictional bar at 8 U.S.C. § 1252(g) only applies to removals carried out 
within the immigration laws. 
 

Defendants’ argument for application of the jurisdictional bar at 8 U.S.C. § 1252(g) 
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attempts to improperly frame this case as a “challenge to the legality of a removal order[.]” Dkt. 

12 at 14. But all parties agree that Plaintiff’s removal was not legal nor pursuant to any removal 

order. The jurisdictional bar does not apply. 

Section 1252(g) covers “any cause or claim by or on behalf of any alien arising from the 

decision or action by the Attorney General to commence proceedings, adjudicate cases, or execute 

removal orders against any alien under this chapter.” (Emphasis added.) But Section 1252(g) does 

not apply to a removal conducted “not [as] part of Title 8, Chapter 12.” J.G.G. v. Trump, No. 25-

5067, 2025 WL 914682, at *28 (D.C. Cir., Mar. 26, 2025) (Millett, J., concurring).  

As the District Court explained in Coyotl v. Kelly, Section 1252(g) “does not apply to the 

entire universe of deportation-related claims, but instead ‘applies only to three discrete actions that 

the Attorney General may take: her “decision or action” to “commence proceedings, adjudicate

cases, or execute removal orders.” There are of course many other decisions or actions that may 

be part of the deportation process[.]’” 261 F. Supp. 3d 1328, 1340 (quoting Reno v. AADC, 525 

U.S. 471, 482 (1999). See also Welch v. Reno, 2000 WL 1481426, at *1 (D. Md., Sept. 20, 2000) 

(noting that the Supreme Court in AADC “defined the jurisdictional limitations of Section 1252(g) 

narrowly.”). 

 Defendants argue that notwithstanding Section 1252(g)’s narrow scope, their actions fall 

within the provision stripping jurisdiction over the Secretary’s “decision or action to . . . execute 

removal orders.” Dkt. 11 at 11. But here, there was no removal order as to El Salvador at all. Such 

removal had been withheld. Surely if Defendants had removed Plaintiff to Panama, their Section 

1252(g) argument would hold more water, as the parties would be fighting over whether such 

removal was carried out with observance of proper legal formalities and respect for due process. 

But here, there is no dispute over “the government’s authority to execute a removal order” because 
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the government claims no such authority; and there was no removal-to-El-Salvador order for 

Plaintiff to attack. See also Enriquez-Perdomo v. Newman, 54 F.4th 855, 865 (6th Cir. 2022) 

(“Congress’ purpose, as articulated in AADC, supports our interpretation that ‘execute removal 

orders’ contemplates removal orders that are subject to execution. By definition, when a removal 

order is not subject to execution, government officials have no authority, discretionary or 

otherwise, to execute it.”); Guerra-Castaneda v. United States, 656 F. Supp. 3d 356, 362–63 (D. 

Mass. 2023) (“[T]he government had no authority to execute a removal order with respect to 

Guerra-Castaneda because there was no extant removal order for it to carry out. . . . The plain 

meaning of § 1252(g) does not extend to the government’s removal of a non-citizen in the face of 

a court order precluding its authority to do so.”).7 Indeed, Defendants’ corrected brief (Dkt. 12 at 

12) cites to Madu v. Attorney General, 470 F.3d 1362, 1368 (11th Cir. 2006), which agrees that 

Section 1252(g) does not bar claims challenging deportation without lawful authorization. 

Defendants’ citation to Camarena v. Director, ICE, 988 F.3d 1268, 1273–74 (11th Cir. 2021), 

therefore does not carry the day. 

Finally, Defendants’ suggestion in fn.2 that Plaintiff was somehow the party responsible 

to prevent his own removal by filing a motion to reopen and seeking a stay of removal, makes no 

sense.  Plaintiff had already won the order barring his removal to El Salvador, there was no reason 

for him to seek it a second time. The party that was supposed to file a Motion to Reopen—and the 

party that would have born the burden of proof on such motion—was the government. 8 C.F.R. § 

1208.24(f). Had they done this correctly, the parties could have taken the case back to the 

immigration judge, and then, as the government suggests in its fn.2, to the Board of Immigration 

 
7 Defendants’ citation to Mapoy v. Carroll, 185 F.3d 224, 228 (4th Cir. 1999) does not change this outcome, as that 
case involved a dispute over whether the Board of Immigration Appeals was correct to deny a stay of removal. Here, 
again, Plaintiff won his case outright within the immigration court system; Defendants, convinced that he was an MS-
13 gang member, decided to list him on a flight manifest and then put him on an airplane anyway.  
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Appeals and then ultimately the Fourth Circuit if necessary. But the government cut off that path 

by deporting him without lawful process in front of an immigration judge. 

For the foregoing reasons, no jurisdictional bar prevents this Court from hearing and 

deciding Plaintiff’s request for emergency injunctive relief. 

III. Plaintiff’s requested relief could be successful in returning him to the United 
States. 

Plaintiff has requested that this Court order Defendants to request his return from the 

government of El Salvador: first, just ask them nicely to please give him back to us. It is 

inexplicable that Defendants have not done so already. Meanwhile, Plaintiff also asks this Court 

to order Defendants not to mix their messages by continuing to pay the government of El Salvador 

further compensation to hold on to him. Defendants’ argument that this Court cannot order redress 

for their concededly unlawful removal of Plaintiff leaves a bitter aftertaste where the government 

has taken no voluntary steps in attempt to rectify what they themselves describe as an error.

As the Supreme Court explained in Nken v. Holder, 566 U.S. 418, 435 (2009), citing the 

government’s brief which explained their successful track record in bringing noncitizens back to 

the United States, noncitizens who prevail in litigation challenging their removal “can be afforded 

effective relief by facilitation of their return, along with restoration of the immigration status they 

had upon removal.” See also Lopez-Sorto v. Garland, 103 F.4th 242 (4th Cir. 2024) (ICE can bring 

a prevailing party back to the United States if that party prevails on their appeal). 

The Fourth Circuit has held that the redressability requirement “is not onerous,” that a 

plaintiff “need not show that a favorable decision will relieve their every injury,” and that a 

plaintiff “need only show that they personally would benefit in a tangible way from the court’s 

intervention.” Deal v. Mercer Co. Bd. of Ed., 911 F.3d 183, 189 (4th Cir. 2018). Here, there are 

no facts from which to conclude ICE cannot possibly be successful in bringing Plaintiff back to 
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the United States if they were ordered to try in good faith to do so, no specific reason to believe 

that the government of El Salvador would not simply hand Plaintiff over to the United States 

government upon our government’s request. This is the same government of El Salvador that 

allowed Defendant Kristi Noem to enter its CECOT prison and take photographs with the detainees 

therein. Dkt. 10-3.8 How can Defendants ask this Court to find as a matter of law that there is no 

possible redress for Plaintiff’s injuries, when one Defendant stood within the same prison walls as 

him, after this action was filed, after this Court’s first scheduling conference in this case, and made 

no effort to try?  If anything, it is speculative to contend that simply asking the government of El 

Salvador will likely not be effective.9 

For the foregoing reasons, it is wildly premature to hold that this Court can order no further 

redress for Plaintiff’s injuries. Plaintiff’s requested emergency injunctive relief should issue, and 

then if (and only if) it is unsuccessful, the parties can come back before this Court to make 

arguments as to why further efforts would be necessary or, to the contrary, futile. 

IV. Plaintiff has adequately shown irreparable harm, and need not prove torture. 

“It is well established that the deprivation of constitutional rights ‘unquestionably 

constitutes irreparable injury.’” Melendres v. Arpaio, 695 F.3d 990, 1002 (9th Cir. 2012), quoting 

Elrod v. Burns, 427 U.S. 347, 373 (1976).

Defendants’ brief implies that Plaintiff cannot meet the Winter v. NRDC standard for 

irreparable harm unless he makes a showing that he is being tortured, which they claim he is not. 

Dkt. 11 at 14. Regardless of whether his treatment rises to the level of torture (Judge Boasberg 

 
8 Notably, Defendants also do not deny paying six million dollars to the Government of El Salvador to continue to 
detain Plaintiffs and others in CECOT; they merely note that “[t]here is no showing that any payment made to El 
Salvador is yet to occur.” Dkt. 11 at 9. 
9 It is disturbing to consider that Defendants’ redressability argument would logically seek to prevent this Court from 
issuing the requested relief even if Plaintiff were a U.S. citizen. 
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found that conditions in CECOT present “the risk of torture, beatings, and even death,” J.G.G. v. 

Trump, 2025 WL 890401, at *16 (D.D.C. Mar. 24, 2025)), it certainly rises to the level of 

irreparable harm. See Dkt. 1-4 (photos of Plaintiff’s harsh treatment in CECOT); Dkt. 10-2 at ¶ 3 

(“People held in CECOT, as well as in other prisons in El Salvador, are denied communication 

with their relatives and lawyers[.]”); Dkt. 10-3 at ¶ 30 (“An analysis of the CECOT’s design using 

satellite footage found that if the prison were to reach full supposed capacity of forty thousand, 

each prisoner would have less than two feet of space in shared cells—an amount the authors point 

out is less than half the space required for transporting midsized cattle under EU law.”). Such 

treatment rises to the level of irreparable harm.  

The government’s argument that “this Court should defer to the government’s 

determination that Abrego Garcia will not likely be tortured or killed in El Salvador,” Dkt. 11 at 

14, is particularly ironic given the facts of this case. It is immigration judges who determine 

whether individuals will or will not be tortured in a country of removal. 8 C.F.R. §§ 1208.16, 

1208.17. Defendants do not claim to have performed that review prior to deporting Plaintiff to El 

Salvador in violation of an IJ’s order and without seeking to reopen proceedings before the IJ; 

indeed, by so doing, they prevented that IJ review from happening at all. The last immigration 

judge who looked at Plaintiff’s case determined that he would more likely than not face persecution 

in El Salvador. Dkt. 1-1. 

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff has established irreparable harm under Winter.

V. Equities and the public interest support the supremacy of law over power. 

Once Plaintiff is returned to the United States, this Court will not and cannot be the entity 

that decides whether he may continue to remain pursuant to a grant of withholding of removal, or 

whether that grant of withholding of removal is to be terminated; that role falls to the immigration 
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court (and then, ultimately, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit), with the government 

bearing the burden of proof that withholding of removal is no longer appropriate. 8 C.F.R. § 

1208.24(f). It is also the immigration court that will decide whether Plaintiff may be at liberty or 

must remain detained while such proceedings are pending. 8 U.S.C. § 1226(a). Defendants’ 

protestation that Plaintiff is an MS-13 member, their legal argument that he is estopped for arguing 

otherwise, and Plaintiff’s contention that the gang allegations arise from the flimsiest of unreliable 

anonymous informants, will be properly addressed to that forum. 

In this forum, “[t]here is generally no public interest in the perpetuation of unlawful agency 

action. To the contrary, there is a substantial public interest in having governmental agencies abide 

by the federal laws that govern their existence and operations.” League of Women Voters v. Newby, 

838 F.3d 1, 12 (D.C. Cir. 2016) (internal citations omitted). As the Supreme Court stated in Nken, 

“[o]f course there is a public interest in preventing aliens from being wrongfully removed, 

particularly to countries where they are likely to face substantial harm”; but this must be balanced 

against any injunctive relief that “permits and prolongs a continuing violation of United States 

law.” 556 U.S. at 436, quoting AADC, 525 U.S. at 490. Here, however, the “continuing violation 

of United States law” is Plaintiff’s absence from the United States, not his presence therein.  

In the end, the public interest is best served by restoring the supremacy of laws over power. 

The Department of Homeland Security must obey the orders of the immigration courts, or else 

such courts become meaningless. Noncitizens—and their U.S.-citizen spouses and children—must 

know that if this nation awards them a grant protection from persecution, it will honor that 

commitment even when the political winds shift; and if the government seeks to rescind such a 

grant of protection, it will do so only by means of renewed judicial proceedings accordance with 

the rules of procedure as set forth in the Code of Federal Regulations, and the Due Process clause 
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of the Fifth Amendment. Plaintiff’s deportation was carried out by force, not by law; the public 

interest favors righting that wrong. 

Conclusion 

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should enter a preliminary injunction as sought by 

Plaintiff. Dkt. 6-3. 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

//s// Simon Sandoval-Moshenberg     Date: April 2, 2025 
Simon Y. Sandoval-Moshenberg, Esq.  
D. Md. Bar no. 30965 
Counsel for Plaintiff 
Murray Osorio PLLC 
4103 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 300 
Fairfax, Virginia 22030 
Telephone: 703-352-2399 
Facsimile: 703-763-2304 
ssandoval@murrayosorio.com  
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I, the undersigned, hereby certify that on this date, I uploaded the foregoing, as well as all 

attachments thereto, to this Court’s CM/ECF system, which will send a Notice of Electronic Filing 

(NEF) to all counsel of record. 

Respectfully submitted, 

//s// Simon Sandoval-Moshenberg     Date: April 2, 2025 
Simon Y. Sandoval-Moshenberg, Esq.  
D. Md. Bar no. 30965 
Counsel for Plaintiff 
Murray Osorio PLLC 
4103 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 300 
Fairfax, Virginia 22030 
Telephone: 703-352-2399 
Facsimile: 703-763-2304 
ssandoval@murrayosorio.com  
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IN THE UNITED ST ATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

KILMAR ARMANDO 
ABREGO GARCIA, et al., 

Plaintiffs, 

V . 

KRISTI NOEM, Secretary, 
United States Department 
of Homeland Security, et al., 

Defendants. 

* 

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

* 
*** 

Civil Action No. 8:25-cv-00951-PX 

__ FILED 

--LOGGED 

APR 

~....- ENTERED 
J1Jj_ RECEIVED 

4 2025 
AT GRE~NBEL T 

CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

BY DEPUTY 

ORDER GRANTING PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

The Court has reviewed Plaintiffs' Motion for Injunctive Relief pursuant to Rule 65 of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, along with supporting memoranda, reply briefs, and the record 

in this case. ECF No. 6. The Defendants named in this suit are the United States Secretary of 

Homeland Secu1ity, the Attorney General of the United States, the United States Secretary of State, 

the Acting Director of U.S. lmmigration and Customs Enforcement ("ICE"), the Acting Executive 

Associate Director of ICE Enforcement and Removal Operations, and the Director of ICE's 

Baltimore Field Office (collectively, the "Defendants"). ECF No. 1. 

Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia ("Abrego Garcia"), a native of El Salvador, was granted 

withholding ofremoval in 2019, which prohibited his removal to El Salvador. The record reflects 

that Abrego Garcia was apprehended in Maryland without legal basis on March 12, 2025, and, 

without further process or legal justification, was removed to El Salvador by March 15, 2025. 

Abrego Garcia is detained in El Salvador's Terrorism Confinement Center (Centro de 

Confinamiento de! Terrorismo or "CECOT"). Plaintiffs contend that his removal violated 8 U.S.C. 
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§ 123l(b)(3)(A) and its implementing regulations, as well as the Fifth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution, the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), and other applicable 

legal protections. 

Based on the record before the Court, I find that this Court retains subject matter 

jurisdiction. I further find that: (1) Plaintiffs are likely to succeed on the merits because Abrego 

1'lrl:ffii1Giifc;i; was 1;1~:ved -ro El Salvador in violation of the Immigration and Nationality Act, 
'.l:lVl:i03i1 -'- -- "J:i!:)f) ,.I - -

s~~r,W~ally;~-l!;J-S.C. § 123l(b)(3)(A), and without any legal process; (2) his continued presence 

in 1El1S'a({,fiatir;t'for obvious reasons, constitutes irreparable harm; (3) the balance of equities and i"'AUOO T~:'rl. ~r, .J ·:... ;v 
' GvlAJYAAM :io T01,rn1a •.-

!TU9:.the public interest weigh1 in favor of returning him to the United States; and (4) issuance of a 

preliminary injunction without further delay is necessary to restore him to the status quo and to 

avoid ongoing irreparable harm resulting from Abrego Garcia's unlawful removal. For the reasons 

stated above, the Court hereby DIRECTS Defendants to return Abrego Garcia to the United States 

no later than 11 :59 PM on April 7th, 2025. A memorandum opinion further setting forth the basis 

for this ruling will be issued in due course. 

Accordingly, it is this 4th day of April, 2025, by the United States District Court for the 

District of Maryland, hereby ORDERED that: 

1. Plaintiffs' Motion (ECF No. 6), construed as one for preliminary injunctive relief, is 

GRANTED; 

2. Defendants are hereby ORDERED to facilitate and effectuate the return of Plaintiff 

Kilmar Armando Abrego Garcia to the United States by no later than 11 :59 PM on 

Monday, April 7, 2025; 

3. This preliminary relief is issued to restore the status quo and to preserve Abrego Garcia's 

access to due process in accordance with the Constitution and governing immigration 

2 
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statutes; 

4. The Clerk is DIRECTED to TRANSMIT copies of this Order to the parties. 

Paula Xinis 
United States District Judge 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 
 
KILMAR ARMANDO  
ABREGO GARCIA, et al.,  *  
  
             Plaintiffs,  *  
   Civil Action No. 8:25-cv-00951-PX 
 v.  *  
     
KRISTI NOEM, Secretary,  * 
United States Department   * 
of Homeland Security, et al., * 

 
             Defendants.  
 *  
     
 *** 
 

MEMORANDUM OPINION 

 In 2019, an immigration judge—acting under the authority delegated by the United States 

Attorney General and pursuant to powers vested by Congress—granted Plaintiff Kilmar Armando 

Abrego Garcia (“Abrego Garcia”) withholding of removal, thereby protecting him from return to 

his native country, El Salvador.  ECF No. 1 ¶ 41; ECF No. 1-1.  Such protection bars the United 

States from sending a noncitizen to a country where, more likely than not, he would face 

persecution that risks his “life or freedom.”  See Immigration and Nationality Act (“INA”), 8 

U.S.C. § 1231(b)(3)(A); see also 8 C.F.R. §§ 208.16–.18 & .24 (setting forth the standard for 

withholding of removal and the procedures required for its termination).   

 Six years later, without notice, legal justification, or due process, officers from U.S. 

Immigration and Customs Enforcement (“ICE”), a subagency of the Department of Homeland 

Security (“DHS”), put him on a plane bound for the Terrorism Confinement Center (“CECOT”) 
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in El Salvador.  ECF No. 1¶ 59. 1  Neither the United States nor El Salvador have told anyone why 

he was returned to the very country to which he cannot return, or why he is detained at CECOT.2  

See Hr’g Tr., Apr. 4, 2025, 25: 13–14 (Mr. Reuveni: “We have nothing to say on the merits.  We 

concede he should not have been removed to El Salvador.”); see Hr’g Tr., Apr. 4, 2025, 34:25–

35:5 (The Court: “[W]hat basis is he held?  Why is he [in CECOT] of all places?” . . .  Mr. Reuveni: 

“I don’t know.  That information has not been given to me.  I don’t know.”).   

That silence is telling.  As Defendants acknowledge, they had no legal authority to arrest 

him, no justification to detain him, and no grounds to send him to El Salvador3—let alone deliver 

him into one of the most dangerous prisons in the Western Hemisphere.4  Having confessed 

grievous error, the Defendants now argue that this Court lacks the power to hear this case, and they 

lack the power to order Abrego Garcia’s return.  ECF No. 11 at 3.  For the following reasons, their 

jurisdictional arguments fail as a matter of law.  Further, to avoid clear irreparable harm, and 

because equity and justice compels it, the Court grants the narrowest, daresay only, relief 

warranted: to order that Defendants return Abrego Garcia to the United States. 

I. Background 

Abrego Garcia was born and raised in Los Nogales, El Salvador.  ECF No. 1-1 at 2.  His 

family owned a small and successful pupuseria.  Id.  For years, they were subject to extortion and 

 
1 Louis Casiano, U.S. Paid El Salvador to Take Venezuelan Tren de Aragua Members for 'Pennies on the Dollar,' 
White House Says, FOX NEWS (Mar. 26, 2025), https://www.foxnews.com/politics/us-paid-el-salvador-take-
venezuelan-tren-de-aragua-members-pennies-dollar-white-house-says. 
2 Defendants did not assert—at any point prior to or during the April 4, 2025, hearing—that Abrego Garcia was an 
“enemy combatant,” an “alien enemy” under the Alien Enemies Act, 50 U.S.C. § 21, or removable based on MS-
13’s recent designation as a Foreign Terrorist Organization under 8 U.S.C. § 1189.  Invoking such theories for the 
first time on appeal cannot cure the failure to present them before this Court.  In any event, Defendants have offered 
no evidence linking Abrego Garcia to MS-13 or to any terrorist activity.  And vague allegations of gang association 
alone do not supersede the express protections afforded under the INA, including 8 U.S.C. §§ 1231(b)(3)(A), 1229a, 
and 1229b. 
3 ECF No. 11-3 at 3 (“Through administrative error, Abrego-Garcia was removed from the United States to El 
Salvador. This was an oversight . . . .”); Hr’g Tr., Apr. 4, 2025, 19:11–13 (Mr. Reuveni: “This person should -- the 
plaintiff, Abrego Garcia, should not have been removed. That is not in dispute.”).   
4 ECF No. 1-4; ECF No. 10-2; ECF No. 10-3.   
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threats of death by one of El Salvador’s most notorious gangs, Barrio 18.  Id. at 2.  The gang used 

Abrego Garcia as a pawn in its extortion, demanding that his mother give Abrego Garcia over to 

the gang or he and others in their family would be killed.  Id. at 3.  Attempting to escape the gang’s 

reach, the family moved three times without success.  Id.  To protect Abrego Garcia, they 

ultimately sent him to the United States to live with his older brother, a U.S. citizen, in Maryland.  

ECF No. 1 ¶ 22.   

Abrego Garcia lived in Maryland for many years without lawful status.  Id.  In early 2019, 

while waiting at the Home Depot in Hyattsville, Maryland, to be hired as a day laborer, Abrego 

Garcia was arrested.  Id. ¶¶ 25–26.  The Prince George’s County Police Department questioned 

him about gang affiliation, but nothing came of it.  Id. ¶ 27.  He was then turned over to ICE 

custody.  Id. ¶ 28. 

On March 29, 2019, DHS initiated removal proceedings against Abrego Garcia pursuant 

to 8 U.S.C. § 1182(a)(6)(A)(i).  ECF No. 1 ¶ 29.  On April 24, 2019, Abrego Garcia appeared 

before an immigration judge (“IJ”) where he conceded his deportability and applied for asylum, 

withholding of removal, and protection under the Convention Against Torture.  ECF No. 1-1.   

Pending resolution of the requested relief, DHS argued for Abrego Garcia to be detained 

in ICE custody.  ECF No. 1 ¶ 30.  DHS relied principally on a singular unsubstantiated allegation 

that Abrego Garcia was a member of MS-13.5  The IJ ultimately detained Abrego Garcia pending 

the outcome of his requested relief from deportation, a decision affirmed by the Board of 

Immigration Appeals.  ECF Nos. 11-1 & 11-2. 

October 10, 2019, following a full evidentiary hearing, the IJ granted Abrego Garcia 

 
5 The “evidence” against Abrego Garcia consisted of nothing more than his Chicago Bulls hat and hoodie, and a 
vague, uncorroborated allegation from a confidential informant claiming he belonged to MS-13’s “Western” clique 
in New York—a place he has never lived.  ECF No. 31.   
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withholding of removal to El Salvador pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1231(b)(3)(A).  As a matter of law, 

withholding of removal prohibits DHS from returning an alien to the specific country in which he 

faces clear probability of persecution.  In Abrego Garcia’s case, the IJ concluded that he was 

entitled to such protection because the Barrio 18 gang had been “targeting him and threatening 

him with death because of his family’s pupusa business.”   ECF No. 1-1 at 2.  DHS never appealed 

the grant of withholding of removal, and so the decision became final on November 9, 2019.6  See 

Hr’g Tr., Apr. 4, 2025, 24:15–16 (Mr. Reuveni: “The government did not appeal that decision, so 

it is final.”).  Accordingly, as Defendants have repeatedly admitted, they were legally prohibited 

from deporting Abrego Garcia to El Salvador.  See Hr’g Tr., Apr. 4, 2025, 25:6–7 (Mr. Reuveni: 

“There’s no dispute that the order could not be used to send Mr. Abrego Garcia to El Salvador.”).  

For the next six years, Abrego Garcia lived in Maryland with his wife and their three 

children.  ECF No. 1 ¶¶ 24–25.  He complied fully with all directives from ICE, including annual 

check-ins, and has never been charged with or convicted of any crime.  ECF No. 1-3, ECF No. 1 

¶ 45.   

On March 12, 2025, while driving home from work with his young son in the car, Abrego 

Garcia was stopped by ICE agents.  Id. ¶¶ 48–49.  The officers had no warrant for his arrest and 

no lawful basis to take him into custody; they told him only that his “status had changed.”  Id. ¶ 

50.  He was first transported to an ICE facility in Baltimore, Maryland.  Id. ¶¶ 51–53.  Next, ICE 

agents shuttled him to detention facilities in Louisiana and La Villa, Texas.  Id. ¶¶ 54–57.  He was 

allowed a handful of calls to his wife.  He said that he was told he would see a judge soon.  Id.  But 

 
6 A decision by an IJ becomes final “upon waiver of appeal or upon expiration of the time to appeal if no appeal is 
taken within that time.”  8 C.F.R. § 1003.39.  The deadline for filing an appeal to the Board of Immigration Appeals 
is 30 days from the date of the decision.  See 8 C.F.R. § 1003.38(b).  Once final, a grant of withholding of removal 
prohibits removal to the country of feared persecution absent formal reopening and termination of that protection. 
See 8 C.F.R. § 208.24.   
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that never happened. 

Three days later, on March 15, 2025, without any notice, legal process, or hearing, ICE 

forcibly transported Abrego Garcia to the Terrorism Confinement Center (“CECOT”) in El 

Salvador, a notorious supermax prison known for widespread human rights violations.  ECF No. 

1 ¶ 59; ECF No. 11-3 at 2; ECF No. 10-2.  On that day, two planes carried over 100 aliens to 

CECOT purportedly pursuant to the Alien Enemies Act, ECF No. 11-3 at 2, the legality of which 

is the subject of separate litigation.  See J.G.G. v. Trump, No. 1:25-cv-766 (JEB), 2025 WL 890401 

(D.D.C. Mar. 24, 2025).  A third plane included “aliens with Title 8 removal orders;” many of 

them were in ICE custody awaiting asylum and other protective hearings in the United States.  

ECF No. 11-3 at 2; see J.G.G. v. Trump, No. 1:25-cv-766 (JEB), ECF Nos. 67-5–67-20.   

Once the planes arrived in El Salvador, the male detainees7 were stripped and shackled. 

Their heads were shaved, and they were marched into CECOT to join nearly 40,000 other prisoners 

held in some of the most inhumane and squalid conditions known in any carceral system.  ECF 

No. 10-3.  Since then, no one has heard from Abrego Garcia.  ECF No. 1 ¶ 41.   

To effectuate a mass relocation of those detained by the United States, the federal 

government struck an agreement with El Salvador whereby it would pay the Salvadoran 

government six-million dollars for placement of the detainees in “very good jails at a fair price 

that will also save our taxpayer dollars.”  Marco Rubio (@SecRubio), X (Mar. 16, 2025, 7:59 

AM), https://x.com/SecRubio/status/1901241933302825470. El Salvador’s President, Nayib 

Bukele, has publicly touted the agreement terms: “We are willing to take in only convicted 

criminals (including convicted U.S. citizens) into our mega-prison (CECOT) in exchange for a 

 
7 Female detainees were returned to the United States because the prison would not accept them.  See, e.g., J.G.G. v. 
Trump, No. 1:25-cv-766 (JEB), ECF No. 55-1. 
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fee.”8  ECF No. 10-5; Nayib Bukele (@nayibbukele), X (Apr. 4, 2025, 10:23 AM), 

https://x.com/nayibbukele/status/1901245427216978290.  According to a memorandum issued by 

El Salvador’s Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the agreement provides that the detainees will be held 

“for one (1) year, pending the United States’ decision on [their] long term disposition.”  See 

Matthew Lee & Regina Garcia Cano, Trump Officials Secretly Deported Venezuelans and 

Salvadorans to a Notorious Prison in El Salvador, ASSOCIATED PRESS (Mar. 15, 2025), 

https://apnews.com/article/trump-deportations-salvador-tren-aragua-

64e72142a171ea57c869c3b35eeecce7. 

After Abrego Garcia was transferred to CECOT, Defendant, DHS Secretary, Kristi 

Noem, personally toured the facility alongside senior Salvadoran officials.  U.S. Dep’t of 

Homeland Sec., Inside the Action: Secretary Noem’s Visit to El Salvador, DHS, 

https://www.dhs.gov/medialibrary/assets/video/59108 (last visited Apr. 4, 2025).  From inside 

the prison walls, Secretary Noem declared that transferring individuals previously detained on 

U.S. soil to CECOT remains “one of the tools in our [the United States’] toolkit that we will use 

if you commit crimes against the American people.”  U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., How It’s 

Going, DHS, https://www.dhs.gov/medialibrary/assets/video/59108 (last visited Apr. 4, 2025) 

(emphasis added).   

Although the legal basis for the mass removal of hundreds of individuals to El Salvador 

remains disturbingly unclear, Abrego Garcia’s case is categorically different—there were no legal 

grounds whatsoever for his arrest, detention, or removal.  Nor does any evidence suggest that 

Abrego Garcia is being held in CECOT at the behest of Salvadoran authorities to answer for crimes 

in that country.  Rather, his detention appears wholly lawless.   

 
8 It is unclear what qualifies as a “convicted criminal” under the terms of the agreement, but Abrego Garcia has not 
been convicted of any crime.  
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Based on these events, Abrego Garcia, through counsel, and along with his wife, Jennifer 

Stefania Vasquez Sura, and their son, A.A.V., by and through his mother and next friend, 9 filed 

suit in this Court on March 24, 2025, against DHS Secretary Noem; Acting Director of U.S. 

Immigration and Customs Enforcement, Todd Lyons; Acting Executive Associate Director of  ICE 

Enforcement and Removal Operations, Kenneth Genalo; ICE Baltimore Field Office Director, 

Nikita Baker; Attorney General, Pamela Bondi; and Secretary of State, Marco Rubio (collectively 

“Defendants”).  Abrego Garcia specifically alleges that his removal to El Salvador violated the 

Immigration and Nationality Act, 8 U.S.C. § 1231(b)(3)(A)(Count I); the Due Process Clause of 

the Fifth Amendment (Count II); and the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2) (Count 

III); and, pleaded in the alternative, qualifies him for habeas relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2241 

(Count V).  ECF No. 1.  The matter is now before the Court on Plaintiffs’ motion for preliminary 

injunction, ECF No. 6, following full briefing and a hearing held on April 4, 2025.  This 

Memorandum Opinion sets forth the Court’s findings in support of the Order entered on April 4, 

2025. 

II. Jurisdictional Challenges 
 
 The Defendants’ only meaningful challenge to the motion is that this Court lacks the power 

to hear this case.  They advance three arguments.  The Court considers each in turn. 

A. The Court lacks Jurisdiction Because the “Core” of the Claims Sound in   
 Habeas 
 
 Defendants first argue that because Abrego Garcia challenges his confinement in CECOT, 

the “core” of his claims sound only in habeas brought pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2241 et seq.  ECF 

No. 11 at 7, citing DHS v. Thuraissigiam, 591 U.S. 103, 117 (2020) (“habeas…is the appropriate 

 
9 Vasquez Sura and A.A.V’s claims are not the subject of this decision, and so for clarity, the Court refers solely to 
Plaintiff Abrego Garcia. 
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remedy to ascertain…whether any person is rightfully in confinement or not.”).  And as such, suit 

is proper only against the immediate “custodian” (the Warden of CECOT) and in the jurisdiction 

where Abrego Garcia is confined (El Salvador).  Id. at 9. 

Defendants are wrong on several fronts.  Abrego Garcia exclusively challenges his lawless 

return to El Salvador, not the fact of his confinement.  ECF No. 1 at 16-20.  This is the core of his 

claim, as Defendants concede, which is why his suit would remain equally strong had Defendants 

released Abrego Garcia to the streets of El Salvador instead of CECOT.  Hr’g. Tr., Apr. 4, 2025, at 

19.  As Defendants did in J.G.G. v. Trump, Civil Action No. 25-766 (JEB), 2025 WL 890401, at 

*7–8 (D.D.C. Mar. 24, 2025), they fundamentally ignore the difference between challenging 

legality of removal as opposed to confinement.  Id.10  For purposes of this decision, however, 

Abrego Garcia simply does not challenge his confinement.  The removal itself lies at the heart of 

the wrongs.  Thus, the Court need not wade into the murky jurisdictional implications that flow 

from such a challenge. 

But even if the Court considers the thorny question of “custody” as it pertains to Abrego 

Garcia’s habeas claim (Count V), the Defendants are not out of the woods.  They do indeed cling 

to the stunning proposition that they can forcibly remove any person—migrant and U.S. citizen 

alike —to prisons outside the United States, and then baldly assert they have no way to effectuate 

return because they are no longer the “custodian,” and the Court thus lacks jurisdiction.  As a 

practical matter, the facts say otherwise.   

The facts are that the United States exerts control over each of the nearly 200 migrants sent 

to CECOT.  The Defendants detained them, transported them by plane, and paid for their  

 
10 In this context, habeas claims need not be brought to the exclusion of all other claims.  See R.I.L-R v. Johnson, 80 
F. Supp. 3d 164, 185–186 (D.D.C. 2015) (noting that “APA and habeas claims may coexist” where aliens challenge 
their detention in violation of removal procedures). 
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placement in the mega-jail until “the United States” decides “their long-term disposition.”11  

Against this backdrop, Defendants have produced no evidence to suggest they cannot secure one 

such detainee, Abrego Garcia, for return to the United States.  Equally important, to credit 

Defendants’ argument would permit the unfettered relinquishment of any person regardless of 

immigration status or citizenship to foreign prisons “for pennies on the dollar.”12 

Nor do the Defendants cite any authority to support this eye-popping proposition.  Sure, 

they point the Court to Munaf v. Green, 553 U.S. 674 (2008), but that decision has little bearing 

here.  In Munaf, the Court reviewed whether plaintiffs, American citizens who voluntarily traveled 

to Iraq and were subsequently detained for violations of Iraqi law, could challenge their detention.  

The Court concluded that while the district court retained jurisdiction in the first instance, id. 686, 

the merits of the habeas challenge failed because “Iraq has the sovereign right to prosecute Omar 

and Munaf for crimes committed on its soil.”  Id. at 695 (emphasis added).    

Here, by contrast, Abrego Garcia is not being held for crimes committed in or against El 

Salvador, the United States, or anywhere else for that matter.  His claims do not implicate any 

question of competing sovereign interests, and so, Munaf offers little guidance.13  Thus, while the 

 
11See Matthew Lee & Regina Garcia Cano, Trump Officials Secretly Deported Venezuelans and Salvadorans to a 
Notorious Prison in El Salvador, ASSOCIATED PRESS (Mar. 15, 2025), https://apnews.com/article/trump-
deportations-salvador-tren-aragua-64e72142a171ea57c869c3b35eeecce7.  
12 Louis Casiano, U.S. Paid El Salvador to Take Venezuelan Tren de Aragua Members for ‘Pennies on the Dollar,’ 
White House Says, FOX NEWS (Mar. 26, 2025), https://www.foxnews.com/politics/us-paid-el-salvador-take-
venezuelan-tren-de-aragua-members-pennies-dollar-white-house-says. 
13 Defendants also urged this Court to follow Kiyemba v. Obama, 561 F.3d 509 (D.C. Cir. 2009), wherein the United 
States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia held that a claim could not sound in habeas where the plaintiff 
sought relief to avoid “torture” in the receiving country.  The Kiyemba Court held that because a “district court may 
not question the Government’s determination that that a potential recipient country is not likely to torture a 
detainee,” the habeas claims fail on the merits.  Id., citing Munaff, 553 U.S. at 514. That is not this.  Defendants have 
already determined that Abrego Garcia must not be returned to El Salvador because he had established under the 
INA that he faces persecution from Barrio18.  ECF No. 1-1.  Defendants remain bound to that decision just as much 
today as they were when they decided not to appeal that determination.  Defendants’ violation of the INA in 
detaining Abrego Garcia in El Salvador does not implicate United States’ policy decisions as to El Salvador’s 
possible propensity to violate the Convention Against Torture writ large.  ECF No. 11 at 16 (this Court should defer 
to the Defendants’ determination that Abrego Garcia will not likely be tortured or killed in El Salvador, this 
implicating Executive policy decisions).  Accordingly, Kiyemba does not counsel a different outcome. 
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success of Abrego Garcia’s preliminary injunction motion does not depend on the success of his 

habeas claim, Defendants also fail to convince this Court that the claim will not survive in the end.  

For purposes of this decision, suffice to say the Court retains jurisdiction because Abrego Garcia 

challenges his removal to El Salvador, not the fact of confinement. 

B. Redressability 

 Defendants next make a narrow standing argument, contending that because the claims are 

not redressable, this Court lacks the power to hear the case.  ECF No. 11 at 10.  Federal courts are 

ones of limited jurisdiction, hearing only live “Cases” and “Controversies.”  U.S. Const. art. III, § 

2.   A party’s standing to maintain an action “is an essential and unchanging part of the case-or-

controversy requirement of Article III.”  Davis v. Fed. Election Comm., 554 U.S. 724, 733 (2008) 

(citations omitted).  To satisfy Article III standing, the plaintiff must make plausible that he “(1)[] 

has suffered an ‘injury in fact’ that is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent, 

not conjectural or hypothetical; (2) the injury is fairly traceable to the challenged action of the 

defendant; and (3) it is likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed 

by a favorable decision.”  Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Env’t Servs. (TOC), Inc., 528 U.S. 

167, 180–81 (2000). 

 The Defendants’ redressability argument, simply put, is that their placement of Abrego 

Garcia in an El Salvadoran prison deprives them of any power to return him.  Thus, they say, even 

if Abrego Garcia succeeds on the merits, Defendants are powerless to get him back.  The facts 

demonstrate otherwise. 

First, Defendants can and do return wrongfully removed migrants as a matter of course.   

This is why in Lopez-Sorto v. Garland, 103 F.4th 242, 248–53 (4th Cir. 2024), the Fourth Circuit 

concluded that the Defendants could redress wrongful removal to El Salvador by facilitating the 
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plaintiff’s return per DHS’ own directives.  Id. at 253; see also Nken v. Holder, 556 U.S. 418, 436 

(2009) (“Aliens who are removed may continue to pursue their petitions for review, and those that 

prevail can be afforded effective relief by facilitation of their return, along with restoration of the 

immigration status they had upon removal.”).  

Second, Defendants unilaterally placed hundreds of detainees behind the walls of CECOT 

without ceding control over the detainees’ fates, as the detainees are in CECOT “pending the 

United States’ decision on their long-term disposition.”  See Matthew Lee & Regina Garcia Cano, 

Trump Officials Secretly Deported Venezuelans and Salvadorans to a Notorious Prison in El 

Salvador, ASSOCIATED PRESS (Mar. 15, 2025), https://apnews.com/article/trump-

deportations-salvador-tren-aragua-64e72142a171ea57c869c3b35eeecce7.  Unlike Abrego Garcia, 

for whom no reason exists to detain him, Defendants transported many individuals who had been 

detained in the United States while awaiting immigration proceedings.14  Yet, despite Defendants’ 

power to transfer those awaiting hearings to CECOT for a “good price,” Defendants disclaim any 

ability to secure their return, including Abrego Garcia.  ECF No. 11 at 11.  Surely, Defendants do 

not mean to suggest that they have wholesale erased the substantive and procedural protections of 

the INA in one fell swoop by dropping those individuals in CECOT without recourse.  Instead, the 

 
14 See, e.g., 25-cv-766-JEB, ECF No. 55-1 (Declaration of S.Z.F.R., a female detainee formerly held at Webb 
County Detention Center in Laredo, Texas awaiting a merits hearing on her asylum claims was part of the mass 
transport to CECOT but ultimately returned to the United States because CECOT would not accept females); ECF 
67-10 (Declaration of immigration attorney for Jose Hernandez Romero, who had been detained at Otay Mesa 
Detention Center pending his asylum hearing at time was transported to CECOT); ECF No. 67-11 (Declaration of 
immigration attorney for detainee, G.T.B., a native of Venezuela who had been detained at Aurora Contract 
Detention Facility awaiting deportation proceedings when transported to CECOT without warning.  ICE ultimately 
returned her to the United States); ECF No. 67-11 (Declaration of immigration attorney for detainee, Jerce Reyes 
Barrios, who had been housed at Otay Mesa Detention Center awaiting hearing on protected status, prior to transport 
to CECOT); ECF No. 67-14 (Declaration of immigration attorney for detainee, E.V., who had been housed 
at  Moshannon Valley Processing Center in Philipsburg, Pennsylvania awaiting hearing on final order of removal 
when transported to CECOT); ECF No. 67-16 (Declaration of immigration attorney for detainee J.A.B.V, who had 
been detained domestically prior to his removal hearing scheduled for April 7, 2025 was transported to CECOT); 
ECF No. 67-17 (Declaration of immigration attorney for detainee, L.G., who had been detained at Moshannon 
Valley Processing Center in Philipsburg, Pennsylvania, awaiting removal proceedings prior to transfer to CECOT). 

Case 8:25-cv-00951-PX     Document 31     Filed 04/06/25     Page 11 of 22
91a



12 
 

record reflects that Defendants have “outsource[d] part of the [United States’] prison system.”15  

See also U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., How It’s Going, DHS, 

https://www.dhs.gov/medialibrary/assets/video/59108 (last visited Apr. 4, 2025) (quoting 

Defendant Noem: “This facility is one of the tools in our toolkit that we will use”).”16  Thus, just 

as in any other contract facility, Defendants can and do maintain the power to secure and transport 

their detainees, Abrego Garcia included.   

In the end, Defendants’ redressability argument rings hollow.  As their counsel suggested 

at the hearing, this is not about Defendants’ inability to return Abrego Garcia, but their lack of 

desire.  

THE COURT: Can we talk about, then, just very practically, why can’t the United States 
 get Mr. Abrego Garcia back?  

 
MR. REUVENI: Your Honor, I will say, for the Court's awareness, that when this case 

 landed on my desk, the first thing I did was ask my clients that very question. I’ve not 
 received, to date, an answer that I find satisfactory. 

 
Hr’g Tr., Apr. 4, 2025, at 35–36.  See also id. at 50 (counsel seeking 24 hours to persuade 

Defendants to secure Abrego Garcia’s return).  Flat refusal, however, does not negate 

redressability.  The record reflects that the remedy is available.  Abrego Garcia maintains standing 

to sue. 

C.  Section 1252(g) of the INA Does Not Strip the Court’s Jurisdiction in this  
  Case 

 
Lastly, Defendants argue that 8 U.S.C. § 1252(g) (“Section 1252(g)”) deprives the Court 

of jurisdiction to review this matter.  The statute reads: 

 
15 Nayib Bukele (@nayibbukele), X (Mar. 19, 2025, 8:12 PM), 
https://x.com/nayibbukele/status/1886606794614587573 
16 U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., How It’s Going, DHS, https://www.dhs.gov/medialibrary/assets/video/59108 (last 
visited Apr. 4, 2025) (quoting Defendant Noem: “This facility is one of the tools in our toolkit that we will use”). 
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Except as provided in this section and notwithstanding any other provision of law 
(statutory or non-statutory), including section 2241 of Title 28, or any other habeas 
corpus provision, and sections 1361 and 1651 of such title, no court shall have 
jurisdiction to hear any cause or claim by or on behalf of any alien arising from the 
decision or action by the Attorney General to commence proceedings, adjudicate 
cases, or execute removal orders against any alien under this chapter. 

8 U.S.C. § 1252(g).  

Defendants concede that Reno v. American-Arab Anti-Discrimination Committee, 

525 U.S. 471, 482 (1999), commands a narrow construction of Section 1252(g), limiting 

application solely to the Attorney General’s exercise of lawful discretion to (1) commence 

proceedings; (2) adjudicate cases; or (3) execute removal orders.  Id. (“It is implausible 

that the mention of three discrete events along the road to deportation was a shorthand way 

of referring to all claims arising from deportation proceedings.”).  See also Bowrin v. U.S. 

I.N.S., 194 F.3d 483, 488 (4th Cir. 1999) (noting that Section 1252(g) only stripped federal

courts of jurisdiction to review the “Attorney General’s decision to exercise her discretion 

to initiate or prosecute the specific stages in the deportation process.”).  As the Reno Court 

explained, “there was good reason for Congress to focus special attention upon, and make 

special provision for, judicial review of the Attorney General’s discrete acts . . . which 

represent the initiation or prosecution of various stages in the deportation process.”  Id.  

(emphasis added).  Thus, this Court is deprived of jurisdiction only for the discretionary 

decisions made concerning the three stages of the deportation process.  See Bowrin, v. U.S. 

INS, 194 F.3d 483, 488 (4th Cir. 1999); U.S. v. Hovsepian, 359 F.3d 1144, 1155 (9th Cir. 

2004); Coyotl v. Kelly, 261 F. Supp. 3d 1328, 1339–1341 (N.D. Ga. 2017); Gondal v. U.S. 

Dep’t of Homeland Sec., 343 F. Supp. 3d 83, 92 (E.D.N.Y. 2018).  But see Silva v. United 

States, 866 F.3d 938 (8th Cir. 2017).   
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 Defendants press that Section 1252(g) precludes jurisdiction here because the 

claims concern Defendants’ “execution of his removal order.”  ECF No. 11 at 13.  The 

argument fails in both fact and law. 

 First, the Court cannot credit that Defendants removed Abrego Garcia pursuant to 

an “executed removal order” under the INA.  Defendants have not produced any order of 

removal as to Abrego Garcia, executed or otherwise, or submitted any proof that they had 

removed him pursuant to one.  Hr’g Tr. Apr. 4, 2025, at 20 (counsel admitting no order of 

removal is part of the record); see also id. at 22 (counsel confirming that “the removal 

order” from 2019 “cannot be executed” and is not part of the record).  Nor have any other 

corollary documents surfaced, such as a “warrant for removal/deportation” customarily 

served on an alien as part of a lawful deportation or removal.  Id.17  From this, the Court 

cannot conclude that Abrego Garcia was spirited to CECOT on an “executed removal 

order” such that Section 1252(g) is implicated.  

 Second, even if there were an executed order of removal for Abrego Garcia, his 

claims do not seek review of any discretionary decisions.  He is not asking this Court to 

review the wisdom of the Attorney General’s lawful exercise of authority.  Rather, he asks 

that the Court determine whether his return to El Salvador violated the INA.  In this 

circumstance, the Fourth Circuit has spoken.  

 Bowrin v. U.S. INS, 194 F.3d 483 (4th Cir. 1999) made plain that review of agency 

decisions involving pure questions of law “do not fall into any of the three categories 

enumerated in § 1252(g).”  Bowrin, 194 F.3d at 488.  Section 1252(g), the Bowrin Court 

emphasized, “does not apply to all claims arising from deportation proceedings, because § 

 
17 See sample warrant for removal at https://www.ice.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Document/2017/I-
205_SAMPLE.PDF 
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1252(g) stripped the federal courts of jurisdiction only to review challenges to the Attorney 

General’s decision to exercise her discretion to initiate or prosecute these specific stages in 

the deportation process.”  Id.  (citing American-Arab Anti-Discrimination Committee, 525 

U.S. at 482) (emphasis added).  See also Hovsepian, 359 F.3d at 1155 (“The district court 

may consider a purely legal question that does not challenge the Attorney General’s 

discretionary authority, even if the answer to that legal question . . . forms the backdrop 

against which the Attorney General later will exercise discretionary authority.”);  Siahaan 

v. Madrigal, Civil No. PWG-20-02618, 2020 WL 5893638, at *5 (D. Md. Oct. 5, 2020) 

(“To insist, as the Respondents do, that this Court lacks jurisdiction because of § 1252(g) 

to determine the purely legal questions of whether his removal under these circumstances 

violates the statutory and constitutional provisions that his habeas petition has raised runs 

contrary to the consistent rulings of the Supreme Court for at least twenty years.”); Coyotl, 

261 F. Supp. 3d at 1339–41.  Accordingly, and after exhaustive analysis, Bowrin concluded 

that “absent express congressional intent . . . to eliminate the general federal habeas corpus 

review pursuant to 28 U.S.C.A. § 2241, the remedy remains available to Bowrin and other 

aliens similarly situated.”  Bowrin, 194 F.3d at 489 (collecting cases). 

 Like Bowrin, Abrego Garcia presents to this Court a pure question of law: whether 

Defendants exceeded their authority in returning him to El Salvador, in violation of the 8 U.S.C. § 

1231(b)(3)(A).  Hr’g Tr., Apr. 4, 2025, at 24.  In this Court’s view, no plainer question of statutory 

interpretation could be presented.  Thus, Section 1252(g) does not deprive the Court of jurisdiction 

over the claims.   
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 In sum, the Court retains jurisdiction over this case.  And even though Defendants concede 

that if this Court retains jurisdiction, Abrego Garcia prevails on the merits of his preliminary 

injunction,18 for the benefit of all, the Court briefly addresses why this concession makes sense.  

III. Merits of Preliminary Injunctive Relief 

 A preliminary injunction is an extraordinary remedy that should be granted only upon “a 

clear showing that the plaintiff is entitled to relief.”  Dewhurst v. Century Aluminum Co., 649 F.3d 

287, 290 (4th Cir. 2011) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Winter v. Natural Res. Def. 

Council, 555 U.S. 7, 22 (2008)).  Generally, injunctions are sought to “preserve the status quo so 

that a court can render a meaningful decision after a trial on the merits.”  Hazardous Waste 

Treatment Council v. State of S.C., 945 F.2d 781, 788 (4th Cir. 1991) (quotation omitted); see also 

United States ex rel. Rahman v. Oncology Assocs., P.C., 198 F.3d 489, 498 (4th Cir. 1999).  By 

contrast, injunctions which alter the status quo, known as “mandatory injunctions,” are highly 

disfavored, Wetzel v. Edwards, 635 F.2d 283, 286 (4th Cir. 1980), and should be granted only 

when “necessary both to protect against irreparable harm in a deteriorating circumstance created 

by the defendant and to preserve the court’s ability to enter ultimate relief on the merits of the 

same kind,” In re Microsoft Corp. Antitrust Litig., 333 F.3d 517, 526 (4th Cir. 2003), abrogation 

on other grounds recognized in Bethesda Softworks, LLC v. Interplay Entm’t Corp., 452 F. App’x 

351, 353–54 (4th Cir. 2011); see also Pierce v. N. Carolina State Bd. of Elections, 97 F.4th 194, 

209 (4th Cir. 2024).  Abrego Garcia requests relief designed to retore the status quo ante, or the 

“last uncontested status between the parties which preceded the controversy.”  League of Women 

Voters of N. Carolina v. North Carolina, 769 F.3d 224, 236 (4th Cir. 2014).  That is, to return him 

to where he was on March 12, 2025, before he was apprehended by ICE and spirited away to 

 
18See Hr’g Tr., Apr. 4., 2025, at 25:10–14 (Mr. Reuveni: “if you’re not buying our jurisdictional arguments, like, 
we’re done here . . . . We have nothing to say on the merits.”). 
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CECOT.  

 To receive the benefit of injunctive relief, Abrego Garcia must demonstrate by 

preponderant evidence four well-established factors: (1) a likelihood of success on the merits; (2) 

a likelihood of suffering irreparable harm in the absence of preliminary relief; (3) that the balance 

of equities tips in its favor; and (4) that issuing the injunction is in the public interest.  See Winter, 

555 U.S. at 20.  The Court considers each factor separately. 

 A. Likelihood of Success of the Merits 

 As to likelihood of success on the merits, Abrego Garcia need only demonstrate a 

likelihood of success on one cause of action.  See Mayor & City Council of Baltimore v. Azar, 392 

F. Supp. 3d 602, 613 (D. Md. 2019).  Defendants concede success as to Count I, their violation of 

the INA.  The Court agrees.  

 An alien “may seek statutory withholding under [8 U.S.C.] § 1231(b)(3)(A), which 

provides that ‘the Attorney General may not remove an alien to a country if the Attorney General 

decides that the alien‘s life or freedom would be threatened in that country because of the alien’s 

race, religion, nationality, membership in a particular social group, or political opinion.’”  Johnson 

v. Guzman Chavez, 594 U.S. 523, 530 (2021)).  “If an alien is granted withholding-only relief, 

DHS may not remove the alien to the country designated in the removal order unless the order of 

withholding is terminated.  8 C.F.R. §§ 208.22, 1208.22.  The withholding of removal is country-

specific and more stringent than other forms of relief from deportation because once the noncitizen 

“establishes eligibility for withholding of removal, the grant is mandatory.”  Amaya v. Rosen, 986 

F.3d 424, 427 (4th Cir. 2021), as amended (Apr. 12, 2021) (quoting Gandziami-Mickhou v. 

Gonzales, 445 F.3d 351, 353–54 (4th Cir. 2006)).    

 Accordingly, pursuant to Section 1231(b)(3)(A), once an alien is granted withholding of 
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removal, the Defendants “may not” remove the alien to the identified country.  It is undisputed 

that “Abrego Garcia, was removed to El Salvador despite a grant of withholding of removal to that 

country.”  ECF No. 11.   Even more disturbing, the Defendants concede that it cannot even produce 

the documents which reflect any authority, lawful or otherwise, to transfer him to El Salvador.  

Thus, the record plainly reflects that Defendants’ forced migration to El Salvador violates Section 

1231(b)(3)(A).  He is guaranteed success on the merits of Count I. 

 Next as to Count II, the procedural due process claim, Abrego Garcia alleges that 

Defendants forced removal to El Salvador without any process constitutes a clear constitutional 

violation.  This the Defendants also concede.  But for completeness, the Court briefly addresses 

why the parties are correct.  To succeed on a Fifth Amendment due process claim, the plaintiff 

must show that he possesses “a constitutionally cognizable life, liberty, or property interest”; that 

he was deprived of that interest because of “some form of state action”; and “that the procedures 

employed were constitutionally inadequate.”  Sansotta v. Town of Nags Head, 724 F.3d 533, 540 

(4th Cir. 2013). 

 Abrego Garcia has demonstrated that he had a liberty interest by virtue of the INA in 

avoiding forcible removal to El Salvador.  “In order for a statute to create a vested liberty or 

property interest giving rise to procedural due process protection, it must confer more than a mere 

expectation (even one supported by consistent government practice) of a benefit.”  Mallette v. 

Arlington County Employees’ Supplemental Ret. Sys. II, 91 F.3d 630, 635 (4th Cir.1996).  There 

must be entitlement to the benefit as directed by statute, and the statute must “‘act to limit 

meaningfully the discretion of the decision-makers.’”  Id. (quoting Board of Pardons v. Allen, 482 

U.S. 369, 382 (1987) (O’Connor, J., dissenting)).”  Here, the statutory scheme which conferred 

withholding of removal also entitled Abrego Garcia to not be returned to El Salvador absent 
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process.  Further, the statutes at issue eliminated the discretion altogether.  Thus, this element is 

easily met. 

 As to the third element, Defendants deprived Abrego Garcia of this right without any 

procedural protections due to him.  Indeed, nothing in the record suggests that Abrego Garcia 

received any process at all.  Accordingly, he is likely to succeed on the merits of Count II. 

 Last, and for similar reasons, Abrego Garcia is likely to succeed on the merits of the APA 

claim, Count III.  The APA mandates that “agency action must be set aside if the action was 

‘arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law’ or if the 

action failed to meet statutory, procedural, or constitutional requirements.”  Citizens to Pres. 

Overton Park, Inc. v. Volpe, 401 U.S. 402, 414(1971), abrogated by Califano v. Sanders, 430 U.S. 

99; 5 U.S.C. § 706(2); W. Virginia v. Thompson, 475 F.3d 204, 209 (4th Cir. 2007).  An agency 

action is arbitrary and capricious when the agency disregards rules or regulations still in effect or 

departs from a prior policy without “articulat[ing] a satisfactory explanation for its action including 

a rational connection between the facts found and the choice made.”  See Sierra Club v. Dep’t of 

the Interior, 899 F.3d 260, 293 (4th Cir. 2018).  In short, an agency may not “depart from a prior 

policy sub silentio or simply disregard rules that are still on the books.”  FCC v. Fox Television 

Stations, Inc., 556 U.S. 502 (2009). 

 The Defendants do not dispute that its expulsion of Abrego Garcia to El Salvador 

constitutes a final agency action.  Nor do they dispute that the decision was without any lawful 

authority whatsoever.  Nor have Defendants articulated any rationale for taking such action.  Their 

action was lawless, and thus in violation of the APA. 

 Abrego Garcia, as all who have touched this case recognize, is likely to succeed on the 

merits of these claims.  The first Winter factor is thus satisfied.  
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 B. Irreparable Harm  
 
 Regarding the second Winter factor, Abrego Garcia must show that he will be irreparably 

harmed in the absence of preliminary injunctive relief.  See Winter, 555 U.S. at 20.  This standard 

requires more than the mere “possibility” of irreparable harm; rather, the plaintiff must 

“demonstrate that irreparable injury is likely in the absence of an injunction.”  Id. at 21. 

 Obviously, “the risk of torture, beatings, and even death clearly and unequivocally supports 

a finding of irreparable harm.”  J.G.G., 2025 WL 890401, at *16, citing United States v. Iowa, 126 

F.4th 1334, 1352 (8th Cir. 2025) (torture); Leiva-Perez v. Holder, 640 F.3d 962, 970 (9th Cir. 

2011) (physical abuse).  Perhaps this is why Defendants anemically suggested that Abrego Garcia 

failed to show he would be “harmed” in CECOT, but then abandoned that contention at the 

preliminary injunction hearing.  Certainly as to Abrego Garcia, the IJ found that returning him to 

El Salvador at all would likely subject him to persecution at the hands of Barrio 18, to include the 

risk of death.  ECF No. 1-1 at 7.   

 More fundamentally, Defendants do not dispute that their placement of Abrego Garcia at 

CECOT invites this very harm.  Defendants effectuated his detention in one of the most notoriously 

inhumane and dangerous prisons in the world.  Defendants even embrace that reality as part of its 

well-orchestrated mission to use CECOT as a form of punishment and deterrence.  ECF No. 10-5 

at 4 (Defendant Noem announcing while standing in front of caged prisoners at CECOT “if an 

immigrant commits a crime, this is one of the consequences you could face . . . . You will be 

removed and you will be prosecuted.”). 

 But particular to Abrego Garcia, the risk of harm shocks the conscience.  Defendants have 

forcibly put him in a facility that intentionally mixes rival gang members without any regard for 

protecting the detainees from “harm at the hands of the gangs.”  ECF No. 10-3 at 15.  Even worse, 
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Defendants have claimed—without any evidence—that Abrego Garcia is a member of MS-13 and 

then housed him among the chief rival gang, Barrio 18.  Not to mention that Barrio 18 is the very 

gang whose years’ long persecution of Abrego Garcia resulted in his withholding from removal to 

El Salvador.  To be sure, Abrego Garcia will suffer irreparably were he not accorded his requested 

relief.  He has satisfied the second Winter factor. 

   C.  Balance of Equities and Public Interest 
 
 The Court considers the last two factors in tandem because “the balance of the equities and 

the public interest . . . ‘merge when the Government is the opposing party.’”  Antietam Battlefield 

KOA v. Hogan, 461 F. Supp. 3d 214, 242 (D. Md. 2020) (quoting Nken v. Holder, 556 U.S. 418, 

435 (2009)).  As to the balance of the equities, “courts ‘must balance the competing claims of 

injury and must consider the effect on each party of the granting or withholding of the requested 

relief.’”  Winter, 555 U.S., at 24 (quoting Amoco Prod. Co. v. Gambell, AK, 480 U.S. 531, 542 

(1987)).  When considering the public interest, the Court “should pay particular regard for the 

public consequences in employing the extraordinary remedy of injunction.”  Id. (quoting 

Weinberger v. Romero-Barcelo, 456 U.S. 305, 312 (1982)).  The Court is mindful that it may not 

collapse this inquiry with the first Winter factor.  See USA Farm Lab., Inc. v. Micone, No. 23-

2108, 2025 WL 586339, at *4 (4th Cir. Feb. 24, 2025) (explaining that it is “circular reasoning” 

to argue that a government “program is against the public interest because it is unlawful” and that 

such argument “is nothing more than a restatement of their likelihood of success”). 

 “Of course there is a public interest in preventing aliens from being wrongfully removed, 

particularly to countries where they are likely to face substantial harm.”  Nken, 416 U.S. at 436.  

Equally important, the public remains acutely interested in “seeing its governmental institutions 

follow the law. . . .”  Roe v. Dep’t of Def., 947 F.3d at 230–31 (4th Cir. 2020) (internal quotation 
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marks and citation omitted).  The absence of injunctive relief places this interest in greatest 

jeopardy, as demonstrated by Abrego Garcia’s experience over the past three weeks. 

Defendants seized Abrego Garcia without any lawful authority; held him in three separate 

domestic detention centers without legal basis; failed to present him to any immigration judge or 

officer; and forcibly transported him to El Salvador in direct contravention of the INA.  Once there, 

U.S. officials secured his detention in a facility that, by design, deprives its detainees of adequate 

food, water, and shelter, fosters routine violence; and places him with his persecutors, Barrio 18.  

In short, the public interest and companion equities favor the requested injunctive relief.19  

IV. Conclusion

Based on the foregoing, the Court retains jurisdiction to hear this case.  Abrego Garcia has

also demonstrated that he is entitled to the injunctive relief sought.  The Court’s April 4, 2025 

Order thus remains in full force and effect.20  

Date: April 6, 2025 ______________________ 
Paula Xinis 
United States District Judge 

19 Defendants suggested in their response that the public retains an interest in not returning Abrego Garcia to the 
United States because “he is a danger to the community,” ECF No. 11, only to abandon this position at the hearing.  
Again, with good reason.  No evidence before the Court connects Abrego Garcia to MS-13 or any other criminal 
organization.  
20 For these same reasons, the Court denies Defendants’ Motion to Stay the Court’s April 4, 2025 Order.  ECF No. 
29.

/S/
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